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Chairman’s Statement

EEHWE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of CR
Construction Group Holdings Limited (the “Company” and together with
its subsidiaries, the “Group”), | am pleased to present to the shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders”) the annual report of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Reporting Period").

The Group's revenue for 2024 was approximately HK$6.1 billion and the
profit attributable to owners of the Company was approximately HK$53.7
million. For the construction business, the Group won tenders for a total of
20 new projects during the Reporting Period, with an aggregate original
contract sum of approximately HK$8.8 billion for newly awarded projects.
During the Reporting Period, the Group successfully won tenders for a
number of large-scale projects in the Hong Kong market, including site
formation works for residential redevelopment projects, public housing
and golf course. The Group also further expanded its business in the
environmental market in the United Kingdom, Malaysia and Mainland China.
The Malaysia company undertook its first large-scale project in renewable
energy power stations, while the United Kingdom company’s residential
project in Manchester has set a new record for the Group's largest single
contract value in the United Kingdom market.

In terms of our environmental protection business, the Group's subsidiary,
Zhejiang Construction Investment Environment Engineering Company
Limited ("ZCIEE"), had 2 projects with an aggregate original contract sum of
approximately HK$5.4 million and 21 projects relating to service concession
arrangements and operation services during the Reporting Period. Among
these projects undertaken by ZCIEE, the Yongkang Agricultural Wastewater
Treatment Project is its first project in Jinhua City, Zhejiang Province,
marking the successful expansion into a new market. The Group has
continued to improve its development strategy in both the construction
and environmental operations segments towards a more diversified
business structure, where the two businesses deliver substantial synergy
and create a stable development momentum as a whole.
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Chairman’s Statement

EEHWE

In 2024, although the economies of the PRC and Hong Kong showed
signs of recovery and property market sentiment gradually stabilised, the
global economy was still undergoing rapid changes and pressures on
manpower and construction material costs were increasing, as such, the
construction industry in Hong Kong was still adversely affected. The Group
has responded swiftly to the changing economic environment and was
highly committed in achieving high quality development, striving to raise
profitability and achieving outstanding results in various areas such as
projects and technological research and development.

In terms of project development, the Group has continued to strengthen
its project management capabilities, deepen its effort in brand building and
implemented strict quality control, which resulted in its projects becoming
highly acclaimed and trusted among the industry in terms of quality, safety
and environmental standards. Regarding our construction projects, the
Group not only received the “Top 10 Construction Contractors in Hong
Kong” award presented by BCl Asia for the third consecutive year, but also
the “Most Outstanding Construction Engineering Service of the Year” in
the HKCT Business Awards 2024 presented by Hong Kong Commercial
Times. In addition, the Centralised General Research Laboratory Complex
(Block 2) project at the Chinese University of Hong Kong, undertaken by the
Group, has won a number of awards in the 30th Considerate Contractors
Site Award Scheme organised by the Hong Kong Development Bureau
and the Construction Industry Council, including “Considerate Contractors
Site Award — New Works Contracts (Group B) — Silver Prize”, “Outstanding
Environmental Management and Performance Awards — Merit Award”,
“Model Worker Awards”, “Model Frontline Supervisor Awards” and “Model
Project Leader Awards”. Regarding our environmental projects, ZCIEE was
awarded the “Xihu District Government Quality Award 2024" by the People’s
Government of Xihu District, Hangzhou, in recognition of its outstanding
contribution to continuous innovation and quality improvement.

In terms of technological research and development, the Group actively
responded to the implementation of the Hong Kong Development Bureau'’s
Smart Site Safety System. We have fully upgraded our Smart Site Safety
System (4S) and successfully obtained the 1SO27001 certification. The R&D
team focused on the optimisation of a number of key modules, including
the incorporation of real-time data from the Hong Kong Observatory into
the system’s central management platform, the enhancement of the data
interface visualisation, the upgrading and development of RFID equipment
and systems, and the further enhancement of the efficiency of the tower
crane and the mobile plant safety alarm system, so as to better meet the
practical needs of the site workers. In addition, the Group has successfully
developed a Safety Tracking Watch for construction sites, which can
real-time monitor the location and health status of site workers, providing
comprehensive safety protection. At the same time, we have also optimised
the certificate module in the training system, adding OCR scanning and
data tracking functions to improve asset management efficiency and user
experience.
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Chairman’s Statement

EEHWE

In order to strengthen the application of innovative construction
technologies, the Group signed a memorandum of understanding with
the Hong Kong Center for Construction Robotics to establish a strategic
partnership in research and development and application of smart
construction technologies, development of talent, application of robotic
technologies and commercialisation, with a view to jointly promoting the
intelligence and sustainability of the construction industry.

In addition, the Group’s environmental company has also been actively
undergoing upgrade and transformation. During the Reporting Period, the
Group formed a new subsidiary, Zhejiang Construction Investment New
Energy Technology Co,, Ltd (“NET”) with Shanghai MS Energy Technology
Co., Ltd., (‘MS Energy") as the non-controlling shareholder. MS Energy
is a leading distributed green energy aggregation service provider in
the PRC, and the Group has signed a contract for a new energy storage
power station, thereby successfully entering the new energy market
and further expanding its business footprint. Meanwhile, the integrated
rural domestic sewage treatment equipment self-developed by our
environmental company has passed the performance test by a third-party
testing institution, with five water quality indicators, including pH value,
chemical oxygen demand, suspended solids, ammonia nitrogen, and total
phosphorus, all meeting the Grade 1 standard of DB33/973-2021 Table
1 for treated water, which demonstrates the outstanding technological
achievement and environmental benefits. The equipment has been
successfully commercialised, marking an important step in the company’s
ability to turn its independent research and development capability into
economic value.

Looking ahead to 2025, the Group is actively seizing the strategic
opportunities brought about by Hong Kong's integration into the
overall development of the PRC. With the commencement of large-scale
infrastructural projects such as the “Northern Metropolis” and the “Kau Yi
Chau Artificial Islands”, the market demand for local construction works is
expected to continue to grow. However, the construction industry is also
facing multiple challenges, including shortage of manpower and rising
labour costs, which are putting pressure on the Group's operations.
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Chairman’s Statement

EEHWE

In this challenging yet opportunistic business environment, the Group
will remain steadfast in its core strategic directions and embark on key
initiatives in the following key areas. Firstly, the Group will optimise its talent
development mechanism by providing diversified and personalised training
programmes and development opportunities to create wider and better
career paths. Secondly, the Group will deepen its diversified development
strategy by strengthening research and development and promoting the
application of smart building technologies in various projects, and actively
seeking collaborations to fully support the government’s “Construction
2.0" development policy. Thirdly, the Group will consolidate and develop
the markets in Malaysia and the United Kingdom. Relying on the parent
company’s background as a state-owned enterprise, the Group will make
full use of domestic and overseas resources, leverage the brand power as
a listed company, and expand its upstream and downstream presence
through investments, mergers and acquisitions and establishment of
new subsidiaries, as well as proactively exploring and seeking for new
development opportunities in the Greater Bay Area. Lastly, the Group will
actively complement the development blueprint of the government and
our country by continuing its exploration in the government public sector
projects and fully support the Hong Kong government in solving housing
and livelihood issues. At the same time, the Group will also endeavour to
promote environmental protection in China by strengthening its sewage,
solid waste and reclaimed water treatment, as well as new energy and other
related businesses, so as to contribute to the construction of a better Hong
Kong and a beautiful China.

The Group will continue to uphold its vision of ‘becoming a people-oriented
and Hong Kong-based enterprise that propels the construction industry
forward” by adhering to the abovementioned directions in an effort to build
a globally competitive construction enterprise that creates stronger returns
for its shareholders.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express my
sincere appreciation for the full support and trust of all Shareholders, the
cooperation and assistance of business partners as well as the efforts and
diligence of the staff. We will continue to work hand in hand with all of you
for excellent results and achieve further success in the future!

Mr. Guan Manyu
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong,
20 March 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THER RS

BUSINESS REVIEW
Construction Operations

The Group is one of the leading building contractors in Hong Kong and
principally acts as a main contractor in building construction works and
repair, maintenance, alteration and addition ("‘RMAA") works across the
public and private sectors in Hong Kong, Malaysia and the United Kingdom.

The building construction services provided by the Group primarily consist
of building works for new buildings, including residential, commercial and
industrial buildings, while the Group’s RMAA works include the general
upkeep, maintenance, improvement, refurbishment, alteration and addition
of existing facilities and components of buildings and their surroundings.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 52 projects on hand with an
aggregate original contract sum of approximately HK$33.1 billion, which
includes projects in progress and projects that have been awarded to the
Group but not yet commenced.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had been awarded 20 new projects
with an aggregate original contract sum of approximately HK$8.8 billion
and had completed 12 projects with an aggregate original contract sum of
approximately HK$3.2 billion.

During the Reporting Period, the Group received a total of 80 honours,
including the Group has been awarded the “Top 10 Construction
Contractors in Hong Kong” by BCI Asia for the third consecutive year; “The
Most Outstanding Construction Engineering Service of the Year” by Hong
Kong Commercial Times for the second consecutive year. Additionally,
“The 30th Considerate Contractors Site Award Scheme” by Development
Bureau and Construction Industry Council for its project Centralised
General Research Laboratory Complex (Block 2) at the Chinese University
of Hong Kong, has been awarded the below prices, including “Considerate
Contractors Site Award — New Works Contracts (Group B) — Silver Prize”,
"Outstanding Environmental Management and Performance Awards — Merit
Award”, “Model Worker Awards”, “Model Frontline Supervisor Awards” and
“Model Project Leader Awards”.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has appeared in 104 articles
by media platforms, namely Hong Kong Economic Journal, Hong Kong
Economic Times, and Ta Kung Pao.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THERWRRE S

Environmental Operations

The environmental services provided by Zhejiang Construction Investment
Environment Engineering Company Limited (the “ZCIEE"), primarily consist
of the environmental works for the construction, restoration, and operation
of wastewater and recycled water treatment plants, water distribution
plants and other environmental facilities and infrastructure, as well as
architectural services related to environmental improvement in the PRC.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 2 projects with an aggregate
original contract sum of approximately HK$5.4 million and 21 projects
relating to service concession arrangements and operation services.

During the Reporting Period, the ZCIEE was awarded the main contract
for wastewater treatment facilities in rural areas of Jinhua City in Zhejiang
Province, which was the first project of its kind in the city. In addition,
the ZCIEE has pushed forward its transformation and upgrading, and
has formed a new subsidiary, NET with MS Energy as the non-controlling
shareholder, which has marked the successful entry of the new energy
industry. NET is owned as to 70% by ZCIEE and 30% by MS Energy.
Accordingly, NET has been accounted for as a subsidiary of the Group and
its financial results has been consolidated into the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. During the Reporting period, NET had 7 projects
relating to the energy storage business, which are expected to commence
and be completed in 2025.

During the Reporting Period, the ZCIEE has been awarded the “2024 Xihu
District Government Quality Award” by the People’s Government of Xihu
District, Hangzhou, in recognition of its outstanding contributions to
continuous innovation and quality improvement. During the Reporting
Period, the ZCIEE has appeared in different media platforms, namely the QQ
News, Construction Times and Tide News.

Prospects

During the Reporting Period, the global and Hong Kong economies were
in a phase of recovery and the sentiment of the property market had been
gradually stabilising.

Subsequent to 31 December 2024, the Group has been further awarded
4 new projects relating to 2 building construction works contracts with
aggregate original contract sum of approximately HK$4.1 billion million
and 2 RMAA works contract and with aggregate original contract sum of
approximately HK$22.4 million.

The Group has also placed significant emphasis on technological innovation
to enhance its core competitiveness in the construction industry. The total
expenditure for research and development was approximately HK$20.1
million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THER RS

During the Reporting Period, the Group has improved our “Smart Site Safety
System (4S)" and successfully obtained the 1SO27001 certification. There
are several key modules that have been optimized, including adding the
Hong Kong Observatory's real-time data to the system platform, enhancing
the data interface visualization, advancing RFID equipment and systems,
which further enhanced the efficiency of the tower crane and mobile plant
safety alert systems, better meeting the practical needs of site workers. In
addition, the Group has successfully developed a Safety Tracking Watch
for construction sites, which can real-time monitor the location and health
status of site workers, providing comprehensive safety protection. At the
same time, the company has also optimised the certificate module in
the training system, adding OCR scanning and data tracking functions to
improve asset management efficiency and user experiences.

The Group has also signed a memorandum of understanding (“MOU”)
with the Hong Kong Centre for Construction Robotics, strengthening the
collaboration in the areas of innovation in the construction industry, such
as smart construction technology research and development, robotics
applications, talent cultivation, and commercialisation. The joint efforts aim
to promote intelligence and sustainability in the construction industry.

In addition, the ZCIEE has successfully developed an integrated rural
domestic sewage treatment equipment, which has already passed the
performance test by a third-party testing institution. The five water quality
indicators, including pH value, chemical oxygen demand, suspended solids,
ammonia nitrogen, and total phosphorus of the treated water, all meet
the Grade 1 standard of DB33/973-2021 Table 1 for treated water. The
equipment has successfully achieved commercialised sales, marking an
important step for the company in converting its proprietary technology
into economic benefits.

Our Group will enhance its technology research and development, and
is committed to introducing various innovative technology tools in
both construction and environmental projects to improve management
efficiency, construction safety and environmental protection.

Since the sentiment of the property market is gradually stabilising, the
outlook for 2025 should remain stable. Additionally, with ongoing projects
in new development areas like the Northern Metropolis, they are expected
to have a positive impact on our Group's business. However, the Group will
still face challenges such as talent shortages, increasing skilled labour and
material costs in the construction industry. To address these challenges, the
Group will continue to enhance the utilisation of the Labour Importation
Scheme for the Construction Sector and focus on identifying new and
potential construction opportunities for profitable growth. In addition,
leveraging our industry experience and expertise, our Group is keen to
explore suitable business opportunities in the construction sector both
locally and overseas.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THERWRRE S

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

There are certain risks relating to the Group's operations which could
harm its business, financial conditions and operating results. Some of the
relatively material risks relating to the Group are summarised as follows:

Business risks

(i) the Group's revenue is mainly derived from projects which are not
recurrent in nature and we are subject to the risks associated with
competitive tendering process. There is no guarantee on the Group's
continuous success in project tenders or quotation and the Group's
sustainability and financial performance may be materially and

(i) the Group operates under various registration, licenses and
certifications and the loss of or failure to obtain or renew any or all of
these registrations, licenses and/or certifications could materially and
adversely affect the Group’s business;

(i)  the Group determined the tender price based on the estimate
construction time and costs which may deviate from the actual
implementation of a project due to cost overruns and/or other
related construction risks; and

(iv)  failure to maintain safe construction sites and/or implement our
safety management system may lead to the occurrence of personal
injuries, property damages, fatal accidents or suspension of relevant
licenses to operate.

Industry and market risks

(i) the construction industry is highly competitive. There are a significant
number of industry players who provide similar services as ours; and

(i) all of the Group's revenue was derived from projects located in the
PRC, Hong Kong, Malaysia and the United Kingdom. If the PRC, Hong
Kong, Malaysia and the United Kingdom experiences any adverse
economic conditions due to events beyond our control, such as
a local economic downturn, natural disasters, contagious disease
outbreaks, terrorist attacks, or if the local authorities adopt regulations
that place additional restrictions or burdens on the construction or
environmental industry in general, the Group's overall business and
results of operations may be materially and adversely affected.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THER RS

During the Reporting Period, for management purpose, the Group has
2 reportable segments, construction operations which comprised of
the provision of building construction services and repair, maintenance,
addition and alteration ("RMAA”") works in Hong Kong, Malaysia and the
United Kingdom; and the environmental operations business in the PRC.
Details of the segmental information of the Group is disclosed in note 4 to
the financial statements.

Revenue

The total revenue of the Group increased by approximately HK$620.4
million or approximately 11.4% from approximately HKS$5,445.6 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately HK$6,066.0 million for
the Reporting Period.

Construction Operations

. Building Construction Works

The revenue generated from the building construction works
increased by approximately HK$711.5 million or approximately
15.1% from approximately HK$4,703.0 million for the year ended
31 December 2023 to approximately HK$5,414.5 million for the
Reporting Period. The increase was mainly due to the increase in
revenue generated from new and existing projects to the Group
during the Reporting Period.

. RMAA Works
The revenue generated from the RMAA works decreased by
approximately HK$16.7 million or approximately 3.2% from
approximately HK$528.7 million for the year ended 31 December
2023 to approximately HK$512.0 million for the Reporting Period. The
decrease was mainly attributable to existing projects were closed to
completion during the Reporting Period.

Environmental Operations

The revenue generated from the environmental operations decreased by
approximately HK$74.4 million or approximately 34.8% from approximately
HKS$213.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately
HK$139.5 million for the Reporting Period. The decrease was mainly
attributable to decrease in revenue from new and existing projects from
construction and rehabilitation services, which was partially offset by
increase in revenue from sewage and reclaimed water treatment services,
during the Reporting Period.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THERWRRE S

Contract Costs

The Group’s contract costs primarily consisted of subcontracting
costs, material costs, direct staff costs, site overheads and provision for
rectification works and claims. The contract costs of the Group increased
by approximately HK$573.2 million or approximately 11.2% from
approximately HK$5,139.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
approximately HK$5,712.8 million for the Reporting Period. Such increase
was in line with the increase in revenue and was mainly attributable to the
increase in subcontracting costs, material costs, direct staff costs and site
overheads for new and existing projects.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The gross profit of the Group increased from approximately HK$306.0
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately HK$353.2
million for the Reporting Period. The Group's gross profit margin was
approximately 5.6% and 5.8% for each of the two years ended 31 December
2023 and 2024, respectively.

Construction Operations

. Building Construction Works
The gross profit of building construction works was approximately
HK$238.1 million for the Reporting Period, representing an increase of
approximately HK$33.7 million from approximately HK$204.4 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023. The gross profit margin for the
Reporting Period was 4.4%, which was approximately equal to that for
the year ended 31 December 2023.

. RMAA Works

The gross profit of RMAA works was approximately HK$70.9 million
for the Reporting Period, representing an increase of approximately
HK$9.2 million from the gross profit of approximately HK$61.7
million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The gross profit
margin increased by approximately 2.1 percentage points from
approximately 11.7% for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
approximately 13.8% for the Reporting Period. The increase in gross
profit and gross profit margin was mainly due to increase in revenue
from RMAA works projects with higher gross profit margin during the
Reporting Period.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THER RS

Environmental Operations

The gross profit of environmental operations was approximately HK$44.2
million for the Reporting Period, representing an increase of approximately
HKS$4.3 million from the gross profit of approximately HK$39.9 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023. The gross profit margin increased by
approximately 13 percentage points from approximately 18.7% for the year
ended 31 December 2023 to approximately 31.7% for the Reporting Period.
The increase in the gross profit and gross profit margin for the Reporting
Period was mainly due to increase in revenue from sewage and reclaimed
water treatment services with higher gross profit margin, which was partially
offset by decrease in revenue from construction and rehabilitation services
which contributed lower gross profit margin during the Reporting Period.

Other Income

The other income of the Group decreased by approximately HK$4.2 million,
from approximately HK$13.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
to approximately HK$9.0 million for the Reporting Period. The decrease was
mainly attributable to decrease in insurance compensation received during
the Reporting Period and absence of interest income from a loan to a fellow
subsidiary, which was partially offset by increase in bank interest income
during the Reporting Period.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses of the Group decreased from approximately
HK$173.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately
HK$162.5 million for the Reporting Period. The decrease was mainly due to
absence of professional service fee for the acquisition of ZCIEE during the
Reporting Period.

Other Operating Expenses, net

The other operating expenses of the Group increased by approximately
HKS$5.4 million, from approximately HK$1.9 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 to approximately HKS$7.3 million for the Reporting Period.
The increase was primarily due to the impairment of other assets of HK$8.9
million, which was partially offset by exchange difference of HK$4.2 million
during the Reporting Period.

Impairment of Financial Assets, net

The impairment of financial assets of the Group increased from
approximately HKS$6.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
approximately HK$46.0 million for the Reporting Period. The increase was
mainly due to increase in the expected credit losses provision on contract
assets according to HKFRS 9 during the Reporting Period.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THERWRRE S

Finance Costs

The finance costs of the Group increased from approximately HK$52.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately HK$65.8
million for the Reporting Period. The increase was mainly due to increase in
average bank loan balance and discounted amounts of retention payables
arising from the passage of time, which was partially offset by repayments of
borrowings from an intermediate holding company, during the Reporting
Period.

Income Tax Expense

The income tax expense increased by approximately HK$13.9 million, or
representing approximately 109.4%, from approximately HK$12.7 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately HK$26.6 million for
the Reporting Period. The increase was mainly due to absence of utilisation
of tax losses for offsetting against assessable profits during the Reporting
Period. The effective tax rates were approximately 14.9% and 33.0% for each
of the two years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024, respectively.

Net Profit and Adjusted Net Profit

The net profit for the year of the Group decreased by approximately HK$18.2
million, or approximately 25.2%, from approximately HK$72.2 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately HK$54.0 million for
the Reporting Period. The net profit margin for the two years ended 31
December 2023 and 2024 were approximately 1.3% and 0.9%, respectively.

Employees and Remuneration Policies

The Group had a total of 1,015 employees as at 31 December 2024 (31
December 2023: 906). Total staff costs of the Group (excluding the Directors’
remuneration) for the Reporting Period were approximately HK$501.5 million
(2023: approximately HK$464.7 million). The Group's remuneration policies
were in line with relevant legislation, market conditions and the performance
of our employees. The salary and benefit level of the employees of the
Group are competitive and individual performance is rewarded through the
Group's salary, bonus and other cash subsidies system. The Group conducts
review on salary adjustment, discretionary bonuses and promotions based
on the performance of each employee twice a year. The emoluments of
the Directors and the senior management are decided by the Board with
reference to the recommendation from the remuneration committee of
the Company, having considered factors such as the Group'’s financial
performance and the individual performance of the Directors, etc.

The Company provides introductory training at the time when members of
our staff first join us and thereafter regular on-the-job training, depending
on the staff's role. In addition, it is our policy to provide training to our staff
on an as-needed basis to enhance their technical and industry knowledge.
During the Reporting Period, the Group has not experienced any significant
problems with its employees due to labour disputes nor has it experienced
any difficulty in the recruitment and retention of experienced staff.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THER RS

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) as an incentive to the Directors and eligible employees. No share
option has been granted, exercised, expired or lapsed under the Share
Option Scheme since its adoption and up to the date of this report. The
Company may grant options in respect of up to 50,000,000 Shares (or such
numbers of Shares as shall result from a sub-division or a consolidation of
such 50,000,000 Shares from time to time) to the participants under the
Share Option Scheme. The total number of Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of options granted to any participants (including both
exercised and outstanding options) under the Share Option Scheme or any
other share option schemes of our Company in any 12-month period up to
the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue.

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK1.8 cents
(2023: HK1.8 cents) per Share for the Reporting Period. The proposed
dividend will be payable on or before Thursday, 24 July 2025, subject to
the approval of the Shareholders at the forthcoming 2025 Annual General
Meeting ("AGM") of the Company to be held on Thursday, 19 June 2025.

On 20 September 2024, ZCIEE, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a joint venture agreement with MS Energy, pursuant to which
the parties agreed to establish a new subsidiary, NET, with a registered
capital of RMB 50,000,000. NET is owned as to 70% by ZCIEE and 30% by
MS Energy. NET is an investment platform specialising in energy storage
business and provision of comprehensive new energy services. The
formation of NET constitutes a discloseable transaction of the Company
and is subject to the reporting and announcement requirements but is
exempted from the circular and Shareholders” approval requirements
under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules. For further details of the formation
of NET, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 20
September 2024.

Our Group believes that the formation of NET represents a strategic initiative
for the Group to explore opportunities in the emerging new energy
industry, which is consistent with the Group’s development strategies and is
beneficial for the Group's long term business development.

During the Reporting Period, the Group invested approximately HKS$7.0
million (2023: approximately HK$6.1 million) on acquisition of property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets. Capital expenditure was
principally funded by internal resources.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THERWRRE S

Capital Commitments

The Group had capital commitments of approximately HKS$1.2 million as at
31 December 2024 (2023: approximately HK$16.2 million).

Contingent Liabilities

Save as disclosed below, the Group had no other contingent liabilities as at
31 December 2024:

(@)  As at 31 December 2024, performance bonds of approximately
HK$2,100.0 million (2023: approximately HK$1,800.1 million) were
given by banks in favour of the Group's customers as security for the
due performance and observance of the Group’s obligation under
the contracts entered into between the Group and their customers. If
the Group fails to provide satisfactory performance to their customers
to whom performance bonds have been given, such customers may
demand the banks to pay to them the sum or sums stipulated in such
demand. The Group will then become liable to compensate such
banks accordingly. The performance bonds will be released upon
completion of the contract work.

At the end of the Reporting Period, the directors do not consider it is
probable that such claim will be made against the Group.

(b)  In the ordinary course of the Group’s construction business, the
Group has been subject to a number of claims due to personal
injuries suffered by employees of the Group or of the Group'’s
subcontractors in accidents arising out of and in the course of their
employment. At the end of the Reporting Period, the directors are of
the opinion that such claims are well covered by insurance and would
not result in any material adverse impact on the financial position or
results and operations of the Group.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

The Group operates in the PRC, Hong Kong, Malaysia and the United
Kingdom and most of the transactions are denominated in Renminbi, Hong
Kong Dollars, Malaysian ringgit and Great British Pound. The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the Board
closely monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should that need arise.

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 December 2024, the gearing ratio of the Group, which is calculated
by dividing net debt with equity attributable to equity holders of the
Company plus net debt, was approximately 30.2% (2023: approximately
42.3%). Net debt includes interest-bearing bank borrowings and loans from
intermediate holding companies, less cash and cash equivalents. Capital
represents equity attributable to equity holders of the Company.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THER RS

Liquidity and Financial Resources and Capital
Structure

During the Reporting Period, the Group maintained a healthy liquidity
position, with working capital financed mainly by internal and external
resources.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group reported net current assets of
approximately HK$565.5 million, as compared with approximately HK$374.5
million as at 31 December 2023. As at 31 December 2023, the Group's cash
and cash equivalents were approximately HK$330.8 million, representing an
increase of approximately HK$94.8 million as compared to approximately
HK$236.0 million as at 31 December 2023. Analysis of the maturity profile of
the interest-bearing bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2024
and 31 December 2023 is set out in the note 24 to the financial statements.

The Shares of the Company were successfully listed on the Stock Exchange
on 16 October 2019. There has been no change in the capital structure of
the Group since then.

Debts and Charge On Assets

The Group had interest-bearing bank borrowings of approximately
HKS$534.2 million as at 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$415.6 million). As at 31
December 2024, the Group pledged receivables and contract assets under
service concession arrangements with net book value of HK$187.2 million
(2023: HKS$174.6 million), and shares of ZCIEE held by the Group to bank to
finance loans in the PRC.

Borrowings were denominated in Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars and
interests on borrowings were mainly charged at floating rate. The Group
did not employ any financial instrument for hedging purpose during the
Reporting Period. However, the Group pays vigilant attention to monitor
interest rate risks and exchange rate risks continuously and cautiously.

Treasury Policy

The Group continues to manage its financial position carefully and
maintains conservative policies in cash and financial management. The
Group's liquidity and financing requirements are frequently reviewed. The
Board closely monitors the Group's liquidity position to ensure that the
Group can meet its funding requirements for business development.

Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital
Assets

The Group may from time to time consider appropriate new business
opportunities as and when appropriate, in order to enhance its
Shareholders’ value. Save as disclosed herein, there was no specific plan for
material investments or capital assets as at 31 December 2024.
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Directors and Senior Management

EFREREER

Executive Directors

Mr. GUAN Manyu (“Mr. Guan”), aged 47, is the chairman of our Board
and an executive Director. He was appointed as a director of our Company
on 20 July 2017, and was further appointed and designated as an executive
Director and the chairman of our Board on 5 September 2017. He is
responsible for overall business development as well as financial and
strategic planning of our Group.

Mr. Guan has approximately 25 years of experience in the construction
industry. From August 1999 to August 2001, he worked for Zhejiang
Construction Investment Group Co., Ltd. at which his last position was
a foreman. In September 2001, he joined China Zhejiang Construction
International Group Limited (formerly known as China Zhejiang
Construction Group (H.K.) Limited) as a project manager and was
subsequently promoted to an assistant manager in March 2002, a deputy
manager in March 2003 and a general manager in September 2007. Since
April 2015, he has become the chairman of China Zhejiang Construction
International Group Limited. Mr. Guan joined our Group in January 2014 as
a director of CR Construction Company Limited and has been concurrently
serving as the chairman of CR Construction Company Limited since March
2015. He is a director of CR Construction (Building) Company Limited. He
is also the director of China Zhejiang International Construction Group
Limited. He has been the Deputy General Manager of Zhejiang Construction
Investment Group Co,, Ltd (stock code: 002761.57) since June 2023.

Mr. Guan obtained a Bachelor's degree of civil engineering in construction
engineering from Zhejiang University in the People’s Republic of China
(the "PRC") in June 1999 and a master of science in civil infrastructural
engineering and management from the Hong Kong University of Science
and technology in November 2005.

Mr. Guan was admitted as a st class registered constructor (— &% 3T it
&AM in specialty of construction engineering in Ministry of Housing and
Urban-Rural Development of the People’s Republic of China (3 A R
BB A 48522 7% 2B) (formerly known as Ministry of Construction of
the People’s Republic of China ({2 A R F1EIZE R ET)) in November
2007 and a senior engineer (= 4 TF2RM) in specialty of construction
engineering in Zhejiang Province Human Resources and Social Security
Department (17T & A EIRFIE ZIRFEES) in December 2009.

For Mr. Guan'’s interest in the Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong),
please refer to the section headed “Report of the Directors” in this annual
report.
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Directors and Senior Management

EFAREREERE

Mr. LI Kar Yin (“Mr. Li”), aged 66, is an executive Director. He was
appointed as a director of our Company on 20 July 2017, and designated
as an executive Director on 5 September 2017. He is mainly responsible for
overall management of our business

Mr. Li has approximately 42 years of experience in the construction industry.
From July 1982 to January 1988, he worked for Langdon Every and Seah, an
international construction cost consultancy firm, as a quantity surveyor. In
January 1988, he joined our Group as a quantity surveyor of CR Construction
Company Limited and was subsequently promoted to a senior quantity
surveyor in January 1989, an assistant contracts manager in November 1992
and a contracts manager in April 1995. He has become a director of CR
Construction Company Limited since October 2001. He is also a director of
CR Construction (Building) Company Limited.

Mr. Li obtained a higher diploma in surveying and an advanced higher
diploma in quantity surveying from Hong Kong Polytechnic (currently
known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic University) in November 1981 and
November 1982 respectively. He, through distance learning, obtained a
diploma in surveying (quantity surveying) and a postgraduate diploma in
arbitration from the College of Estate Management (currently known as
the University College of Estate Management) in the United Kingdom in
September 1996 and April 2000 respectively.

Mr. Li was admitted as a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors
in June 1998 and a member of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators in July
2000.

For Mr. Li's interest in the Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong),
please refer to the section headed “Report of the Directors” in this annual
report.
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Directors and Senior Management

EFREREER

Mr. CHAN Tak Yiu (“Mr. Chan”), aged 53, is an executive Director. He was
appointed as a director of our Company on 20 July 2017, and was further
appointed and designated as an executive Director on 5 September 2017.
He is mainly responsible for overall management of our business operation.

Mr. Chan has approximately 32 years of experience in the construction
industry. From July 1992 to October 1993 and August 1994 to March
1999, he worked for Crownity Engineering Limited and its subsidiaries
(namely Best Build Construction Co., Ltd. and Besco Engineering Ltd.) at
which his last position was a construction manager. From March 1999 to
January 2002, he worked for Square Construction Company Limited as a
project manager. From January 2002 to May 2009, he worked for Chun
Wo Construction and Engineering Company Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited (stock code:
711), at which his last position was a deputy operation manager. In May
2009, he joined our Group and worked as a senior project manager of CR
Construction Company Limited and was subsequently promoted to a
project operation director and head of technical department concurrently
in January 2012, an assistant general manager in February 2015. Since July
2016, he has been a director of CR Construction Company Limited. He has
been the director of Mount Land Limited since October 2024 and CR TECH
Company Limited since January 2025.

Mr. Chan obtained a Bachelor’'s degree of science in construction
management from South Bank University, London in the United Kingdom
in July 1994 and a Master's degree of science in construction management
from City University of Hong Kong in November 2000.

Mr. Chan was admitted as a member of The Australian Institute of Building
in May 2005 and a member of The Chartered Institute of Building in January
2006. Mr. Chan was admitted as a fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of
Construction Managers in April 2015.

For Mr. Chan's interest in the Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong),
please refer to the section headed “Report of the Directors” in this annual
report.
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Directors and Senior Management

EFAREREERE

Non-executive Director

Mr. YANG Haojiang (“Mr. Yang”), aged 42, is a non-executive Director.
He was appointed as a director of our Company on 20 July 2017, and
was further appointed and designated as a non-executive Director on 5
September 2017. He is mainly responsible for providing strategic advice to
our Group.

Mr. Yang has more than 14 years of experience in the construction industry.
In April 2010, he worked for Zhejiang Construction Investment Group Co.,
Ltd. as a research officer and was subsequently promoted to a senior project
manager in January 2012 and an assistant manager in November 2014.
Since September 2016, he has been serving as a deputy general manager
in China Zhejiang Construction International Group Limited. He is also
a director of CR Engineering Company Limited and CR TECH Company
Limited.

Mr. Yang obtained a Bachelor's degree of information management and
information system ({5 8.8 81{5 B £ 4%) from Zhejiang Gongshang
University in the PRC in July 2005 and a Master's degree of business
administration from University of Bridgeport in the United States in
December 2007.

For Mr. Yang's interest in the Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong),
please refer to the section headed “Report of the Directors” in this annual
report.
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Directors and Senior Management

EFREREER

Independent non-executive Directors

The Honourable TSE Wai Chun Paul JP (“Mr. Tse"”), aged 66, was
appointed as our independent non-executive Director on 17 September
2019. He is chairman of the Remuneration Committee, and a member of
the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee. He is responsible for
providing independent judgement on our strategy, performance, resources
and standard of conduct.

Mr. Tse has more than 39 years of experience in the legal field. He has
worked as a barrister from October 1985 to July 1992 and as a solicitor from
July 1992 to the present. From July 1992 to June 1993, he worked for Livasiri
& Co. as an assistant solicitor. From July 1993 to January 1995, he worked
for Terry Yeung & Lai, Solicitors as a consultant. From February 1995 to mid
1997, he worked for Wilfred K. H. Lam & Co. as a consultant. He founded Paul
W. Tse, a solicitors firm in Hong Kong, in October 1997 and is currently a
partner of Paul W. Tse.

Mr. Tse obtained a Bachelor's degree of commerce and a Bachelor's degree
of laws from The University of New South Wales in Australia in April 1984
and in May 1984, respectively. He obtained a Master's degree of laws in
Chinese and comparative law from The City University of Hong Kong in
November 1999 and a postgraduate certificate in laws from The University
of Hong Kong in September 1985.

Mr. Tse was called to the bar of New South Wales in July 1984. He was
admitted as an advocate and solicitor in Singapore in February 1995. He was
called to the bar in Hong Kong in October 1985. In September 1992, he was
admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong. He was also admitted as an associate
member of The Australian Society of Certified Practising Accountants in
March 1984 and a member of The Chartered Institute of Arbitrators in
December 1999.

Mr. Tse was appointed as a Justice of the Peace by the Government in July
2011 and is currently a member of the Legislative Council of Hong Kong.
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Directors and Senior Management

EFAREREERE

Mr. HO Man Yiu lvan (“Mr. Ho”), aged 67, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 17 September 2019. He is chairman
of Nomination Committee, and member of the Audit Committee and the
Remuneration Committee, respectively. He is responsible for providing
independent judgement on our strategy, performance, resources and
standard of conduct.

Mr. Ho has approximately 40 years of experience in the construction
industry. From 1983 to 1986, he worked for the Housing Department of
HKSAR Government as a graduate architect and later as an architect. From
1986 to 1987, he worked for Kumagai Design Ltd. Architects, Planners &
Engineers as a project architect. From 1987 to 1989, he worked for Kumagai
Gumi (HK) Ltd. at which his last position was a deputy project manager for
the Bank of China Tower project. In September 1988, he served as a co-
founder of Ivanho Architect Limited and, since then, has been serving as a
director.
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Directors and Senior Management

EFREREER

Mr. Ho obtained a Bachelor's degree of Arts in Architectural Studies and
a Bachelor’s degree of Architecture from the University of Hong Kong in
November 1981 and November 1983 respectively. He was a Vice President
of Hong Kong Institute of Architects from 2017 to 2018 and a Vice President
(Local Affairs) of Hong Kong Institute of Urban Design from 2014 to 2018.
He is currently the Chairman of Harbourfront Commission (HC) and the
Chairman of the Hong Kong Task Force of Harbourfront Commission
(HO). He was one of the Technical Advisor (TA) of Development Bureau
for Two-envelope Tender Arrangement for Site 3 of the New Central
Harbourfront in 2021. He had been the Director of Hong Kong Green
Building Council (HKGBC) from 2016 to 2020, the Chairman of Governance
and Quality Committee of Hong Kong Green Building Council (HKGBC)
from 2017 to 2021 and the Chairman of Professional Green Building Council
(PGBCQ) from 2015 to 2016.

Ms. DONG Yuk Lai, Petrina (“Ms. Dong”), aged 72, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 31 August 2024. She is chairlady
of the Audit Committee, member of the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee, respectively.

Ms. Dong joined PricewaterhouseCoopers ("PwC") in November 1986
and was admitted to partnership in July 1992, before retiring from the
aforementioned positions as of 30 June 2011. After her retirement, she was
appointed as a senior advisor at PwC from 1 July 2011 to 30 June 2024.

Ms. Dong graduated from the University of Hong Kong in 1976 and has
been a Member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
since 1982. She has over 40 years of experience in international tax and
many years of experience in corporate listing, and financing, including
company setup, corporate structure, distribution strategy, mergers and
acquisitions, international tax planning, transfer pricing, and tax review. She
had also been the chairlady of China Committee of Hong Kong General
Chamber of Commerce ("HKGCC") for the period between 2018 and 2021
and is currently the convenor of the GBA Working Group of HKGCC. She is
also a committee member of the Chinese General Chamber of Commerce
("CGCC") and a member of Mainland Affairs, External Affairs and Greater Bay
Area Committee of CGCC.

Mr. LAl Yuk Fai Stephen JP (“Mr. Lai”), aged 65, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 28 March 2023. He is a member
of each of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee, and the
Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Lai has retired from the position of managing director in April 2020 and
was appointed as a consultant of Rider Levett Bucknall Limited from April
2020 to 31 March 2023.

26 CRConstruction Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

MEER—AN—"EF+—AR—NAN=F
+—A% EJF%;%?(E"HXHL%%X B+
BUNBEZETEN -BFR_FT—tFZ
—E- N\FETESREMERER I
RZE—OFE_FT— )\$?f‘1£i5/%iﬁk*“
AEgRER(AXER) - KEFIRBES
iﬁzé“mif /i/ﬁ%ﬁ%;/\alﬁgﬁli/ﬁ

BRIEFZNEETRE BR_ZFE-_—RERB
ﬁ%@i&%ﬁi,\_ﬁﬁﬁiﬂlrgﬂ RN
REZHEMMER RZZE—ARFE2Z=F
FORABEGEELZIGNEST IRV
z— ti_;_*EFEJ?f‘EE/%iféL*“

EMEAMMEEBZESER - BN
=z — ﬂfﬁi—g NEBEIRREERZE
EEEE

EFBxT((Bxrtl) 2 W-ZT M
FENAZ+—BHEZTABYIIFNITES -
BABEBREESTIR RELZEENFHZ
BEEKE -

FLLER—NNRF+—ANAZEZRKE
SR EBH ((BERKE] - R—h=
FEARBEEBA AR_F——FXA

= AR ERBARK - RINE R =F
——FtHA-HE-_ZT-_WNFEAA=THE
ZERBERRAKEZ SRER -

BEREIR-—NERFEERBBEKRE B
—HANZFRABEESHMAEEE - K
BREBROFNEREEERARZFNE
XETERELR  BRARRKRY  AAR
B DR B BERWBMRE  ER
EEERBEE WAER_FT-N\FEZ
T-—FHRAETEEABDS ([FRAH
EDPEZESIFE BAIATEABEAN
BRIFENMARA RISBETERRD
g((hEABS ) ETSE URPELER
SRMER  PINEHRNERZEEERE -

~

BEEBEE (KFHL) (HEED 655
R-FE-_=F=A-+N\BEZEREILF
$ﬂﬁ%$°fﬂiﬁ%?§§/* k%i,\au
FMEEEKE -

BEAR-_FT_FTFNARTAMLAERA
MEFALEBRBYN _T_TFMAE
F_=F=A=+— EM%%E?%?TUH:%BE
BN



Directors and Senior Management

EFAREREERE

Mr. Lai obtained a Bachelor’s degree in Building Economics and
Measurement from University of Aston, Birmingham, UK in 1984, a Master's
degree in E-Commerce for Executives from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in 2002, and an Honorary Doctor of Science degree from
University of Aston, Birmingham, UK in 2018. He has been elected as
professional associate of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors in
1987, a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors in 2001, and
China Registered Cost Engineer. Mr. Lai is also a member of the Registered
Professional Surveyor (Quantity Surveying Division), Hong Kong. He was
a chairman of Quantity Surveying Division of the Hong Kong Institute of
Surveyors from 2008 to 2009 and the president of The Hong Kong Institute
of Surveyors from 2012-2013. He is currently a director of Hong Kong Green
Building Council. He was elected as a member of the National Committee
of the 13th Xuhui District, Shanghai of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference in January 2023.

Senior Management

Mr. PAN Shujie (“Mr. Pan”), aged 60, has been appointed as the chief
executive officer of the Company since 1 January 2025 Mr. Pan joined our
Group in August 2020. He currently serves as the director of CR Construction
Company Limited and CR Engineering Company Limited. He is mainly
responsible for overall management of the Group.

Mr. Pan has over 36 years of experience in the construction industry.
He worked in China State Construction Group Limited in 1987 and was
seconded to China State Construction International Holdings Limited from
1991 to mid-2020. From August 2012 to August 2018, he was served as
an executive director of China State Construction International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 3311). Since August 2020, he joined our Group and
has been serving as a Chief Operation Officer and Deputy General Manager
of CR Construction Company Limited and was appointed as the director
of CR Construction Company Limited in March 2022 and CR Engineering
Company Limited in August 2022.

Mr. Pan obtained a Bachelor's degree in civil engineering from the
Southeast University (formerly known as Nanjing Institute of Technology)
and obtained a Master's degree of science in engineering business
management from the University of Warwick (UK). He was admitted as
a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Engineers in September 2003
and was admitted as a member of The Chartered Institute of Building
(UK) in 2002. Mr. Pan has been appointed as a member of Construction
Industry Council by Development Bureau of the Government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region since 2016. He has been appointed
as a director of Hong Kong Green Building Council in 2020, the executive
director of China Civil Engineering Society Council in 2018, a deputy director
of China Green Building (HK) Council in 2018. He has been appointed as an
expert member of China Association of Building Energy Efficiency in 2017.
Mr. Pan had been awarded the Second Class honor of National Science
and Technology Progress Award of PRC with respect to Research and
Application of Critical Construction Technologies in Hong Kong Disneyland
Project in 2007.

= Bz ERA

ﬁﬁi%*hﬂ@@%%%lﬁ%@@%

BASRELHENERLTEN R_TF
THEREBSEAEIRBETRABETRE
BERTEN IR _T-N\FEBEH

BRSMAEARKBESE LB - BN
*hﬂtiﬁ‘%ﬁl REFFAEMES
MEXER N T -FEER/BFBAE
%%amﬁﬁ@§&¢!%ﬁﬁﬁlﬁﬁ°
BIMATETMEXRAEM (TROAIEHE) K
B-BRENR_ZEZENFE_ZTNFELE
BRAEMBEeTHAIEEETEIN _—T——
FE_Z-=-"FREEFBHEMZEEE K-
HEMETEEMECREEZTES - KN
T - AEEATBEARBAHEEH

tETHRERS T =ZE2EZBELE -

BREERE

BRALRE(EERE]D 60 - BT -1
F-A-—HERBBEEARRGITHAR - &KL
ER-_Z_FFNAMALREE - BREE
ELEREARARNELREERARAA
MEE RIZASEEASEMNEREE-

EARETRETERBECFNLER - BN
—NANEFEFEBESERR QG IIE -
W — hh FEZ_FTFHPHEEFHIF
BZEHRIERAERAR - BR_TE—ZF
NAZEZ ?*A$AH#E¢IL £ B B 2
RAERAR (BRHMRE 3311 MATES -
5:%:%$Aﬂﬁ*ﬁ%k$%§vﬁ*
BEEAELCEEERANEREERER
BlEKE - WHR _E-—F=ARETA%E
ERERRA T%%&_Y__ﬁﬂﬂﬁé
TAELZEAMTIREARR

EAEERREARE (I AERIER) IE
TARIEEBLTBMMAERERGR XNLEETE
BETEBEETEM - FR_TET=FA
ﬂ%%%l&%%awﬁﬁAﬁ NIy —_—
TCFRLBETEESZSGARATREE o &
EEB T - NFREFBRFIITEHERFG
EREZARBEXERINE - HR_ZTZ
TTFEZAAREBHOEEZETEE K
E-NFEZIAYELIARATIREECEES
BEEE RN \FEZETATEEE
EREME (BB ZERAFEE - BHRF
ftﬁﬁiEﬁ¢lEﬁ%%%@%%§§
GER  EFLREGHR _ZEELFRESH L
JE 4[5 T 72 B 82 ve T H: 1ig off 75 B2 jE AR & AR X
BIREIERITE SR -

2024 F5) 27




Directors and Senior Management

EFREREER

Ms. FANG Xuan (“Ms. Fang”), aged 54, is a director of CR Construction
Company Limited and Mount Land Limited. Ms. Fang has extensive
experience in finance and treasury industry. She joined our Group in August
2019 and served as the Finance Director from August 2019 to May 2022. She
has been the Chief Financial Director of the Company since June 2022.

Ms. Fang worked at Beijing Enterprises Holdings Ltd (1t =GR A 7)),
a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0392 HK), from June
2000 to July 2019, with her last position as a financial accounting manager
of Hong Kong capital finance department. Ms. FANG served as a finance
director at Mingxi Charity Foundation (BB AzE £ €) from August
2016 to July 2019. She has been serving as a member of the consultative
committee of the Liaison Office of the Association of Certified Public
Accountants of China in Hong Kong (FF BzEft &5t Gl e B &8R4
BZ) and a member of the Standing Committee of the Shaanxi Provincial
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference (7
Bl A RBUSTH R & ZRAAE Z BE) since June 2022 and January 2023,
respectively. She currently also serves at The Hong Kong Chinese Enterprises
Association Financial & Accounting Affairs Steering Committee (&5
FETXBETEEHEEEZEE) as the Executive Vice Secretary General.
She has been a member of the Association of International Accountant
(EIPREETEMA®) since June 2015 and a fellow member of Association
of International Accountant since September 2020. She has also been
a member of China Association of Chief Financial Officers ( Bl48 & &t
B 17 &) (CACFO) since December 2016 and a member of Hong Kong
Professionals and Senior Executives Association (B/&Z % R ERITHA
B 1) since January 2021.
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Directors and Senior Management

EFAREREERE

Ms. Fang obtained her Bachelor’s degree in accounting in October 2006
from University of Bolton (I ER¥EAZE) in England. She also completed
a senior program on public administration in Tsinghua University
(BZEKXEZ) in Beijing, the PRC, in August 2022 and obtained an EMBA
degree from the City University of Hong Kong in October 2021. She has
been an independent non-executive director of China Development
Bank International Investment Limited (Stock Code: 1062.HK) since 20
March 2024. She has also been an independent non-executive director
of Xiaocaiyuan International Holding Ltd (Stock Code: 0999.HK) since 19
December 2024.

Mr. CHEUNG Siu Wah (“Mr. Cheung”), aged 49, is a director of CR
Construction Company Limited. Mr. Cheung joined our Group in September
1997. He is the General Manager for Construction of the Company and is
mainly responsible for overall operations of the Company's construction
projects.

Mr. Cheung has over 28 years of experiences in the construction industry. In
September 1997, he joined our Group as an Assistant Project Engineer and
was subsequently promoted to Senior Site Engineer in April 2006, Senior
Project Manager in April 2015, Project Operation Director in October 2018,
and General Manager (Project Operation) in April 2023. He has served the
General Manager for Construction since July 2024.

Mr. Cheung obtained a Bachelor's degree of Civil and Structural Engineering
in 2006 from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is an incorporated
member of The Chartered Institute of Building and an associate member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Steel Construction since 2010, a corporate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Construction Managers since 2013
and a corporate member in the Chartered Association Building Engineers
since 2015.
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Directors and Senior Management

EFREREER

Mr. LAW Ming Kin (“Mr. Law”), aged 69, is a General Manager (Project
Operations) of CR Construction Company Limited. Mr. Law joined our Group
in January 2009. He is mainly responsible for overall management of our
business operation.

Mr. Law has approximately 44 years of experience in the construction
industry. From 1979 to June 1987, he worked for Shui On Construction
Company Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of SOCAM Development
Limited (Stock Code: 0983.HK), at which his last position was an assistant
project manager. He joined our Group and worked for CR Construction
Company Limited as a site agent from July 1987 to February 1989. From
February 1989 to September 1995, he worked for subsidiaries of Tak Wing
Group at which his last position was an acting general manager. From
January 1996 to January 2006, he worked for Chun Wo Construction
and Engineering Company Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Asia
Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 0711.HK), as a senior
project manager. From March 2006 to January 2009, he worked for Paul Y.
Construction Ltd. at which his last position was a contracts manager. In
January 2009, he joined our Group again as a project operation director
of CR Construction Company Limited and was subsequently promoted to
an assistant general manager in February 2015. From July 2016 to January
2025, he was a director of CR Construction Company Limited. Mr. Law
obtained a Bachelor's degree of science in civil engineering from The
University of Calgary in Canada in June 1979.

Ms. FANG Peizhen (“Ms. Fang”), aged 49, is the project director of
the Company. Ms. Fang is the Chief Engineer of Zhejiang Construction
Investment Environment Engineering CO,, Ltd. Ms. Fang joined Zhejiang
Construction Environmental Engineering Co., Ltd in 2015. She is mainly
responsible for overseeing the operation of Zhejiang Construction
Environmental Engineering Limited.

Ms. Fang has approximately 25 years of experience in the environmental
engineering industry. From January 2019 to December 2022, she worked
for the key R&D program in Zhejiang Province as a sub-task project leader.
From January 2021 to October 2024, she worked for Zhejiang Province
Construction Research Project as a project manager. Since January 2023,
she has worked for Zhejiang Province “sharp soldiers” R & D research and
development program projects as a sub-task project leader.

Ms. Fang obtained a Master's degree of Chemical Engineering from
Sichuan University, she was admitted as a senior engineer in the PRC. She
was appointed as chairman of the Zhejiang Construction Group Green
Technology Innovation Association. She also obtained the honor of “ten
million projects” in Zhejiang Province and the construction of beautiful
Zhejiang outstanding contribution to individuals.
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Corporate Governance Report
EREQ/WRE

The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report of the
Company for the Reporting Period.

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. The Company has adopted the
Corporate Governance Code and the Corporate Governance Report (the
"CG Code") contained in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) as its own code of
corporate governance since the Listing Date. The Company has complied
with all applicable code provisions of the CG Code during the Reporting
Period. The Company will continue to review and monitor its corporate
governance practices to ensure compliance with the CG Code.

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Company, oversees
the Company’s strategic decisions and monitors business and performance.
The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for day-to-day
management and operation of the Company to the senior management
of the Company. To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs,
the Board has established three Board committees namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee
of the Company (collectively, the “Board Committees”). The Board has
delegated to the Board Committees responsibilities as set out in their
respective terms of reference.

All Directors have carried out duties in good faith and in compliance with
applicable laws and regulations, and have acted in the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance in respect of legal
action against the Directors. The insurance coverage will be reviewed on an
annual basis.
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Corporate Governance Report
ERER/WE

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separated, and should not be performed by the
same individual.

For the Reporting Period and up to the date of the annual report, the
chairman of the Board is Mr. Guan Manyu, and the chief executive officer
(“CEO") was Mr. Li Kar Yin during the Reporting Period. Since January 1, 2025,
up to the date of this report, Mr. Pan Shujie is the CEO.

The roles of the chairman and the chief executive officer remains separated
with a clear division of responsibilities performed by different individuals
to maintain their independence, accountability, well-balanced power and
authority.

Board Composition
As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises three executive

Directors, one non-executive Director and four independent non- executive
Directors as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. GUAN Manyu (Chairman)
Mr. LI Kar Yin (Chief Executive Officer)

(Resigned as the Chief Executive Officer on 1 January 2025)
Mr. CHAN Tak Yiu

Non-executive Director:
Mr. YANG Haojiang

Independent Non-executive Directors:

The Honourable TSE Wai Chun Paul JP
Mr. HO Man Yiu Ivan
Ms. DONG Yuk Lai Petrina (appointed on 31 August 2024)

Mr. LAl Yuk Fai Stephen JP

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

During the Reporting Period, the Board has met at all times the
requirements under Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three independent non-executive directors with
at least one independent non-executive director possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise.
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Corporate Governance Report
EREQ/WRE

During the Reporting Period, the Company has also complied with Rule
3.10A of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of independent non-
executive directors representing at least one-third of the Board. None of
the Directors have any personal relationship (including financial, business,
family or other material or relevant relationship) with any other Director and
chief executive.

Board diversity policy

The Company believes that the diversity of Board members will be
immensely beneficial for the enhancement of the Company’s performance.
Therefore, the Company has adopted a Board diversity policy which sets out
the approach to achieve a sustainable and balanced development of the
Company and to enhance the quality of performance.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefit of having a diverse
Board to enhance the quality of the Board's performance. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against selection criteria.

Selection and recommendation of candidates will be based on the
nomination procedures and the process and criteria adopted by the
Nomination Committee and a number of perspectives, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, industry
experience, technical and professional skills and/or qualifications,
knowledge, length of services, personal integrity and time commitments
of the proposed candidates. The Company will take into account factors
relating to the Company’s own business model and specific needs from
time to time. The ultimate decision is based on merit and contribution that
the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee has been delegated with the overall
responsibility for implementation, monitoring and periodic review of our
board diversity policy. Any revisions to the policy as recommended by the
Nomination Committee will be submitted to the Board for consideration
and approval.
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Measurable objectives of the Board diversity policy and the
progress on achieving the objectives

The measurable objectives

Objective 1:  Considering candidates for appointment as Directors from
a wide pool of talents taking into account the culture
and educational background, expertise and professional
experience, skills, experience, knowledge, perspectives and
other contributions that would complement the current
needs of the Board.

Objective 2:  Reviewing annually whether the composition and structure

of the Board is suitable for the overall development

strategy of the Group based on its business operation

and the developmental need to propose adjustment and

implementation plans.

Progress on achieving the objectives
Objective 1:  Selection and appointment of the Directors of the Company
should be in compliance with the requirements of the Board
diversity policy and in line with the overall development
strategy of the Group. From the Listing Date, the Nomination
Committee will identify the candidates for directorships and
recommend to the Board according to the Board diversity
policy of the Company for any replacement of Director or
an addition to the Board. The Board would also appoint
suitable candidates for directorship based on the overall
development of the Group and the Board diversity policy of
the Company.
Objective 2:  The Board targets to maintain at least the current level
of female representation. The current arrangement and
structure of the Board of the Company is appropriate for
the development need of the existing business operation
of the Group and is conducive for providing the Company
with extensive valuable advice and supervision on
decision-making. The Company will continually assess
the diversity of the Board and objectively consider the
composition and effectiveness of the Board for the 2023
financial year.

Workforce diversity

The gender ratio of male to female in the workforce (including senior
management) as at 31 December 2024 is 731: 284. Building construction
services industry has generally been short of female talents due to social
and culture traditions. The total gender diversity of the Group is balanced
and the Group will continue to maintain the gender diversity in workforce.
For further details of gender ratio and initiatives taken to improve gender
diversity together with the relevant data, please refer to the disclosure in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report.
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All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.
Independent non-executive Directors are invited to serve on the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.

The Company has received written annual confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of them to be
independent.

Compliance with the Listing Rules

Following the resignation of Ms. Ding Shaojian as a non-executive director
of the Company on 11 June 2024, the Company has a single gender board
which does not meet the requirement under Rule 13.92 of the Listing
Rules. The Company has on 31 August 2024 appointed Ms. Dong Yuk Lai
Petrina as an independent non-executive director, the chairlady of the audit
committee of the Board (the “Audit Committee”), and a member of each of
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. Following
such appointment, the Company has re-complied with the requirements of
Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules.

Induction and Continuous Professional Development

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary induction and
information to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the
Company’s operations and businesses as well as his/her responsibilities
under relevant statues, laws, rules and regulations. The Company also
arranges regular seminars to provide Directors with updates on latest
development and changes in the Listing Rules and other relevant legal and
regulatory requirements from time to time. The Directors are also provided
with regular updates on the Company’s performance, position and
prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge
their duties.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
company to time updated and provided written training materials relating
to the roles, functions and duties of a director.
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According to the information provided by the Directors, a summary of RIEZE FREMNER EZ R EHMES
training received by the Directors for the Reporting Period is as follows: FEE I T

Nature of
Continuous
Professional

Development

Programs
SEEXERRE
Name of Directors STEINMEE
Executive Directors HITESE
Mr. GUAN Manyu EmTRE AB,C
Mr. LI Kar Yin FRERL B C
Mr. CHAN Tak Yiu BREEIE K 4 AB,C
Non-executive Directors FHENITESE
Mr. YANG Haojiang HBEIEE B C
Ms. DING Shaojian (resigned on 11 June 2024) T A8+ (R=ZF=ZmFNA+—HEFE) B C
Mr. FAN Jingbo (resigned on 11 June 2024) 7@%%&5'&95 (R=ZFZpUFNH+—HEHE) B C
Independent Non-executive Directors BB ITEE
The Honourable TSE Wai Chun Paul JP HEELEEGDEEZE) (K FHT) A C
Mr. HO Man Yiu Ivan EpEFita A B, C
Mr. LAU Pak Shing (resigned on 31 August 2024) RIEKR T E (RZFEZWFENH=+—HEHE) AC
Ms. DONG Yuk Lai Petrina (appointed on 31 EHEZtT R=F-—mWFNA=+—H
August 2024) BEM)
Mr. LAl Yuk Fai Stephen JP FRMBME ST (K F@L) ABC
Notes: B E -
A Attending seminars and/or meetings and/or forums and/or briefings A 2 eR ez k Sdwmek,/

BAGME-

B: Attending training relevant to the Company’s business conducted by lawyers — B: 2N Eh R RN EAR R R XK HBE R
Bl

C Reading materials relevant to corporate governance, director's duties and ~ C: MEEMEESR EEBEREME LTH
responsibilities, Listing Rules and other relevant ordinances Bl & H At K8 BE 6 ) B9 8 A v Rt
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
the Company. Pursuant to the contract, they agreed to act as executive
Directors for an initial term of three years with effect from his appointment
date.

Each of the non-executive Directors has signed on an appointment letter
with the Company for an initial term of three years with effect from his
appointment date.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed an
appointment letter with the Company for a term of two years with effect
from his/her appointment date.

All the Directors and the Company are required to give three months’
notice in writing to the other party for termination of the service contract/
appointment letter. All the Directors are appointed for a specific term
and subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual
general meeting of the Company in accordance with the amended and
restated memorandum of association of the Company (the “Articles of
Association”).

None of the Directors has a service contract or appointment letter which
is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are set out in the Articles of Association. The Nomination
Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board composition and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-election of
Directors and succession planning for Directors.

In accordance with article 83(2) of the Articles of Association, subject to
the articles and the law, the Company may by ordinary resolution elect any
person to be a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board, or as an
addition to the existing Board.

In accordance with article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, the Board shall
have the power from time to time and at any time to appoint any person
as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition
to the existing Board. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting of members after
his appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting and any
Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

In accordance with article 83(7) of the Articles of Association, the Company
may from time to time in general meeting by ordinary resolution increase
or reduce the number of Directors but so that the number of Directors shall
never be less than two.
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Board Meetings

The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings regularly,
at least four times a year, and at approximately quarterly intervals. Notices
of not less than fourteen days are given for all regular Board meetings to
provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend and include matters in
the agenda for a regular meeting.

For other Board and Board Committee meetings, reasonable notice
is generally given. The agenda and accompanying board papers are
dispatched to the Directors or Board Committee members at least three
days before the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time to review
the papers and are adequately prepared for the meetings. When Directors
or Board Committee members are unable to attend a meeting, they will
be advised of the matters to be discussed and given an opportunity to
make their views known to the chairman prior to the meeting. Minutes of
meetings are kept by the company secretary with copies circulated to all
Directors for information and records.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board Committee meetings are
recorded in sufficient detail about the matters considered by the Board
and the Board Committees and the decisions reached, including any
concerns raised by the Directors. Draft minutes of each Board meeting and
Board Committee meeting are sent to the Directors for comments within a
reasonable time after the date on which the meeting is held. Minutes of the
Board meetings are open for inspection by Directors.
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For the Reporting Period, the Board held four Board meetings and one
annual general meeting. The attendance record of each Director is set out
below:

RBESHE EFSRETHIAEFESR
—RBERAFARE REFNHFRE

Board Meetings General Meetings/
Attended/Eligible Attended/Eligible

Directors to attend to attend
BHE BEE CHE FBEHK

= HEEEgER HERRAS
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. GUAN Manyu (Chairman) EMFLEE(EE) 4/4 1/1
Mr. LI Kar Yin (Chief Executive Officer) TRBRE (FTHAEE)

(Resigned as the Chief Executive Officer (R =ZFE - HF—H—H

on 1 January 2025) FHETTILABE,) 4/4 /1
Mr. CHAN Tak Yiu BRIEMR ST 4/4 1/1
Non-executive Directors FERITEE
Mr. YANG Haojiang BREIEE 4/4 /1
Ms. DING Shaojian (resigned on Toalzt(RZFZWFENA+—H

11 June 2024) é%ff) 2/2 0/0
Mr. FAN Jingbo (appointed on BEREE(RZF-ZmFENA+—H

11 June 2024) BFIT) 2/2 0/0
Independent Non-executive Directors HIBITEE
The Honourable TSE Wai Chun Paul JP - @B & e 4 ((ZG&EE) (KF L) 3/4 1/1
Mr. HO Man Yiu Ivan I X FERE 4/4 1/1
Mr. LAU Pak Shing (resigned on EXEER=ZF-ZWFNHA=4—

31 August 2024) H F ) 3/3 /1
Ms. DONG Yuk Lai Petrina (appointedon ESIBE X = (R=ZFZWF A=+ —

31 August 2024) HEZAE) 11 0/0
Mr. LAl Yuk Fai Stephen JP FRMBIESE A (K FML) 4/4 1/1

Pursuant to code provision A.2.7 of the CG Code, the chairman should hold
meetings with independent non-executive Directors without the presence
of other Directors at least annually. The Company held 1 meeting on 21
March 2024 in accordance with the CG Code.
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Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”)

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 to
the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions. Having made specific enquiries of all the Directors, each of
the Directors has confirmed that he/she has complied with the required
standards as set out in the Model Code for the Reporting Period.

For the Reporting Period, the Company has also adopted its own code
of conduct regarding employees’ securities transactions on terms no less
exacting than the standard set out in the Model Code for the compliance
by its relevant employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished
inside information of the Company in respect of their dealings in the
Company's securities.

Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters of the Company,
including: approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies
and budgets, internal control and risk management systems, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests),
financial information, appointment of Directors and other significant
financial and operational matters. Directors could have recourse to
seek independent professional advice in performing their duties at the
Company's expense and are encouraged to access and to consult with the
Company's senior management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Company
are delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions and
responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has to be
obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions entered into by
the management.

Corporate Governance Function

The Board recognizes that corporate governance should be the collective
responsibility of the Directors which includes:

(@)  to review and monitor the Company'’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(c)  todevelop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual applicable to employees and Directors;

(d)  to develop and review the Company'’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board and
report to the Board on matters;
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to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report; and

) to review and monitor the Company’s compliance with the
Company's whistleblowing policy.

During the Reporting Period, the Board reviewed the terms of reference of
the Nomination Committee, the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee, the Board diversity policy, the dividend policy, the nomination
policy and the shareholders communication policy of the Company.

Board Committees
Audit Committee

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises four members,
namely Ms. Dong Yuk Lai Petrina (Chairlady), The Honourable Tse Wai Chun
Paul JP, Mr. Ho Man Yiu Ivan and Mr. LAl Yuk Fai Stephen JP, all of them are
independent non-executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

1. Being primarily responsible for making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of the
external auditor, and approving the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor, and considering any questions
of its resignation or dismissal;

2. Monitoring integrity of the Group’s financial statements, annual
reports and accounts, half year reports and, if prepared for
publication, quarterly reports, and reviewing significant financial
reporting judgments contained in them;

3. Reviewing the Group'’s financial controls, risk management and
internal control systems; and

4. Discussing the risk management and internal control systems
with management of the Group to ensure that the management
of the Group has performed its duty to have effective systems.
this discussion should include the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programs and budget of the
Group's accounting and financial reporting function and to rectify any
weaknesses that may be revealed from time to time.
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The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available onthe  BAZZ B € #) 2= T 5 4 &0 B 7] 7B 32 B K 2N
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. During the Reporting /A ] fﬂiﬁg Be-nRmEHE SRZ8g8

Period, three meetings of the Audit Committee were held to discuss and 173 =

consider the following matters:

reviewed with the management and auditor of the Company the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group, to discuss
the unaudited interim financial statements for the six months ended
30 June 2024;

planning meeting covering the engagement with external auditor,
and the nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligations
before the annual audit commences;

reviewed annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries for the
year ended 31 December 2023 as well as the audit report prepared
by the Company’s auditor relating to accounting issues and major
findings in course of audit;

reviewed the financial reporting system, compliance procedures,
internal control (including the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programs and budget of
the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function), risk
management systems and processes; and

discussed the re-appointment arrangement of the Company’s
auditor and the Board had not deviated from any recommendation
given by the Audit Committee on the selection, appointment,
resignation or dismissal of the Company’s Auditor.
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The individual attendance record of each member of the Audit Committee EiZZE &K EZS BN FEILEEENNET -

is set out below:

Attended/Eligible

to attend

BiiE
Directors EEREE
Mr. LAU Pak Shing (former Chairman) BEREE(FIEE)(R=ZFE-_[FNA

(resigned on 31 August 2024) =+ —HEHF) 2/2
Ms. DONG Yuk Lai Petrina (Chairlady) ERBERL(FE) ( R=ZF=Z[{FNA=+—

(appointed on 31 August 2024) HEZ () 11
The Honourable TSE Wai Chun Paul JP WEELEE CDEg#E) (KF#HL) 3/3
Mr. HO Man Yiu Ivan A XFESE 3/3
Mr. LAl Yuk Fai Stephen JP FEBE SR (K F@L) 3/3
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Nomination Committee

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee comprises four
members, namely Mr. Ho Man Yiu Ivan (Chairman), The Honourable Tse Wai
Chun Paul JP, Ms. Dong Yuk Shing and Mr. Lai Yuk Fai Stephen JP, all of them
are independent non-executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include the following:

1. Reviewing the structure, size, composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) and diversity (including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, or
professional experience) of the Board at least annually and making
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Group's corporate strategy;

2. Making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re—
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors, in
particular the chairman of the Board and the chief executive of the
Group;

3. Identifying individuals suitably qualified to become members of the
Board and selecting or making recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorship; and

4. Assessing the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors of the Company and reviewing the independent non-
executive Directors’ annual confirmations on their independence;
and make disclosure of its review results in the corporate governance
report of the Company.

The Nomination Committee assesses the candidate or incumbent on
criteria such as integrity, experience, skill and ability to commit time and
effort to carry out the duties and responsibilities. The recommendations of
the Nomination Committee will then be put to the Board for decision. The
written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee held three ~ RIREHME - IREB L8
meetings. The individual attendance record of each member of the HEZEE %
Nomination Committee meeting is set out below:

Attended/Eligible

to attend
BiHE
Directors BERLEE
Mr. HO Man Yiu (Chairman) AIXZIE (FRE) 3/3
The Honourable TSE Wai Chun Paul JP HEEEEGDEEZE) (K FEHT) 2/3
Mr. LAU Pak Shing (resigned on 31 August 2024) 2IEpEE (/7\_%= ENNH=+—HEF) 2/2
Ms. DONG Yuk Lai Petrina (appointed on 31 August ~ ESiBR L (R=FE=-/HFNA=+—H
2024) EZT) 11
Mr. LAl Yuk Fai Stephen JP FEIBE A (K P t) 3/3
The following is a summary of the work performed by the Nomination ~ T3l & & HMAREZE S MET TIENH
Committee for the Reporting Period: CIO
—  reviewed size, structure and composition of the Board and made - HHEZFS A EERAKRETE
recommendations to the Board on re-election of Directors; BEENEEQFHEBER
- reviewed the Board diversity policy; - EHEFSZTIEE:
- reviewed the independence of the independent non-executive -  HEIBUIERITEENBE LML &

Directors; and

- discussed and reviewed the nomination policy. - WmkERRESECR -

Policy on Directors Nomination EEREZBE

The Group adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy’) on 17 ASEBEER =T —hLFh A+ EREMNIESR
September 2019, summarised below: B ((REBEE]) - EffdmT

Objectives BE

The Nomination Committee assists the Board in making recommendations REZE €M EFERETEETLEFH
to the Board on the appointment of Directors and succession planning for ~ #{EFTBIREESERERER c BB BUR
Directors. The Nomination Policy provides the key selection criteria and 5] B3 E BEURIZERIEZRA o

principles of the nomination.
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Selection Criteria

When making recommendations regarding the appointment of any
proposed candidate to the Board or re-appointment of any existing
member(s) of the Board, the Nomination Committee shall consider a
variety of factors including without limitation the following in assessing the
suitability of the proposed candidate:

(1) Character and integrity;

(2)  Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills knowledge
and experience that are relevant to the Company’s business and
corporate strategy;

Willingness to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a Board
member;

The number of existing directorships and other commitments that
may demand the attention of the candidate;

Requirement for the Board to have independent non-executive
Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the
candidates would be consider independent with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

Board diversity policy of the Company and any measurable objectives
adopted by the Nomination Committee for achieving diversity on the
Board; and

(7)  Such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business.
The appointment of any proposed candidate to the Board or re—
appointment of any existing member(s) of the Board shall be made in

accordance with the Articles of Association and other applicable rules and
regulations.
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Nomination Procedures

In general, the Board shall have the ultimate responsibility for all matters
relating to the selection, appointment and re- appointment of Directors.
The process to identity potential candidates for the Board would be
generally as follows:

(1) The Nomination Committee and/or Board identifies potential
candidates based on the selection criteria, possibly with assistance
from external agencies and/or advisors;

(2)  The Nomination Committee and/or the company secretary of the
Company provides the Board with the biographical details and details
of the relationship between the candidate and the Company and/
or Directors, directorships held, skills, and experience other positions
which involve significant time commitment and any other particulars
required by the Listing Rules, the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands and other regulatory requirements for any candidate for
appointment to the Board;

(3)  The Nomination Committee would make recommendations on
the proposed candidate(s) and the terms and conditions of the
appointment to the Board;

(4)  The Nomination Committee should ensure the proposed
candidate(s) will enhance the diversity of the Board, being particularly
mindful of gender balance;

(5)  In the case of the appointment of an independent non-executive
Director, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board obtains all
information in relation proposed Director to allow the Board to
adequately assess the independence of the Director in accordance
with the factors set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, subject to any
amendments as may be made by the Stock Exchange from time to
time; and

(6)  The Board deliberates and decides on the appointment based upon
the recommendation of the Nomination Committee.

For retiring Directors subject to re-election, the Nomination Committee
will review the overall contribution and service to the Company of the
retiring Director including his/her attendance of Board meetings and, where
applicable, general meetings of the Company, the level of participation and
performance on the Board. The Nomination Committee will also review and
determine whether the Director continues to meet the selection criteria and
make recommendations to Shareholders of the Company in respect of the
proposed re-election of Director at the general meeting of the Company.

The Nomination Policy will be reviewed on a regular basis.
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Remuneration Committee

As at the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee comprises four
members, namely The Honourable Tse Wai Chun Paul JP (Chairman), Mr. Ho
Man Yiu Ivan, Ms. Dong Yuk Lai Petrina and Mr. Lai Yuk Fai Stephen JP, all of
them are independent non-executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include the following:

1. Making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy
and structure for all Directors’ and senior management remuneration
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy;

2. Making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management
of the Group, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office or appointment. The Remuneration
Committee shall consider salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities, and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group; and

3. Making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors.

4. Reviewing matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules.

The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

For the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee held three

meetings. The individual attendance record of each member of the
Remuneration Committee meeting is set out below:

Directors

FHESS
RARERH - fRBZE@hmAKEHAEN

EEELEE COEEHE) (K FEL) (£
B) MIXZELRE EHELLILEMBES

EORF#L)  REORBIIFNTES -

FMEE@ET2REBENUT

. BARFAEZREENRSREEAED
B R MARAE AR B R IEAR B
AERAEMREFHTHFMBE  RE
FRFEhERRR

2. MESRFHABAKEENATE
EREREEENTFHGE(BEEY
Mz Lﬁi/f%ﬂ&“ e (BEEE
imtﬂﬁ%ﬁ‘kﬂziﬁféﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁg)ﬂ’]ﬁ%

#ﬁ@ﬂi,\ 2ARELRRBRAX
HEI’JM C ARANEEMEBE - AR
$%Wﬁ‘rﬁlﬁﬁkufi’]ﬁ)¥]ﬂﬂ¢ &

3. MHMTESRNFMAEFTSFELE

4. FEHLEWMAUE7EE T S48

BA=E -

FHZEer EMBEBENBRIAEAR
B uE A &R -

RBESHE FHEES
@Hiﬁ@%ﬁk BEEMHE

Attended/Eligible
to attend

oHE/
CEREE

The Honourable TSE Wai Chun Paul JP (Chairman) B XA (Eem8) (K¥aL) (£E) 2/3
Mr. LAU Pak Shing (resigned on 31 August 2024) BIEREE (R=ZFEZWFNA=+—HEHE) 2/2
Mr. HO Man Yiu Ivan Al S FEL A 3/3
Ms. DONG Yuk Lai Petrina (appointed on 31 ESBXT R =_FE-—mWFENA=1+—H

August 2024) BZH) /1
Mr. LAl Yuk Fai Stephen JP FENBIE S A (KT t) 3/3
The following is a summary of the work performed by the Remuneration —|—§|J ABREBHENEZESMET TIENH

Committee for the Reporting Period: =

PEENMEREEENHBR LR
BREFSROEZ

made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration policy
and structure of Directors and senior management;
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assessed performance of executive Directors; . FHEMITE R

approved specific remuneration packages of all executive Directors HEZERTESERARAEEENA
and senior management; BT NG

made recommendations to the Board of the remuneration of - MERTEETNFHRNESTSROE
non-executive Directors; and EY

conduct the salary review of the Group for the year ended 31 - ETEHE-Z_NF+=A=+—H
December 2024. IEFENREBEF R

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management EEREREERE 2HMH

Details of the remuneration by band of the members of the Board and &M ARAREFE LA EREKX S
senior management of the Company, for the Reporting Period, are set out 283 & 5 M FHBFF BT -

below:
Number of Total
Number of Senior Number of
Remuneration band (HKS) Directors Management individuals
FrfeaE (B x) EEAH SREEEBAH BAH
Note (a) Note (b)
Hit@) Kzt ®)
0to 1,000,000 0% 1,000,000 8 1 9
1,000,001 to 2,000,000 1,000,001 222,000,000 1 2 3
2,000,001 to 3,000,000 2,000,001 23,000,000 - 2 2
3,000,001 to 4,000,000 3,000,00124,000,000 2 1 3
No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors or past directors  #FHZ T —PFE+ -/ =+—HIFFE ' K

of the Company and the senior management (including five highest paid £ Iiﬁ,ﬁ ARAFEEZNAMTEERSRE
individuals) as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group oras I E (BT BIERZ S = H M A L) Bl
compensation for loss of office during the year ended 31 December 2024 4 - fEAMAKREES ﬁﬂﬂ)\KE ] B ) 12 5
(2023: nil). SERBEBEE (2 DEE) o

Notes: B Er

(@  The Directors of the Company during the Reporting Period are Mr. Guan  (a) HEREHE AL FESLHEBEERT

Manyu, Mr. Li Kar Yin, Mr. Chan Tak Yiu, Mr. Yang Haojiang, Ms. Ding Shaojian L CEEEEE  EERLELE CBETE

(resigned on 11 June 2024), Mr. Fan Jingbo (resigned on 11 June 2024), The L Thelat(ZE-mENA+— BBt

Honourable Tse Wai Chun Paul JP, Mr. Lau Pak Shing (resigned on 31 August F) BEEEE4E(ZZE-_mENA+—H

2024), Ms. Dong Yuk Lai Petrina (appointed on 31 August 2024) Mr. Ho Man Yiu BT  #iEExE (IEeEE) (KEH

Ivan, and Mr. Lai Yuk Fai Stephen JP. +) 2| Eﬁ 5‘5 E(ZE-_mENBA=+—
H#tE) FBEHRBEZLt (RZZTE-_OmOFNA
E-i——EI?%é{?c) o] 3 5% 5t A [ RE T ¥ 5
HE(RKFmt) -

(b)  The senior management of the Company during the Reporting Period are () RS HE AR SREBAERIE
Mr. Pan Shujie, Ms. Chu Ping (retired on 31 August 2024), Ms. Fang Xuan, EERE A KTE ﬁ +t(ZZE=-_mFENA
Mr. Cheung Siu Wah, Mr. Law Ming Kin and Ms. Fang Peizhen. =+—HEK)  Firmt - RkADEELLE

ERAREERFME 2+
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The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements for the Reporting Period which give a true and fair view of the
affairs of the Group's and of the Group's results and cash flows.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed
assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which are put to the
Board for approval. The Company provides all members of the Board with
monthly updates on Company's performance, positions and prospects.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the Auditor regarding their reporting responsibilities
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group is set out in the
Independent Auditor's Report on pages 82 to 91 of this annual report.

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective internal
control and risk management systems in order to safeguard the Group's
assets and its Shareholders’ interests and reviewing their effectiveness on
an annual basis so as to ensure that internal control and risk management
systems in place are adequate. Such systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. The Audit Committee, acting on behalf of
the Board, reviews the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems on an on-going basis and reports to the Board on,
at least, an annual basis. The management is responsible for designing,
implementing and monitoring of the Group’s risk management framework
and internal control system. The Company also has an internal audit
function which primarily carries out the analysis and independent appraisal
of the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's risk management and
internal control systems, and reports their findings to the Board on, at least,
an annual basis.

The Group’s internal control system includes a well-established
organizational structure with clearly defined lines of responsibility and
authority. The day-to-day departmental operations are entrusted to
individual department which is accountable for its own conduct and
performance and is required to operate its own department’s business
within the scope of the delegated authority and to implement and strictly
adhere to the strategies and policies set by the Group from time to time.
Each department is also required to keep the Board informed of material
developments of the department’s business and implementation of the
policies and strategies set by the Board on a regular basis so as to identify,
evaluate and manage significant risks in a timely manner.
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In addition, the Company has engaged an independent internal control
adviser to carry out a review on the internal control system and risk
management system of the Group. The review involves all material
monitoring aspects, including but not limited to finance, operation,
compliance and risk management. The adviser has conducted analysis
and independent assessment on the adequacy and the effectiveness of
the internal control system and risk management of the Group, and has
submitted the findings and recommendations to the Audit Committee and
the Board.

The Group is aware of its obligation under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFQ"), the Listing Rules and the overriding principle that
inside information should be announced on a timely manner and conducts
its affairs in strict compliance with the applicable laws and regulations
prevailing in Hong Kong. The Group has established disclosure mechanism
regarding the procedures of identifying inside information and preserving
its confidentiality until proper dissemination with the Board’s approval
through the electronic publication systems operated by the Stock Exchange
and the Company. Unauthorised access and use of inside information are
strictly prohibited. Any potential inside information identified by senior
management will be assessed, and where appropriate, will be escalated for
the attention of the Board to resolve on further actions. The Board assesses
the likely impact of any unexpected and significant event and decides
whether the relevant information is considered inside information and
needs to be disclosed as soon as reasonably practicable pursuant to Rules
13.09 and 13.10 of the Listing Rules and the Inside Information Provisions
under Part XIVA of the SFO.

The Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control and risk
management systems of the Group for the Reporting Period, to ensure
that a sound system is maintained and operated by the management in
compliance with the agreed procedures and standards. The review covered
all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions. In particular, the Board considered
the resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programs and
budget of the Group's accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions are adequate. The review was conducted through discussions
with the management of the Group, its external and internal auditors and
the assessment performed by the Audit Committee. The Board believes
that the existing risk management and internal control systems are
adequate and effective, in particular, for financial reporting and Listing Rules
compliance as well as for resolving internal control defects (if any).

50  CRConstruction Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

goh > KRR EBBEBELANERERES
AEENARBEZERGLRAREERS - &F
ETEFSEAAERERTE  BRETR
R 2& AREKARERE - ZERCE
BASEARERRRMEAREENTED T
RBMEETON MBS - X EREZ
ZEQLEZERRERNEREZS -

AEBANEREZESHFLPEGD ([EHHRH
EEpl]) tHRBIANEERE - EBE
AEBAMAREEMEREREBRITE
BEREERATARRER - REED
FIHEEME - HERMNARBEEREESE
HENB R TR AR RIRIENE FHIEZLR
ZEEMRARBBEEBETRENRER - K
SEBRERREEENBATEERERA
BHBE IR REEERERNBELEANE
BEK TG REEEBERATHEZETE
BRE UEE—PTH EESHMT
MEEERREREHAEERNTZE I
EEBBERRIE EMARRE13.09%13.101§
VAR 385 I BR & 16 ) SEXIVAEB R B8 B X
EAWRAANEBEREEEREGEAIITIE
MTIREFAEE -

SR AKER RS HEABEH &
[\ f B IR R GTEO AR - AR B IR IR
ERREANZEEEMEEL —BER2NOFRLR -
WMEVREMBENES  BREMBE  EER
BREFARREREERE LER EF
ERRER BITEREER HIIRER
AEEEHERE NAFERYH RSB
VEBLY R DEE B EEE RN SE N g bl Sl
MR RSB wm AR ERE B G EITA
EIT-EFERS BENERERENMAF
BRI RGERTED BB - 55l = H 0B
S R £ AR S R DA R AR OR ) BEAE I
wReE (nE) T M| -



Corporate Governance Report

EREIWSE

The Group adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) on 17
September 2019, summarised below:

The Group is committed to maintaining sufficient resources and flexibility
to meet the Group's financial and operational requirements. At the same
time, the Company continually seeks ways to enhance Shareholders’ value
to ensure sustainable long- term yields for Shareholders.

Under the Dividend Policy, the declaration and payment of dividends
shall be determined or recommended, as appropriate, by the Board at its
absolute discretion after taking into account the Group's financial results,
future prospects and other factors, and subject to limitation of:

(1) the Articles of Association of the Company;

(2)  the applicable restrictions and requirements under the laws of the
Cayman Islands;

(3)  actual and expected financial performance of the Group;

(4)  retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and
each of the other members of the Group;

(5)  economic conditions and other internal or external factors that may
have impact on the business or financial performance and position of
the Group;

(6)  business strategies of the Group, including future cash commitments
and investment needs to sustain the long-term growth aspect of the
business;

(7)  the current and future operations, liquidity and capital requirement of
the Group;

(8)  statutory and regulatory restrictions; and
(9)  other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

Any final dividends declared by the Company must be approved by an
ordinary resolution of the Shareholders at an annual general meeting and
must not exceed the amount recommended by the Board. The Board may
from time to time pay to the Shareholders such interim and/or special
dividends as it considers to be justified by the profits of the Group.

Under the Cayman Islands Companies Act and the Articles of Association, all
of the Shareholders have equal entitlement to dividends and distributions.
The Board shall have the right to review the Dividend Policy from time to
time as it deems fit according to the financial and business development
requirements of the Group.
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Auditor’s Remuneration

The remuneration for the audit and non-audit services provided by the
Auditor to the Company for the Reporting Period was approximately as
follows:

Type of Services

PR %5 %8 5

% B8 B i B
55 R0 - XM A A B R B 3
RS H I T

Audit services EZR 4,990,000
Non-audit services related to tax filing services BB RS 8T Z RS 122,500
Total B 112,500

Company Secretary

The company secretary supports the chairman, Board and Board
committees by ensuring good information flow and Board policy and
procedures are followed. The company secretary is responsible for ensuring
the proper convening and conducting of the Board and Board Committees
meetings, with the relevant notices, agenda, and the Board and Board
Committees papers being provided to the Directors and the relevant Board
Committees members respectively in a time manner before the meetings.
The company secretary is responsible for keeping minutes of all the Board
and Board Committees meetings. The Board and the Board Committees
minutes are available for inspection by the Directors and the relevant Board
Committees members.

Mr. Lau King Ho (“Mr. Lau”) has been appointed as the Company Secretary
on 16 July 2021. Mr. Lau meets the qualification requirements for company
secretary under Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules. Mr. Lau possesses the requisite
qualification and experience of a company secretary as required under Rule
3.28 of the Listing Rules.

For the Reporting Period, Mr. Lau have undertaken not less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training respectively in compliance with Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules.
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Communication with Shareholders and Investor
Relations

The Company considers that effective communication with the
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
understanding of the Company’s business, performance and strategies.
The Company also recognizes the importance of timely and non-selective
disclosure of information, which will enable Shareholders and investors to
make the informed investment decisions.

The annual general meeting of the Company provides opportunity for the
Shareholders to communicate directly with the Directors. The chairman of
the Company and the chairmen of the Board Committees of the Company
will attend the AGMs to answer Shareholders’ questions. The Company'’s
Auditor will also attend the AGMs to answer questions about the conduct
of the audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s report, the
accounting policies and auditor independence.

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a Shareholders’
communication policy which aims at establishing a two-way relationship
and communication between the Company and the Shareholders and
maintains a website of the Company at https://www.cr-construction.com.
hk, where up-to-date information on the Company’s business operations
and developments, financial information, corporate governance practices
and other information are available for public access.

Shareholders’ Rights

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution will
be proposed for each substantially separate issue at general meetings,
including the election of individual Directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted by poll
pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner after each
general meeting.
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Convening of extraordinary general meeting and putting
forward proposals

Shareholders may put forward proposals for consideration at a general
meeting of the Company according to the Articles of Association. In
accordance with article 58 of the Articles of Association, any one or more
members holding as at date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or the secretary of the Company at the
headquarters of the Company in Hong Kong, specifying the shareholding
information of the Shareholder(s), his/her/their contact details and the
proposal regarding any specifying transaction/business and its supporting
documents, to require an extraordinary general meeting of the Company
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months after
the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, the procedures are
available on the website of the Company.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about the
Company to the Board could send their enquiries together with his/her/
their contact details, such as postal address, email or fax, either by post or
by email, addressing to the Board or the secretary of the Company at the
headquarters of the Company at Units 3-16, 32/F., Standard Chartered
Tower, Millennium City 1, 388 Kwun Tong Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong
Kong or at ir@czcgl.com.hk.

Change in Constitutional Documents

There was no change in the amended and restated memorandum and
articles of association of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2024.
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Report of the Directors

EFERE

The Board of Directors is pleased to present this Directors’ report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Reporting Period.

Corporate Information and Listing

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 20 July 2017 as
an exempted company with limited liability under the laws of the Cayman
Islands.

The Company’s Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
on 16 October 2019.

Principal Activities

Construction Operations

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group is a
long established main contractor principally engaged in the provision of (i)
building construction services and (ii) RMAA works in Hong Kong, Malaysia
and United Kingdom. An analysis of the principal activities of the Group
during the Reporting Period is set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report.

Environmental Operations

ZCIEE is primarily consist of environmental works for the construction,
restoration, and operation of wastewater and recycled water treatment
plants, water distribution plants and other environmental facilities and
infrastructure, as well as architectural services related to environmental
improvement in the PRC.

Business Review

A fair review of the business of the Group as required pursuant to Schedule
5 to the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
including the description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group and an indication of likely future development in the Company's
business is set out in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 5 to 19 of this annual
report. These discussions form part of Directors’ report. Moreover, the details
of the financial risk management of the Group are disclosed in note 35 to
the financial statements.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The Group is committed to supporting environmental protection to ensure
business development and sustainability. Please refer to the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report published by the Company for the details of
our environmental, social and governance policies and performance during
the Reporting Period.
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EFERE

Environmental Policies and Performance

Our Directors believe that it is essential for the Group to commit and
maintain high standard of environmental protection in order to support
environmental protection and to prevent pollution in balance with
socio— economic needs as well as to address the needs of a broad range
of interested parties. In the course of delivery of its services, the Group
(i) focused on prevention of pollution, waste minimisation and resource
conservation as critical considerations within our core management
process; (i) complied with applicable legal requirements and other
requirements which relate to its environment aspects; and (iii) established,
implemented and maintained the environmental management system and
strive for continual improvement in environmental performance.

The Group had maintained minimal number of environmental-related non—
compliance incidents. There were 2 conviction cases in 2024 of violating
the relevant environmental laws and regulations. We will continue to
implement our environmental policy to avoid any violation of applicable
environmental-related laws or regulations.

Please refer to further disclosures on the environmental aspects in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report published by the Company.

Results

The Group's profit for the Reporting Period and the Group’s financial
position as at that date are set out in the consolidated financial statements
on pages 92 to 235 of this annual report.

Final Dividend

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK1.8 cents
(2023: HK1.8 cents) per ordinary Share, totaling approximately HK$9.0
million in respect of the year ended 31 December 2024, to Shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members at the close of business on
24 June 2025. This proposed final dividend is subject to the approval of the
Company's Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

There is no arrangement under which a Shareholder has waived or agreed
to waive any dividends.

Financial Summary

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 236 of this annual report.
This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group.
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Annual General Meeting

The AGM of the Company for the Reporting Period is scheduled to be held
on Thursday, 19 June 2025. A notice convening the AGM will be issued and
dispatched to the Shareholders in due course according to the applicable
laws, the Articles of Association and the Listing Rules.

Closure of the Register of Members
(@) For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at

the AGM

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday,
16 June 2025 to Thursday, 19 June 2025, both days inclusive, in
order to determine the identity of the Shareholders who are entitled
to attend and vote at the AGM, during which period no transfers of
Shares shall be effected. In order to qualify for attending and voting at
the AGM to be held on Thursday, 19 June 2025, all transfers of Shares,
accompanied by the relevant share certificates and transfer forms,
must be lodged for registration with Tricor Investor Services Limited
at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong no
later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 13 June 2025.

(b) For determining the entitlement to the proposed final

dividend

The register of members of the Company will also be closed from
Wednesday, 25 June 2025 to Monday, 30 June 2025, both days
inclusive, in order to determine the entitlement of the Shareholders
who are entitled to receive the final dividend, during which period
no transfers of Shares shall be effected. In order to qualify for the
entitlement of final dividend, all transfer of Shares, accompanied by
the relevant share certificates and transfer forms, must be lodged
for registration with Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far East
Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30
p.m. on Tuesday, 24 June 2024.

Subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company's subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the financial
statements.

Charitable Donation

Charitable donation made by the Group during the Reporting Period
amounted to approximately HK$200,000 (2023: approximately HK$286,000).
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Property, Plant and Equipment
Details of movements of the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 13 to the financial statements.

Share Capital

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company for the Reporting
Period are set out in note 26 to the financial statements.

Debenture

The Group did not issue any debenture during the Reporting Period (2023:
Nil).

Equity-Linked Agreements

Save as disclosed under the Share Option Scheme, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into or remained subsisting during the Reporting
Period or as of the end of the year (2023: Nil).

Pre-Emptive Rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association
or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

Tax Relief

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares.

Reserves

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during
the Reporting Period are set out in note 36 to the financial statements and
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

Distributable Reserves

As at 31 December 2024, in the opinion of the Directors, the reserves of the
Company available for distribution to Shareholders under the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands amounted to approximately HK$347 million
(2023: approximately HK$369 million).

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed Securities
of the Company

During the Reporting Period, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
had purchased, sold, cancelled or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities (including sale of treasury Shares (as defined under the Listing
Rules)).

58  CRConstruction Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

ME - - BERZE
AEBRENNDE BB RRER
HRB T MAE M 313 o

Bg 7K
AR R 3R 4 HA e 0 AR A
<M 5E26 -

s
AR R BT M (=
To=F @) -

P 4 13 800 170 5
RERETEIMEESEN  REPHEKER
RFEER - WEFT S SKADATT E T A%
B (ZE=F : &) o

BrBEE#E

MR IR A0 R B 2 BY B K 0 W AR TE A A
AZAR L OISR A R B &R 0B
BRI -

i35 w2
ARTLTMERRER AR T AT ZHH
FEBLRR R ©

&
ERRSHM AR R R AR
FHED RIBR B B BRI REA xR
B -

o7k kR
R-F-mF+-A=+—8 EFRHR
BRSHBARE  ARATHSRTRE

18

ERCE NIRRT

ZHEABTE BB L (- =F : #9369
BEBIT) °

§E~$%ﬁﬁﬁ$ﬁﬁt$%
RS - E AR R R AN EAR
BE - HE BUNSREEER AL R LT E
% (BIEHEBEERH (EER ETMRAD) -



Report of the Directors

EFERE

Details of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2024
are set out in notes 24 and 32(b), to the financial statements, respectively.

As disclosed in the Company's announcement dated 30 January 2024,
the Company and CR Construction Company Limited (a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company), as borrowers, entered into a facility
agreement with a syndicate of banks, as lenders, pursuant to which the
syndicate of banks have agreed to grant a facility to the Company in the
amount up to HKD500,000,000. Pursuant to the said facility letter, the
Company undertakes that, throughout the life of the said facility, Zhejiang
Construction Investment Group Co., Ltd (I T & Z:RIEE £ B (%
R 2 7)) (“Zhejiang Construction’) shall, among others, remain as a
controlling shareholder of the Company with beneficial interest of at least
60% in the total issued share capital of the Company. A breach of such
undertaking shall trigger a mandatory prepayment under the said facility
letter.

As disclosed in the Company's announcement dated 3 October 2024,
CR Construction Company Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company), as borrower, entered into a facility letter with a bank, as
lender, pursuant to which the lender has agreed to grant a facility to CR
Construction Company Limited in the amount up to HKD100,000,000.
Pursuant to the said facility letter, the Company and CR Construction
Company Limited undertake to ensure that, throughout the life of the
said facility, Zhejiang Construction shall, among others, remain as a major
shareholder and hold beneficially not less than 51% (directly or indirectly)
of CR Construction Company Limited and Zhejiang State-owned Capital
Operation Company Limited (3T A BB & A& FRAF]) remains
the single largest shareholder of Zhejiang Construction. A breach of such
undertaking shall trigger a mandatory prepayment under the said facility
letter.

For details of the above facility agreements, please refer to the Company’s
announcements dated 30 January 2024 and 3 October 2024 respectively.

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and the risks of non-compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations. During the Reporting Period, the Group in all material aspects
complied with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the business and operation of the Group. There was no material
breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by
the Group for the Reporting Period. The following table set out the relevant
laws and regulations and the compliance measures taken by the Group:

BEAEENR T -_NF+-_A=+—HZ
IRITREMEE ZFED RSN B HRE M
FF24K32(b) °

WA ATHBH AT -_NE—H=+H
MRS AR A RELEEFRA A
(BERQBRINZENBRAR) EAERA)
B—(EARE (EAERAN) T LERDE B
It ZIEEREEARAIRESENEBE
#£500,000,0007C 2 B o R1E il B R
AAREAFENREBEERBRA  HMITEER
KREEBRMHDERAR ([WIEKR]) & (K
PR BEETAQBMNERERE A
AAREBITHRARER DN B ISR °
ERZARBREE FRERBE THESIRE
A8 3N

BNMAATBRA-_ZT-_NE+A=HNA
EHHE EEEEFERAR (BARAN
2EWBAR) EAEHRA) B—RIRTIT (1F
BEFRNLERRG Bt ERAR
EMELBEARRARER —E2ERSA
100,000,000/ TTHIE R © IRIE F il & 3K R -
RANBIRELFEEFR A AABR bl 2@
ERHRA BENTIELE (EhaF) #
EEAELRERRANTIERRT R
BE (TmEEXME) ETDR51%E5 -
ARATNT A B A ERNBEEER A EE BT
TREEME —HARE - ERZAKGEE
FME B E TR EFIRATER

B LMERBHENFE  F2HEAAFA
PoplA-—E-_NF—A=+TBEEK=-Z N
F+A=ZBHRE -

AEERABTEERENEZERTEST
BREERBOINER - REHHE > X&E
EEMBEATHETHASEER R EE
BEBEEARENHEBMERLRD - RSB
B AEEVEREERITETERER
KR o TREHBBERRROIARAE
BEREH G REE

LERESELRERAT - NMEFR 59




Report of the Directors

EFERE

Primary regulations

EERH

Key Scope
EEEE

Compliance Measures

BRER

Construction Workers Registration
Ordinance (Chapter 583 of the Laws
of Hong Kong)

GEEZET AGEMES)D
(BB EDIZFE583F)

Factories and Industrial Undertakings
(Cap. 59 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

(IR TEEZEEDD
(BBEDIFE95E)

Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance (Cap. 509 of the Laws of
Hong Kong)

CREL R REFRIEN)
(BBENE09 F)

Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap.
311 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

(ERGRE B 5G]
(BRZEGIEINE)

Environmental Quality Act (EQA) of
1974 (Act 127) of Malaysia

(—NEmFRBESR)

Occupational Safety and Health Act
1994 of Malaysia

FHREDR
(NANDOERELE
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B2 BR)

This Ordinance provides for
registration and regulation of
construction workers.

ARIGPIRERER T A&

BE
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This Ordinance provides for the
safety and health protection
to workers in an industrial
undertakings.
ARPIEE T X QST AR
e RIEREHRE -

This Ordinance provides for the
safety and health protection to
employee in workplaces.

RIGH RiE B E TR B Rt %2
2 REERE -

This Ordinance control emission of
air pollutants and noxious odour
from construction, industrial and
commercial activities and other
polluting sources.

RIEPIERIZEE - TENBER
BEENERSAYEE
ﬁﬁ%ﬁm A Re Bt 75 2 2K

This Act relates to the prevention,
abatement, control of pollution
and enhancement of the
environment from construction,
industrial and commercial
activities and other polluting
sources.

RERPREE TEREE
JE B LA R A5 FREI B LE
/}:JZ’J\ EHIRIES L RIRIR N

This Act provides for the safety and
health protection to employee in
workplaces.

E%Hﬁllﬁﬁé-\ﬁl{’ﬁfm@ﬁmﬁ—%z
2 N RRFE o

Annual Report 2024

The Group complied with the Ordinance
by employing or allowing the registered
construction workers to carry out
construction work on the construction sites.
AEBEFEBRERBRAFEMBEXTA
PR IE T T TIEAE T A2 A SRz Ak 0D) »

The Group had certain systemic non-
compliance incidents of our Group in
connection with the Ordinances during the
Reporting Period.

R EHE  AEEELEET AR
LGN EG T REMN

The Group complied with the Ordinances by
providing safety and health protection to
employee in workplace during the Reporting
Period.

RBEHE AEEEEREEAETIE
R R 2 MR ERAR IS LA ST 2 (M)

The Group complied with the Ordinance
by devising and arranging methods of
working and carry out the works in such a
manner so to minimize dust impacts on the
surrounding environment and provide the
suitable training to ensure the methods are
implemented by the experienced personnel.

REBEBBHTE R LY T RET
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fREHRENHAETIRR  WREE
ﬁ%JL\LME%EZ%%ﬁE@EE BB EI
B e

The Group complied with the Act by devising
and arranging methods of working and
carry out the works in such a manner so to
minimize dust impacts on the surrounding
environment and provide the suitable
training to ensure the methods are
implemented by the experienced personnel.

$§%@i@%ﬂi&ﬁ%kl{”ﬁﬁ/ik—r
ZOED] - RIAEREHIRENTE
RERENFFETIR  TREEE
BHIAERZSREEHAERNET
i

The Group complied with the Act by providing
safety and health protection to employee

in workplace during the Reporting Period.
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Primary regulations

EERH

Key Scope
EEH"

Compliance Measures

BRI

Factories and Machinery Act 1967 of
Malaysia

HRm
(CAREFIHEEBES)

The Control of Pollution Act 1974 of UK

B~ N mERREHE)

The Health and Safety at Work Act 1974

of UK

R

(MEEFITHERERZZE)

Environmental Protection Law of the
PRC

B
(hEARAMBRFREE)

Law of the PRC on the Prevention and

Control of Water Pollution

1 B8

(hEARLMBEIKF R AE)

Law of the PRC on the Prevention and

Control of Atmospheric Pollution

This Act provides for the control of
factories with respect to matters
relating to the safety, health
and welfare of person therein,
the registration and inspection
of machinery and for matters
connected therewith.

REGIREBEBAIMAE LD
fREREMNER  HESETL N
BN AN EENE

ZEHFRE °

This Act provides for the prevention
and control of water pollution,
and for the maintaining or
restoring of wholesomeness of
water in the country.

AOERTE T K5 R TR &
2] DA MR SRARAB LB K
H 2 BR

This Act provides the legal
framework to promote, stimulate
and encourage high standards
of health and safety in places of
work. It protects employees and
the public from work activities.

RV TIRE MR MBI T
eSS RIRER R EL 2 8)E
BIER - HREBTIRARSE
RIEEHHZE -

This Law establishes an
environmental protection
liability system and requires the
implementation of effective
measures to prevent pollution
and harm to the environment.

RERBRTERRFRER (T
JE - MZREREVE R Bl L
RIBEKRTRIESE

This Law controls the discharge of
wastewater and monitors the
quality of water environments to
protect aquatic ecosystems and
ensure drinking water safety.

AOEBEKIW - KRIREE
EITERE  REKERNRA
K E

This Law provides for regulation
of the emission of pollutants
such as exhaust gases and
greenhouse gases to protect and
improve the living and ecological
environment.

ELAEEEEIERARAT

The Group complied with the Act by having
adequate control to inspect the machinery
on the construction sites.
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The Group complied with the Act by maintain
adequate control to minimize dust impacts
on the surrounding environment and
provide the suitable training to ensure
the methods are implemented by the
experienced personnel.

REBETE  HFFEEMIEGIARE
MAOMESFEERRENTE - WREE
%?ﬂg%%ﬂ%ﬁ%ﬁ%@ﬁﬁ@A%TETEEEZ%

Y o

The Group complied with the Act by providing
general guidances to employers to ensure,
so far as is reasonably practicable, the health,
safety and welfare at work of employees.

AEE B BERETIRME —MRIEESIIEST
%R WESEAITTHHEAERESR
TERAERE - Z2BER -

The Group complied with the Law by devising
and arranging methods of working and carry
out the works in such a manner that minimise
the impact of pollution and harm to the
surrounding environment.

AEBBBHE R LT EETRE
Bl ABRKIR R A $ T BRI H05
ZHBEE -

The Group complied with the Law by
implementing monitoring systems and
processes for wastewater treatment, aiming
to minimize pollution and harm to the
surrounding environment.

75 BB ER RE BL ORI I /2 - RS KR 3B
BIERTEER - ABKRE R D E i
IIRFHSRMBE ©

The Group complied with the Law by devising
and arranging methods of working and carry
out the works in such a manner that minimise
the impact of pollution and harm to the
surrounding environment.
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e Y
=

Law of the People’s Republic of
China on Prevention and Control
of Environment Pollution by Solid
Waste

1 B9

(hEARKMEEBREY SRR

BEAE)

Labour Law of the People’s Republic of

China

B
(hEARAMELEE)

(hEARAMBARSRIE)

Key Scope

EEEE

REREEBER MR EREES
RWER > AMREMAE LR
IRIFMAEREIRIE -

This Law provides for the prevention
and control of environmental
pollution by solid wastes.

AORREE B8 RE VIV LE)5 2%
RIBHEERTE °

This Law provides for the safety and
health protection to employees
in workplaces, protecting their
legitimate rights and interests.

NERBEEETIEEIRHE

2 RERRE - RERENEE

Compliance Measures

ERER
AEERBHE ML Y TR A BT
7] AR R D S T BRI RS
RAfEE -

The Group complied with the Law by devising
and arranging methods of working and carry
out the works in such a manner that minimise
the impact of solid pollution and harm to the
surrounding environment.

REBEBBGTE N LY TETEETRE
B+ DABR K PR & 3030 4> [E] 58 g 1 S Fi 4T
RESAMES

The Group complied with the Law by providing

safety and health protection to employee
in workplace during the Reporting Period.

RBERRE - AEEEBRESET(Fi
HIEHZ 2 REFREAETRED -

Mz -

Important Relationship with Major Stakeholders
The Group’s primary stakeholder groups include its customers,
subcontractors, suppliers, and employees.

Customers

The Group maintains active relationship with its customers to explore new
business opportunities and is highly committed to delivering superior
quality of services to its customers on time.

Subcontractors and Suppliers

The Group maintains a list of approved subcontractors (based on their
track records, skills, present work load, price quotations and historical work
quality) and suppliers (based on their prices, quality, past performance and
capacity) and strives to establish long-term business relationship with them.

Employees

The Group recognised employees as valuable assets of the Group. The
Group remunerated competitively, and provide training and development
opportunities to employees which they can deliver the superior
performance and achieve the corporate goal of the Group.

During the Reporting Period, there was no material dispute or argument
between the Group and its customers, subcontractors, suppliers and
employees.
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For the Reporting Period, the Group's five largest customers in aggregate
accounted for approximately 55.0% (2023: approximately 46.9%) of the total
revenue of the Group and the largest customer of the Group accounted
for approximately 18.0% (2023: approximately 12.3%) of the Group’s total
revenue.

For the Reporting Period, the Group's five largest subcontractors in
aggregate accounted for approximately 21.3% (2023: approximately 17.3%)
of the total subcontracting cost of the Group and the largest subcontractor
of the Group accounted for approximately 5.19% (2023: approximately 5.1%)
of the Group’s total subcontracting cost.

For the Reporting Period, the Group’s five largest suppliers in aggregate
accounted for approximately 35.9% (2023: approximately 36.5%) of the total
purchases of construction materials of the Group and the largest supplier of
the Group accounted for approximately 8.6% (2023: approximately 13.5%)
of the Group's total purchases of construction materials.

None of the Directors of the Company or any of their associates or any
Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in
the Group's five largest customers, suppliers and subcontractors during the
Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or any of their close
associates (as defined under the Listing Rules) has any interest in a business
which competed or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the business of the Group.

Zhejiang State-owned Capital Operation Company Limited, Zhejiang
Construction Investment Group Co,, Ltd., Zhejiang Construction Group (H.K)
Holdings Limited, China Zhejiang Construction International Group Limited
(formerly known as China Zhejiang Construction Group (H.K) Limited and
CR Construction Investments Limited (the “Controlling Shareholders”)
had entered into the deed of non-competition in favour of the Company on
17 September 2019 (the “Deed of Non-competition”). Details of the Deed
of Non-competition are set out in the section headed “Relationship with our
Controlling Shareholders” in the Prospectus.

The Company has received the annual confirmation from the Controlling
Shareholders in respect of their compliance during the Reporting
Period with the non-competition undertakings under the Deed of Non-
competition issued to the Company in 2024.
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The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the compliance of
each of the Controlling Shareholders with the undertakings in the Deed of
Non-competition based on data and the confirmation provided or given by
the Controlling Shareholders and as far as the independent non- executive
Directors can ascertain, there has been no breach of the aforementioned
undertakings during the Reporting Period.

Directors
The Directors who held office for the Reporting Period and up to the date of
this annual report are as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. GUAN Manyu (Chairman)
Mr. LI Kar Yin (Chief Executive Officer)
(resigned as the Chief Executive Officer on 1 January 2025)
Mr. CHAN Tak Yiu

Non-executive Directors

Mr. YANG Haojiang

Ms. DING Shaojian (resigned on 11 June 2024)
Mr. FAN Jingbo (resigned on 11 June 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors
The Honourable TSE Wai Chun Paul JP

Mr. HO Man Yiu Ivan

Mr. LAU Pak Shing (resigned on 31 August 2024)

Ms. DONG Yuk Lai Petrina (appointed on 31 August 2024)

Mr. LAl Yuk Fai Stephen JP

Changes to Information of Directors

Save as disclosed herein, there was no change in the Directors’ information
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules for
the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report.

Confirmation of Independence of Independent
Non-executive Directors

The Company has received written annual confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee of the Company has
duly reviewed the independence of each of these Directors. The Company
considered that all independent non-executive Directors are independent
for the Reporting Period.
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company in the ordinary Shares, underlying
Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(as defined in Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein, or were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, are set out as follows:

EERREITE SIA AR 13 - 18
ARG REZEFHESRKA

RZZEZNF+—A=+—H BEZEELR
AR EITHRA BRA R A sk T 185 A=
(EERBHFLBAEGOIEXVELD) B @A -
ARG REEERHERERIEESRPEK
WUE%XVJﬁ§E7ZQ8/\J'4§§ﬂé%ﬂiilzjli%§35ﬁﬁ
MiEDm AR (BIEREBEES RBEKRIN
&%Mﬁ&#W“Wiﬁﬁ%ﬁm% 5 &%k

B)  HAREE %&%f%%%&%ﬁ%ﬁ
RZIGFTRE R ANERE MORR - IRE

IEESFAIZAME ARQ T&%x%%% § Rk
BESNMT

Number of Approximate
ordinary percentage of
Shares/ shareholding in
underlying Long/short the Company?
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares position (%)
E AR B R AE
TERHE BHED
EEsE B, Rt E R EE 139873 1 (%)
Mr. GUAN Manyu Beneficial owner 3,500,000 L 0.70
EmTF L EnEEA
Mr. LI Kar Yin Beneficial owner 1,000,000 L 0.20
FRBEAE EHERA
Mr. CHAN Tak Yiu Beneficial owner 100,000 L 0.02
PREEME % 4 EnEEA
Mr. YANG Haojiang Beneficial owner 500,000 L 0.10
BEIILE EnEEA
Notes: Wit -
(1) The Letter “L” denotes the entity/person’s long position in the Shares. ) FEILEZER  ATRBRONETE
() Asat 31 December 2024, the number of issued Shares of the Company was () RZFZMF+ZA=+—H ARFAHD

500,000,000 Shares.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors
or chief executives of the Company had any interests or short positions in
the Shares or underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (as defined in Part XV of the SFO) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO), or were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures
Save for the Share Option Scheme, no arrangement has been made by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries for any Director to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the Company or any
other body corporate, and no rights to any share capital or debt securities of
the Company or any other body corporate were granted to any Director or
their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, nor were any such
rights exercised during or at the end of the Reporting Period.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interest and Short
Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares

As at 31 December 2024, to the knowledge of the Directors, the following
persons (other than the Director or chief executive of the Company) had
an interest or a short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of the
Company which were required to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and recorded in the
register of the Company maintained under Section 336 of the SFO:

Capacity/

Name of Shareholder Nature of Interest

BRERERE

Zhejiang State-owned Capital Operation
Company Limited

MIEBEBEERNEERRAF

B0 HRME

Interest in a controlled
corporation

22 il [ M

Interest in a controlled
corporation

22 il [ M

Zhejiang Construction Investment Group
Co,, Ltd.
MTHRERRESERNDER QA
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percentage of
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Approximate
percentage of
Number of shareholding
Shares/ in the
Capacity/ underlying Long/short Company"
Name of Shareholder Nature of Interest Shares position® (%)
[ERNGIE 2
B4, M NEDE®
REREH B REEHE BHEBE T %A® (%)
Zhejiang Construction Group (H.K) Interest in a controlled 361,150,000 L 72.23
Holdings Limited corporation®
WMIEARRERMEBERBR LA RIE AR ER
China Zhejiang Construction International Interest in a controlled 361,150,000 L 72.23
Group Limited (formerly known as China corporation®
Zhejiang Construction Group (HK)
Limited)
BT 2R B EE AR A R HEEER
(R RTPBUNIZREE (FH)
ERATA)
CR Construction Investments Limited Beneficial owner 361,150,000 L 7223
EEREKRERRAT EmEAAD
Ning Shing (Holdings) Company Limited Beneficial owner® 25,000,000 L 5.00
EREE)ERAA EmEEA?
Notes: Mt -

m

@

®3)

)

CR Construction Investments Limited directly holds 361,150,000 Shares
in the Company. CR Construction Investments Limited is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of China Zhejiang Construction International Group Limited
(formerly known as China Zhejiang Construction Group (H.K) Limited), which
is in turn a wholly-owned subsidiary of Zhejiang Construction Group (H.K)
Holdings Limited. China Zhejiang Construction International Group Limited is
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Zhejiang Construction Investment Group Co.,
Ltd.. Zhejiang State-owned Capital Operation Company Limited holds 37.90%
interests in Zhejiang Construction Investment Group Co., Ltd.. By virtue of
the SFO, each of China Zhejiang Construction International Group Limited,
Zhejiang Construction Group (H.K) Holdings Limited, Zhejiang Construction
Investment Group Co., Ltd.,, and Zhejiang State-owned Capital Operation
Company Limited is deemed to have an interest in the Shares held by CR
Construction Investments Limited.

Ning Shing (Holdings) Company Limited (“Ning Shing") directly holds
25,000,000 Shares of the Company. Ning Shing is a state-owned company
wholly owned by the Ningbo Municipal Government established in Hong
Kong in May 1995.

The Letter “L" denotes the entity/person’s long position in the Shares.

As at 31 December 2024, the number of issued Shares of the Company was
500,000,000 Shares.

(1)

ELAEEEEIERARAT

ELRERNEERANEEREARAN
361,150,000/ & 1n - EL ZEILEBR R A
ARBNMIZREREEER AR (AEA
FEMIEZERE (8 BRAR) F MAF
B IZRBEBREERERA A AN IERE
REBR (BB ERERRAAINZENBE A
Alo I TEEREE(HB) ZRERAQF
AR IEERRELEERNMERAANS
EWBAR - MIEAEAEERNELEBRAF
BAEMICELRESERNDERAFN
37.90% M 55 o BIFEF LB - BN
TEEZEBEEARAR MIEAELEE
(BB ERAERAR MTERRREER
BHERABDENIEEAEERNELER
RAZSERE AN ELCREREARAF
BENKRG TR HEESS -

BE(SE)ARAR (2R EEFERN
A A) #925,000,00008 B 15 - BE R — LML R
FRAREAEKY A—RXEBAANTHE
BEHARBRBE2ERS -

FRMIEZERE ALRBONTE -
RZBE-_NE+-A=+—H XATHD
1TR% 15 E B £500,000,0008% ©

2024 FR 67




Report of the Directors

EFERE

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Directors have not
been aware of any person (other than the Directors or chief executives
of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the Shares or
underlying Shares of the Company which would be required to be disclosed
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or to be
recorded in the register maintained under Section 336 of the SFO.

Directors’ Service Contracts and Letters of
Appointment

Save as disclosed herein, each of the Directors has entered into a service
contract/an appointment letter with the Company for a term of three years
from 16 October 2022, and are subject to termination in accordance with
their respective terms. The term of the service contracts/appointment
letters may be renewed in accordance with the Articles of Association and
the applicable rules of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Ho Man Yiu Ivan, an independent non-executive Director, has entered
into an appointment letter with the Company for a third term of 2 years
commencing from 16 October 2023.

The Honourable TSE Wai Chun Paul JP, an independent non-executive
Director, has entered into an appointment letter with the Company for a
third term of 2 years commencing from 16 October 2023.

Mr. Lai Yuk Fai Stephen JP, an independent non-executive Director, has
entered into an appointment letter with the Company for a initial term of 2
years commencing from 28 March 2023.

Ms. Dong Yuk Lai Petrina, an independent non-executive Director, has
entered into an appointment letter with the Company for a initial term of 2
years commencing from 31 August 2024.

All the Directors and the Company are required to give three months'’
notice in writing to the other party for termination of the service contract/
appointment letter. All the Directors are appointed for a specific term and
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meeting of the Company in accordance with the Articles of Association.
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Directors’ Interests in Transactions,
Arrangements or Contracts of Significance

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the business of
the Group to which the Company, or any of its holding companies, its
subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or
his connected entities had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the financial year or at any time during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

Contracts of Significance

Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries entered into any contracts of significance with the Controlling
Shareholder(s) or any of its subsidiaries, nor was there any contracts of
significance between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the
Controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries in relation to provision of
services for the Reporting Period.

Remuneration Policies

During the Reporting period, the remuneration policy for employees of
the Group is determined based on their responsibilities, qualifications,
performance, experience and seniority which are reviewed periodically.

The Group’s emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of the
Directors and senior management of the Group are reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee, approved by the Board and authorised by the
Shareholders at the AGM of the Company, which is based on the Group’s
performance, the executives' respective contributions to the Group and
comparable market practices.

Remuneration of Directors and Five Highest Paid
Individuals

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in notes 8 and
9 to the financial statements, respectively.

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management

Biographical details of Directors and senior management of the Company
are set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” on
pages 20 to 30 of this annual report.

Share Option Scheme

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 17 September 2019
to reward the participants defined thereunder for their contribution to the
Group's success and to provide them with incentives to further contribute
to the Group.
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The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Share Option
Scheme:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

70

Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain
the best available personnel, to provide additional incentive to
employees (full-time and part-time), directors, consultants, advisers,
distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business
partners or service providers of the Group and to promote the success
of the business of the Group.

Who may join

On and subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme and the
requirements of the Listing Rules, the Board shall be entitled to, at
its absolute discretion and on such terms as it deems fit, grant any
employee (full-time or part-time), director, consultant or adviser
of the Group, or any substantial shareholder of the Group, or any
distributor, contractor, supplier, agent, customer, business partner or
service provider of the Group, options to subscribe for such number
of Shares as the Board may determine in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme.

Maximum number of Shares and total number of shares
available for issue subject to options

The Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme and other share option
schemes of our Company (and to which the provisions of Chapter 17
of the Listing Rules are applicable) shall not exceed 50,000,000 Shares
(representing 10% of the aggregate of the Shares in issue on the date
the Shares commence trading on the Stock Exchange and on the
date of this report). The overall limit on the number of Shares which
shall be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted, and
yet to be exercised, under the Share Option Scheme, and other share
option schemes of our Company (and to which the provisions of
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules are applicable), shall not exceed 30%
of the Shares in issue from time to time. As at 1 January 2024 and 31
December 2024, no share option had been granted and the number
of share options available for grant by the Company was 50,000,000.

Limit for each participant

The total number of Shares issued, and to be issued, upon exercise
of the options granted to each participant (including both exercised,
cancelled and outstanding options) in any twelve (12)-month period
shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue.
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(v)

(vi)

(vii)

Option period

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board may
determine which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant
subject to the provisions of early termination thereof.

Minimum period

There is no minimum period for which an option granted must be
held before it can be exercised unless otherwise imposed by the
Directors.

Payment on acceptance of option offer

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within seven days
inclusive of the day on which such offer was made, upon payment of
HKS1.

(viii) Subscription price

(ix)

The subscription price shall be such price determined by the Board
at its absolute discretion and notified to a participant in the offer at
the time of the offer, and shall be at least the higher of: (a) the closing
price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet issued by
the Stock Exchange on the date of grant of the relevant option, which
shall be a business day; (b) the average closing price of the Shares as
stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant
of the relevant option (provided that, in the event that any option
is proposed to be granted within a period of less than five Business
Days after the trading of the Shares first commences on the Stock
Exchange, the new issue price of the Shares shall be used as the
closing price for any business day falling within the period before
listing of the Shares on the Stock Exchange); and (c) the nominal value
of a Share on the date of grant of the relevant option.

Present status of the Share Option Scheme

No share option has been granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed
under the Share Option Scheme since its adoption and up to the date
of this annual report. As at 31 December 2024, the Company had no
outstanding share option under the Share Option Scheme. As at 31
December 2024, the remaining life of the Share Option Scheme is
approximately seven years. The Share Option Scheme will expire at
the close of business on the business day immediately preceding the
tenth anniversary of its adoption date.

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)
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The Group operates a defined contribution mandatory provident fund
retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
and the occupational retirement scheme (the “ORSO Scheme”) under the
Occupational Retirement Scheme Ordinance (Cap. 426 of the Laws of Hong
Kong). The Group and its employees in Hong Kong are each required to
make contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant
income and capped at HK$1,500 per month. On the other hand, the Group
and its employees in Hong Kong are each required to make contributions to
the ORSO Scheme at 10% of the employees’ relevant income without cap.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the Group
has joined defined contribution retirement schemes for the employees
arranged by local government labour and security authorities (the
“PRC Retirement Schemes”). According to the relevant regulations,
contributions that should be borne by the companies within the Group
are principally determined based on percentages of the basic salaries of
employees, subject to certain ceilings imposed. The applicable percentages
for the PRC Retirement Schemes for the year and previous year are listed
below:

Pension insurance BEZ2RR
Medical insurance BERRR
Unemployment insurance KERRE
workmen'’s compensation insurance BT HERR
Maternity Insurance EBRE
Housing fund FEAES

The Group also operates a defined contribution employees’ provident
Fund scheme (the "EPF Scheme”) under the Employees Provident Fund
Ordinance 1951 in Malaysia. The Group and its employees in Malaysia are
each required to make contributions to the EPF Scheme at 12.5% of the
employees' relevant income without cap.

The Group also operates a defined contribution group pension (GPP)
scheme (the “Group Pension Scheme”) under the UK Pensions Act 2008 in
the United Kingdom. The Group and its employees in United Kingdom are
each required to make contributions to the Group Pension at 12.5% of the
employees' relevant income without cap.
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Report of the Directors

EFERE

The total retirement benefit scheme contributions made by the Group
amounted to approximately HK$21.6 million for the Reporting Period (2023:
approximately HK$25.7 million).

The Group’s contributions to the MPF Scheme, the PRC Retirement Scheme,
the EPF Scheme, and the Group Pension Scheme vest fully and immediately
with the employees. During the year and previous Year, there were neither
contribution forfeited by the Group nor had there been any utilisation
of such forfeited contributions to reduce future contributions. As at 31
December 2024 and 2023, there were no forfeited contributions which
were available for utilisation by the Group to reduce the existing level of
contributions to the MPF Scheme, the PRC Retirement Scheme, the EPF
Scheme, and the Group Pension Scheme.

Management Contracts
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the Reporting Period.

Connected Transaction
Details of connected transactions are set out in the section headed
“Connected Transactions” of this Annual Report of the Company.

Related Party Transactions and Connected
Transactions

Details of the related party transactions carried out in the normal course
of business are set out in note 32 to the financial statements. Save as
disclosed above, these related party transactions either (i) do not constitute
a connected transaction or continuing connected transaction as defined
under the Listing Rules; or (ii) were fully exempt from shareholder's approval,
annual review and all disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. In relation to those related party transactions which constitute
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction as defined
under the Listing Rules, the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Corporate Governance

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance practices. Principal corporate governance practices adopted
by our Company are set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report” on pages 31 to 54 of this annual report.
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Report of the Directors

EFERE

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total
issued Shares, being the minimum percentage of public float as prescribed
by the Stock Exchange and under the Listing Rules, was held by the public at
all times during the Reporting Period and as at the date of this annual report.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

Pursuant to article 164(1) of the Articles of Association and subject to
the applicable laws and regulations, every Director or other officer of
the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them may
incur or sustain in or about the execution of their duty in their offices. Such
permitted indemnity provision has been in force during the Reporting
Period.

The Company has taken out and maintained appropriate directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance to provide appropriate coverage for the Directors
and other officers of the Group for the Reporting Period.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Reporting Period.
There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee
regarding the accounting treatment adopted by the Company.

Auditor

Ernst & Young was appointed as the Auditor for the Reporting Period. Ernst
& Young shall retire at the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, will offer
itself for re-appointment. A resolution will be proposed at the AGM for
the re-appointment of Ernst & Young as the independent auditor of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Guan Manyu
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong,
20 March 2025
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Continuing Connected Transactions resulting from A
the Acquisition of Zhejiang Construction Investment

Connected Transactions
RREZ 5

Environment Engineering Company Limited

pursuant to the Listing Rules.

A1

Name and date of agreement

R EERAH

1. Construction Materials
Purchase Agreement dated
30 June 2022

BHAZZ-Z55A
STHNREMHEES
R

2. Construction Materials
Purchase Agreement dated

15 July 2022

SEY e — s
THRNEENHEES
B

3. Sewage Treatment Plant
Operation and Maintenance
Management Consulting
Contract* (57K RIERRE
BEREAER) signedin
January 2021

RZZBZ—F—-REIH
EKEEREREELN

LG

Paying
Party

g

ZCIEE

R R

ZCIEE

HERR

ZCIEE

HZRR

Remaining Group as a service and construction materials
provider/supplier/subcontractor

Receiving Party

L v

Zhejiang Zhejian

iipan:iges

Zhejiang Zhejian

hipanig=

Zhejiang Construction
Investment Group Co,
Ltd.

MIERREREEE
B ARAT

Prior to the completion of the acquisition of ZCIEE (together with Rn=
its subsidiaries, the “Target Group”) (the "Acquisition”) in 2023, the
Target Group and Zhejiang Construction Investment Group Co.,
Ltd. (together with its subsidiaries but excluding the Group and the
Target Group) (the “Remaining Group”) entered into the following
continuing transactions, which constituted continuing connected
transactions of the Company upon completion of the Acquisition

ARBIIZRBRRIEZERAT
METHNHERERS

T _FRREENZERR CGER

HE AR mEIEREE]) —F (WK
BEERDA BESEENIERR
RESERNBRLOR CEREMER
B ETERAKRENEERER) (5
THREDAVATHRERS  MxE
RHNWEFEHTKERE £ AR

BRARRNFERERS -

A.1

Main scope of agreement

IEHHEEE

Purchase of construction materials
including denitrification filter processing
package, ultrafiltration membrane
processing package, magnetic
coagulation processing package and
Fenton processing package for the
Cangshan Sewage Treatment Plant
Construction
REARNENS KRB BRSO R
tEeTEe BRETER HE
RIEPRFBEIENEENR

Purchase of construction materials
including deodorization system process
package and sludge dewatering system
process package for the Cangshan
Sewage Treatment Plant Construction
REARESKEEREROBR
ERITEARSERKERTIZRN
REMH

Provision of operation and maintenance
management and consultancy services
in respect of Changxing Sian Oasis
Sewage Treatment Plant (RELIZ 4N
757K EZE2) in Si‘an, Changxing County,
Zhejiang Province, the PRC (“Si‘an
Sewage Treatment Plant")
RRENTE RAGRENZEMN T
KRR (%5 kBRI R ) iR
BRERRAARYE

ELEEEEIERERRR -

BT EEERREREZEMBE

#HE el 2 el
Consideration
Term of agreement (before tax)
E
e i (BRBEAT)
HK$'000
FAT
From 30 June 2022 to the 4012
completion of the construction
PPP Project of Phase Il of Cangshan
Sewage Treatment Plant (the
"Cangshan Sewage Treatment Plant
Construction”)
BE-_FRA=TAREE 4012
5Kk BB (= H1) R RPPPIE
B (TELSKERAER]) %
I
From 15 July 2022 to the 1471
completion of the Cangshan
Sewage Treatment Plant
Construction
BZE-_FtATRAREE 1471
L5 KEREREZXRT
From 20 October 2020 to the 563
expiry of the transitional operation
and maintenance entrustment
agreement in relation to the Si'an
Sewage Treatment Plant (the “First
Sian Agreement’)
B-E-RFTA-THERD 563
ZKRERBERETELD
H(E-BLHEDER
20245 F®/ 75




Name and date of agreement

e YR

The Sewage treatment plant transitional
operation and maintenance entrustment
operation dated 13 October 2020

AHACE-ZFTATZANERE
MakEEmEESRTERRE

Subcontract Agreement in relation to
upgrading and renovation project for

rural domestic sewage in 25 villages in the
secondary protection zone of Changtan
Resenvoir* (R B7KE Z R R25TE

MR R EETKRBETEECT
BEARERIRBIZENAR

[&)) dlated 1 July 2018 (as supplemented

by a supplemental agreement dated 19
November 2018)
BHAZE-\FLA-BHREKE
ZRRERSENEREETKRAR
EIR(PCIRARR) BRIERIE
£704R (BEAR-Z-\F1+-A
THENBEGBAMER)

Subcontract agreement dated 1 July 2018in
relation to upgrading and renovation project
of rural domestic sewage in 25 villages in

the secondary protection zone of Changtan
Reservoir* (R B 7K B Z (R & RS
ERHEES KRR ETRECTE
BEMBRTIZHIEZXNBAR) (s
supplemented by a supplemental agreement
dated 28 December 2020)
BBA-E-\EtA-BHREKE
~RIRERSEN RN EBTKRAR
EIR(PCIREAR) BRIEHIE
#70AR (BEHR-Z-TF+-A
ZTNBNBRRERAT)

CR Construction Group Holdings Limited -

Paying Party

OV

Changxing Zhejian Town
Construction Co, Ltd* a
wholly-owned subsidiary
of Zhejiang Construction
Investment Group Co,
Ltd.

RENERERRER
DA BITERRR
ARERNERLRN

2ENERR

Zhejiang Construction
Investment

=

IE'S 4

Zhejiang Construction
Investment

Connected Transactions

BRE 3 5

A.2 Target Group as a service provider/subcontractor

Receiving
Party

L]

ZCIEE

HERR

ZCIEE

HRER

ZCIEE

A.2

Main scope of agreement

IEHAEE

Provision of operation and maintenance
services for sewage water tubes and related
equipments in relation to the Si'an Sewage
Treatment Plant

ALK RERNTKE RIEBRER
HEE R EERE

Procurement, transportation, installation,
commissioning, trial operation of terminal
equipment

BRRERE BR TR BFRAE
17

Provision of management and maintenance
services for the period between the
completion of the inspection of the project
(whole or partial) and 31 December 2020.

RERRMEHATA TR EE-2-F
F+2A E+—E¢,ﬁﬁﬁﬂ?ﬂ EEREE
TR o

Annual Report 2024

Term of agreement

i i

From 20 October 2020 to the
expiry of the First Si'an Agreement

B= eiﬂﬂ THEE
F-HBRBZERL

From 20 June 2018 0 20
November 2018,

The parties to the agreement have
mutually agreed to extend the
term of the subcontract agreement
to the completion of the project.

BE-E-\FRAZTREC
T-N\Ft-A=tH-

BETHNENERER LR
PEREARERAERE o

From 30 December 2018 t0 30
December 2020

The parties to the agreement have
mutually agreed to extend the
term of the subcontract agreement
to the completion of the final
certification.

“E-\E+-R=tRZEZ
T-TETZAZTA

BETHEFEERRAERS
DRENERER D TRRSE

;i
g

BREEEAREMHLES 5 af

Consideration
(before tax)
&
(BBiED)
HK$'000
TER

9327

9327

746

746

02%

0.2%



Connected Transactions

BRE 3 5

Name and date of agreement

hREERAS

4, Subcontract agreement dated 20 June 2018
in relation to upgrading and renovation
project of rural domestic sewage in 25
villages in the secondary protection zone of
Changtan Resenvoir* (REKE —RIRER
25{ERTB RIS KIRA B TR (EPC
TR ERIREIEE H84
) (as supplemented by a supplemental
agreement dated 19 November 2018)
BHAZS-\ERAZTHNREK
B RERSER BN EBTKRA
HE TR (PCIREAR) BRI EET
EXSRAR(ERBACT-\E+—
AThBRBZBERRER)

Receiving
Paying Party Party
BEY v

Zhejiang Construction ZCIEE
Investment

MIRE HRRR

Main scope of agreement Term of agreement
TEGEEE BEER

Excavation, backfiling and concrete pouring ~ From 20 June 2018 to 20

of new roads; demolition and repair of original ~ November 2018

roads; pipeline laying and backflling, new

roads; terminal civil works under the upgrading  The parties to the agreement have
and renovation project of rural domestic mutually agreed to extend the

sewage.

term of the subcontract agreement
to the completion of the final
certification.

EREBTKRANEIRPOFERE —T-/\FAA-TRE-R
B OERERRL RREABRE —\FT-A-TH
B EEARREA B it

RIR-

FANZHEERRAERD
BifRNHARERATRREL

Consideration
(before tax)
&
(BRBEAT)
HK$'000
TR

5272

5272
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Connected Transactions

FRERZ 5
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Continuing Connected Transaction in relation to the
Mutual Products and Services Supply Framework
Agreement with Zhejiang Construction Group

On 13 July 2023, the Company (for itself and on behalf of its
subsidiaries) entered into a mutual products and services supply
framework agreement (the “Framework Agreement”) with Zhejiang
Construction Investment Group Co., Ltd. (for itself and on behalf of
its subsidiaries, which excludes the Group) with a term commencing
from the effective date of the Framework Agreement and ending
on 31 December 2025. Pursuant to the Framework Agreement,
the Company and Zhejiang Construction Investment Group Co,,

Ltd. has conditionally agreed that (i) the Group will supply certain
products and services to the Remaining Group with the annual caps
for each of the years ending 31 December 2023, 2024 and 2025 of
HK$55,000,000, HK$ 110,000,000 and HKS$110,000,000 respectively;
and (i) the Remaining Group will supply certain products and services
to the Group with the annual caps for each of the years ending 31
December 2023, 2024 and 2025 of HK$52,500,000, HK$105,000,000
and HK$105,000,000 respectively.

The Framework Agreement constitutes a continuing connected
transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
For further details of the Framework Agreement, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 13 July 2023 and the circular
of the Company dated 18 September 2023.

The resolution of the Framework Agreement was duly passed at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 5 October
2023.

The recorded amount of sales transactions and procurement
transactions (before tax) for the year ended 31 December 2024
is in aggregate amount of nil and approximately HK$11,159,000
respectively. The aggregate amount has not exceeded the respecnve
annual caps of HK$110,000,000 and HK$105,000,000. All of the
aforementioned transactions fall within the scope of the Framework
Agreement.

The Directors confirm that the Framework Agreement had been
entered into in the ordinary and usual course of the business of our
Group and was based on normal commercial terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of our Company and our Shareholders
as awhole.
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FREIZREEBITYHEER
FREMEERGENFERER
2

RZZEZ=F+A+=8 A27A(H
BESEREXEWBRAAR) BENIEER
RESEEROBRAR (BB HER
KEWBAR TEEANEE)FIAE
EEMERBHEERGZ ((EXWH
&) FHAEXRGEESBRRER
—ERFF+ZA=+—H1--RIE
ERBZ ARRETIERERIEE
SERNDAERAFABHRERENNE
IW%TEI#$%¥§W&%%
EREE_Z-_=F - ZFT_WFEK
—ERAFT AT —HLEFES
FWFEE LR 2 5 A55000000% 7T
110,000,0007% 7T 5&.110,000,0007%8 7T + K (i)
BTEERASEHES TERER
HOEREE_ZE = —_ZT_OF
;M—EZRF+ZA=+—HIEFE
ZFENFE LR 51/52,500,0008 7T
105,000,000/ 7T 52.105,000,0007%8 7T °

RIEETHRBNEAE - ERGEBEX
ARABNBERERS - ERERW
BHE-TFHE FR2HALARFAH
E_Y:_ﬁtﬂ+55mﬂ%&$

ARIBHA-TE-_=FhLA+NEBEHX
K ©

EREEHHENAZRRER T ==
F+ARBERTHARDRRELER K
@ FETFRB

HE_T-HWF+-_A=1+—HIF
FEA%%%E“%&?%*%@%
(BB AT 9 54 &= T &11,159,000
%noﬁ@%ﬁIXtL“%ﬁ
110,000,0007% 7T £.105,000,0007% JC F &
FR - FMAMERSHIERIER B
R E -

EEnR EEBBIORAEEBRE
& — &%%@ﬁ$ﬂi W AR IR IE &
PEGKEIYL BATFAE  BFAR
NAE R AR R A EEBEF & o



Connected Transactions
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Continuing Connected Transaction in relation to the
BIM Services Subcontracting Framework Agreement
with Zhejiang Construction Digital Technology Co., Ltd.
On 8 April 2024, the Company for itself and on behalf of its
subsidiaries) entered into a business information modelling
services subcontracting framework agreement (the “BIM Services
Subcontracting Framework Agreement”) with Zhejiang Construction
Digital Technology Co., Ltd. (“Zhejiang Construction Digital
Technology”) with a term commencing from the date of the BIM
Services Subcontracting Framework Agreement and ending on

1 December 2026 (both dates inclusive). Pursuant to the BIM
Services Subcontracting Framework Agreement, the Group agreed
to subcontract certain business information modelling (the "BIM”")
services to Zhejiang Construction Digital Technology during the
term of the BIM Services Subcontracting Framework Agreement with
the annual caps for each of the years ending 31 December 2024,
2025 and 2026 of HK$4,000,000, HK$4,000,000 and HK$4,000,000,
respectively.

The BIM Services Subcontracting Framework Agreement constitutes
a continuing connected transaction of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. For further details of the BIM
Services Subcontracting Framework Agreement, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 8 April 2024.

The recorded amount of transactions (before tax) for the year ended

1 December 2024 is approximately HK$447,000 which has not
exceeded the annual cap of HK$4,000,000. All of the transactions
fall within the scope of the BIM Services Subcontracting Framework
Agreement.

The Directors confirm that the BIM Services Subcontracting
Framework Agreement had been entered into the ordinary and
usual course of the business of our Group and was based on normal
commercial terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
our Company and our Shareholders as a whole.
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Connected Transactions
RRE3E %

80

Reviewing of Continuing Connected Transaction

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
in respect of the connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions the Company conducted in the year 2024.

The Company’s external auditor was engaged to report on the
Group's continuing connected transactions for the year ended 31
December 2024 in respect of the Continuing Connected transactions
with consideration amounts during the period as listed in section A.1,
A.2,Band Cunder “Connected Transactions” to the annual report. The
work was performed in accordance with the Hong Kong Standard
on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and
with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

The auditors of the Group have reviewed the continuing connected
transactions of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 in
respect of the Continuing Connected transactions with consideration
amounts during the period as listed in section A.1, A.2, Band C under
"Connected Transactions” to the annual report and have confirmed to
the Board that nothing has come to their attention that causes them
to believe that the relevant continuing connected transactions:

(1) have not been approved by the Company's board of directors;

(2)  werenot, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Group for transactions involving the provision of
goods or services by the Group;

(3)  were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance
with the relevant agreements governing such transactions;

and

(4)  have exceeded the annual caps as set by the Company.
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Connected Transactions

BRE 3 5

The Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company have
confirmed that all continuing connected transactions for the year
ended 31 December 2024 to which the Group was a party:

(1) had been entered into, and the agreements governing those
transactions were entered into, by the Group in the ordinary
and usual course of business;

(2)  had been entered into either:

(i) on normal commercial terms or better; or

(i) if there are not sufficient comparable transactions to
judge whether they are on normal commercial terms,
on terms no less favourable to the Company than those
available to or (if applicable) from independent third
parties; and

(3)  had been entered into in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing those transactions on terms that are fair
and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the
Company as a whole.

The Independent Non-Executive Directors have further confirmed
that:

The continuing connected transactions for the year ended 31
December 2024 entered into between the Group and its connected
persons which are subject to annual caps have not exceeded their
respective annual caps.

Details of the related party transactions carried out in the normal course
of business are set out in note 32 to the financial statements. Save as
disclosed above, these related party transactions either (i) do not constitute
a connected transaction or continuing connected transaction as defined
under the Listing Rules; or (ii) were fully exempt from shareholder's approval,
annual review and all disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. In relation to those related party transactions which constitute
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction as defined
under the Listing Rules, the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

5 3L B BUEH R

Ernst & Young LK S &t S #Fhr Tel EE: +852 2846 9888
EY 27/F, One Taikoo Place &HEHIAHEEEI799, Fax B HE: +852 2868 4432
577( 979 King's Road Ao — 2718 ey.com

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

To the shareholders of CR Construction Group Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CR
Construction Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”’) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 92 to 235, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BIURBERE 2

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

BAREZFEEREBEESNERAE - RRY
AHGAMBRRZBREREEZER -
ZESHEEHRAMBRRERETER
YHKRBEENER TETREN FFTY
ZEERRHEBOER - WA TRRER
ME > BFRXFHMLE S 2 EZOAEIE
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BIURREESE 2

Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ELETERRIMNEERRERER

HEEKRER

Revenue recognition for building construction
works and repair, maintenance, addition and
alteration (“RMAA”) works from construction
operations
REEZEXBHEFEEIBRREE  RE -
BERMZE ( [RMAA] ) TEMOKZEER
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
recognised revenue from construction operations
business amounting to HK$5,926,563,000.

Our audit procedures to assess revenue recognition for building
construction works and RMAA works from construction operations
included the following:

EHE-E-_NE+-_A=+—RHIEE " &
5 B 72 7R 2K B 5 25 2 75 A9 Uk 255,926,563,00078

ﬁ:o

The Group's revenue from building construction
works and RMAA works from construction
operations is recognised over time, because the
Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created
or enhanced.
EEERABEEBNBFREETIZ RRVMAA
IROKREFEEEMER  REE &%
EMELNEENIEBHNEENEWAIEHIER
R &= P o

The revenue recognition involves the use
of significant judgements and estimation
uncertainty, including estimating the progress
towards completion of the services, scope of
services required, total contract costs incurred,
forecasting the costs to complete a contract,
valuing contract variations, and estimating the
most likely claims.

U o B RS e (50 PR BB K I R il St N E I
BREMARBHTKEE  AERGNEE -
FRBEMBESKHKA  FEATKE KA
AEEHNEE  RESARKAIERREHE -

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 2.5, 3
and 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

MR EHN GRS MWK E2S - 3]k5 °
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BEERTEREEEXRBHBTREETE MRMAAT A Y &

RITANBEZREFERENATEE

evaluating, on a sampling basis, the significant judgements
made by management, through an examination of project
documentation, contracts and variation orders;
FRMEBREBREXMG  aHOREES  RAGEREMR
TEH) B R HI T

discussing, on a sampling basis, of the status of projects
under construction with management, finance, and technical
personnel of the Group, in relation to significant judgements
that impact the estimated total revenue and estimated total
costs arising from variations to the original contracts;

H OEEENEREE MBEEMASMKARERER
B - B R BT R E MR A NBCEENEE R
B B0 B K HI T

testing, on a sampling basis, the controls of the Group over its
processes to record contract revenue and contract costs;
mEAE BEEEHESHKREREHRANTRTIER
BHEa RS
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BIRBERE 2

Key audit matters (Continued) AR EZEIEH &)
Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matter
HREXEE EEETERRNMEEFEREERSE

testing, on a sampling basis, the contract costs incurred
by checking to payment certificates issued by the Group
to subcontractors, invoices from suppliers, and payment
certificates issued by the architects employed by contract
customers; and

RE EEERSBEEBLONRER HEBZHLHOE
ERAKE P PS5 SR 3 80 3XE B8R LA dh R A R P
EENAHRE K

checking, on a sampling basis, the estimated total costs
for satisfaction of the contracts to the subcontractors and
suppliers’ quotations, and comparing the actual costs
incurred with the estimated total costs for satisfaction of the
construction works and RMAA works to assess the completion
status of the contracts.
MERERTRENMTNRFTARETES B RHERS
RRR(E - WH LR TR EE TR RRMAATREE EANER
PR BB ST A - PARTAE & BRI TERCIR A
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BIURBERE 2

Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ESETERBIMNEERRERER

HEERER

Impairment assessment on trade receivables

and contract assets from construction

operations

REBREXBNEREZRERSHEENH

BT

As at 31 December 2024, the Group recorded Our audit procedures in relation to impairment assessment on
gross trade receivables of HK$760,876,000 before  trade receivables and contract assets from construction operations
impairment of HK$5,932,000, and gross contract included the following:

assets of HKS$3,139,339,000 before impairment of
HK$65,895,000 from construction operations.
R-ZZE-_WNE+-_A=+—H  E£BEHE
R B RS T FE W E 5 FRIH #256760,876,000
7570 (CRINBR IR E £ 585,932,000 7T) * REH
& EE #8%83,139,339,000% 7t (R IR R B € 58
65,895,000/ 7T ) °

The measurement on the Group’s trade
receivables and contract assets from construction
operations under the expected credit losses
("ECL") approach was estimated by management
through the application of judgements and
use of highly subjective assumptions, such
as management’s industrial knowledge and
experience. The impact of current economic
factors, forward-looking factors, risk of default,
expected credit loss rates, certification and
settlement history were also considered in
management’s assessment of the likelihood of
recovery from customers.
EREABERABRSEETHNRR (ME
BENTEMBELLR) LT REBREEES
B(AHMEEFRR]) FE ESEREREX
BORWE S RERGHNEENGE - EEE
O EFRIERBE N ETRE R T B RIKH
Hx - piEMtREE  2HORR - ﬁ%?%%@
E REURBEZBECLENTE

Relevant disclosures are included in notes
2.5, 3, 17 and 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.
HERZEEH NG M BEmAMT25 -3 17Kk
18 ©
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EEZAHREEEEBNRKE S FARANEENRENE
MEZEFEERA TSR :

evaluating the methodologies, inputs and assumptions
used by management in their impairment assessment and
their calculation of the impairment allowance under the ECL
approach;

PR B IR RS R P (E AWK - BABURR
R DA BRI TR A0 B S % 3T B AR (E A

understanding and discussing with management for their
judgements, historical loss pattern and basis of judgements
used on such data under the ECL approach and understanding
management’s assessment about the overdue receivables or
amounts in dispute;

TRITEEREN mKENHE EBEEREXARRER
HEEBREIEZSRBEERNABKRELRTHEREEY
BB R YIASNFAEF R BTG

assessing the impairment allowance as at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account factors such as the
certification and settlement history and other relevant
information, on a sampling basis;

MR AEBRESHROBERE  BPRENBERER
BhamELE  UREMBERENSEEE
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BIRBERE 2

Key audit matters (Continued) FREZLSIE )

Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HREXEE EEENTERRNTEEERERSR

assessing the fair value of collaterals, credit worthiness of
customers and inspecting correspondence with customers in
respect of overdue receivables; and

HEERROATE TRPOGERE ITREERTFZE
B BEYIAEN TR - &

evaluating the historical default rates and assumptions
made for current economic conditions and forward-looking

information.

FHGE SR B 1R R DA R 2 AT A IR M BT A E B RV AR
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BIURREESE 2

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the
Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BIURBERE 2

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BIURREESE 2

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit
work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control

that we identify during our audit.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BIURBERE 2

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lai Wan Fung, Jacky.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

20 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
MeiRaR

Year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —FE —PIFE+ - H=+—HIFFZE

2024 2023
—E_NE —=E_=
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FAE T
REVENUE g = 5 6,066,037 5,445,560
Contract costs XD (5,712,805) (5,139,569)
Gross profit £ F 353,232 305,991
Other income H fib et A 5 9,025 13,226
Administrative expenses THEX (162,548) (173,038)
Other operating expenses, net H iR 25 R5a (7,342) (1,882)
Impairment of financial assets, net DEE EREFE (46,003) (6,747)
Finance costs Bl & B AN 7 (65,820) (52,649)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX RR B4 A % Fl 6 80,544 84,901
Income tax expense T8 & 2 10 (26,594) (12,676)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FRER 53,950 72,225
Attributable to: AR % B4k
Owners of the Company KABIEA A 53,715 71,887
Non-controlling interests FE 2 AR 4 2w 235 338
53,950 72,225
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE ZAAREERERISTEARE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF EERER
THE COMPANY
Basic and diluted HAK#E 12 HK10.74 cents  HK14.38 cents

10.7478 1l

1438781l
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

FeREBRR

Year ended 31 December 2024 #tZE —FE —PIFE+ - HA=+—HIFFZ

2024 2023

—E-_NE —E-=4F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FET BT

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FREF 53,950 72,225

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS Hitb2EER
Other comprehensive loss that may be REZBBEAEENSBEEaNE
reclassified to profit or loss in fth 2 TH B 48 ¢

subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation of BREBIINEBESENENLZHE

foreign operations (1,234) (10,140)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FREMPEEE  NRBIR

FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (1,234) (10,140)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FAZEKEAE

FOR THE YEAR 52,716 62,085
Attributable to: AT & 75 BB -

Owners of the Company ZIN/NCIEZ PN 52,797 61,975

Non-controlling interests FEPE AR (81) 110

52,716 62,085
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e MBRKAER

31 December 2024 —FE=—M#E+=H=+—H

2024 2023
—E-ME
HK$’'000 HKS$'000
FExT FAT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M HWE MR 13 22,415 27,031
Right-of-use assets FREEE 14(a) 48,578 37,348
Operating concession rights EIE R 15(a) 30,927 32,980
Receivables and contract assets under RIS T REZHE T
service concession arrangements REWRIE N S HEBE 15(b) 249,613 240,471
Other intangible assets Hh & E 16 164 291
Prepayments and deposits B RERES 19 9,606 8,165
Deferred tax assets LTI E E 25 5,073 7,407
Total non-current assets ERBEERE 366,376 353,693
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Receivables and contract assets under RIS T LT
service concession arrangements MEKRIERE NEE 15(b) 8,879 7,098
Contract assets BEHNEE 17 3,169,364 2,564,727
Trade receivables e & 5 kI8 18 775,887 816,354
Prepayments, deposits and other TERTHIE - e Rk
receivables H th fE U /I8 19 106,671 99,754
Other assets HihEE 20 46,576 -
Amounts due from intermediate holding  J& Uk — 5 41 R 2 A& A &)
companies B 32(b) 6,322 6,744
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries A e NGIE ¢ 32(b) 43,276 45,288
Tax recoverable A] Ug [B] £+ 18 2,032 1,726
Cash and cash equivalents HeERBREEEY 21 330,799 235,971
Total current assets mEEELE 4,489,806 3,777,662
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBAE
Trade and retention payables BB S RREBENIE 22 1,920,405 1,534,292
Other payables, accruals and provision HibEN70E - Bt E R 23
N 1,538,468 1,192,425
Interest-bearing bank borrowings TEIRITERK 24 318,011 344,984
Amounts due to an intermediate holding & {~f — & & 12 IR A 7]
company A 32(b) 3,001 9,143
Amounts due to the immediate holding Bt E MK A 7 Z I8
company 32(b) 11,000 =
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries JEAT R Z T B A Bl A 32(b) 12,613 15,824
Loans from intermediate holding KEFEEZERAR
companies HE R 32(b) 80,521 274,143
Lease liabilities HEBE 14(b) 16,480 21,856
Tax payable JE 1t B 1R 23,854 10,534
Total current liabilities mEBERTE 3,924,353 3,403,201
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 565,453 374,461
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

ReMBRAR 2

31 December 2024 —FE=—#E+=H=+—H

2024 2023
—E-NE —ET_=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FE T THT
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERABARG
LIABILITIES 931,829 728,154
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEF
Provision B 23 5,700 5,700
Lease liabilities HEBE 14(b) 33,519 16,043
Interest-bearing bank borrowings AT EIRITER 24 216,153 70,599
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFITEAE 25 564 963
Total non-current liabilities EREBERERE 255,936 93,305
Net assets FEAE 675,893 634,849
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to equity holders ZARAFEREFEH A
of the Company Bz
Share capital R& 7R 26 5,000 5,000
Reserves B 27 650,685 614,388
655,685 619,388
Non-controlling interests FEVE R M = 20,208 15,461
Total equity T 2= 4B R 675,893 634,849
ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD
REEZE RERES=S
Li Kar Yin Guan Manyu
TEE B F
Director Director
EZE EFE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

FeERBER

Year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —FE —PIFE+ - H=+—HIFFZE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

L] SN
Asset  Exchange Non-
Share ~ Share  Merger  Capital Statutory revaluation fluctuation  Retained controlling Total
capital premium’  reserve’  reserve’ reserve’ reserve’ reserve’ profits’ Total interests equity
EE  EX
Be ROER REGE EARE ERE ERRE 29RF REEN 6% FBRER REEE
Notes  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000  HKY'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
TR OTER TRR AR THR TAL TAR TRR TER TRR  THG
At 1 January 204 R-FZRE-A-H 5000 400257 (190732) 12138 5849 13 (3639) 42325 619388 15461 634849
Profitfor the year Emigl - - - - - - B35 53715 85 5390
Other comprehensive loss EREpEAEE:
for the year:
Bxchange dfferences on trenslation #E A ERE
offrelgn operation HESES 2 g g = - - (918) (918) (316) (1,23
Tota comprehensive En2EkE/
income/{oss) for the year (BE)2E - - - - - (918) 75 52797 (81) 52,716
Final 2023 dividend RCERERE I - (9,000) - - - - - (9,000) - (9000
Iterim 2024 dvidend “ECRERERS I - (150 - - - - (7,500) - (150)
Copll contrbutionfomnon-—— KEAFERBERNLE
controlling shareholders - - - - - - - - 488 488
Transertostatutory reserve WY A - - - -9 - (1917) - -
At 31 December 2024 e
+ZA=1-H 5000 383757 (190732) 12138 7,766 13 (37310) 475053 655685 20,208 675893
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)

ReEREBRE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #tZE —FE —PIFE+ - HA=+—HIFFZ

s of the Company
NEfh
Asset  Exchange Non-
Share Share  Merger  Capital ~ Statutory revaluation  fluctuation  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium’ reserve’ reserve’ reserve’  resenve’ it Total  interests equity
4
KA ROEE  RoGE EERRE  EREE Z9RE REEN &
Votes Hk9000 0 HKS000 (1 HK9000 (00 HES000  HKS000
i Thn TR TEn Er TEn  Thn  TEr  TEr
At T January 2023 W-E-=%-73-H 5000 416757 51737 1201 3998 13 Q6480 3329 816315 1740 83375
Proft forthe year ERET - - - - - - - T N £ IV
Other comprehensive [oss EMERREER:
forthe year:
Fxchange dfferences on tenslation B EREE
offoreign operation HESES - - - - - - 9912) - 991 08 (10,140)
Total comprehensive income/(oss)  FRAENE / (BE) 48
for the year - - - - - - 9912 78T 6197 10 62085
Fina 2022 dvideng “RICERERE 1 - (00 - = - - - - o) - (00
Iterim 2023 dvidend 2 ) - s - - - - - ) - s

Deerned disrhution arsng from ~ WER £ A4
acquistion of subsidlaries under ~ MYMEARAEL

common control RBENR - - (4409 - - - - - (40409) - (4409
hequisition of nor-controling—— WESERERT
interests without change incontol | EER - - - 7 - - - - 6 09 ()
Transfe to statutory eserve N - - - - - - &) - - -
At 31 December 2023 RoE_Z%
tZA=t-B 5000 400257 (190732 12138 5,849 13 (3639) 4315 619388 15461 634849

# These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  * ZERERE BEREWBIRARAR
HK$650,685,000 (31 December 2023: HK$614,388,000) in the consolidated 4R A 1#8650,6850008 T (Z T Z =4
statement of financial position. +=ZA=+—H : 614,388,000/ T) °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FeBeRER

Year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —FE —PIFE+ - H=+—HIFFZE

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

RETFBHRERERE

2024 2023
—EMEF —E-=F

HK$’000
TERT

HK$'000
FTAET

Profit before tax FR 56 Bl g A 80,544 84,901
Adjustments for: R .
Finance costs B & AN 7 65,820 52,649
Bank interest income RITAEWA 5 (1,366) (1,088)
Interest income from a loan to a fellow “HTF—ER RN E AT
subsidiary B & LS A 5 - (844)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of HEWE  WMENMEKE
property, plant and equipment, net BEZEBR/ (W)
SHEE 6 591 (607)
Loss on modification of leases HEEBNRZEIE 6 - 39
Depreciation of property, plant and M BERZRETE
equipment 6 10,915 9,647
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEERE 6 22,070 22,377
Amortisation of operating concession BB TR A
rights 6 1,368 1,385
Amortisation of other intangible assets H b S i B B 5 6 139 82
Impairment of receivables and contract ~ FRIEEFZFRELHE T
assets under service concession R B W RIE R A 4
arrangements BERE 6 34 -
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of  FEURE 5 KIBRIE,
trade receivables CRiE#EE ) 6 (8,829) 2,945
Impairment of contract assets BHEERE 6 54,798 3,802
Impairment of other assets Hih&ERE 6 8,941 -
Provision for rectification works and B4 TR N B EE
claims 23 — 15,275
235,025 190,563
Increase in receivables and contract assets R84S riE 22 HE T 09
under service concession arrangements  JEURFRIA KA 4)E E 1N (16,498) (94,853)
Increase in contract assets BB EL N (658,894) (461,969)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables FEUE SIS (3B An)  28(a)ii) (2,701) 49,709
Increase in prepayments, deposits and TR FIE « e K H MR
other receivables FRIE L 0 (8,639) (45,017)
Increase in trade and retention payables [T E 5 R AR & 7K IHIE N 384,732 20,945
Increase in other payables, accruals and HMERNKIE  EtE B
provision P& iRl 351,246 247,535
Movement in balances with intermediate B2 F0 R 422 % 22 & &Y
holding companies EREE) (6,116) 16,887
Movement in balance with the immediate Ed B B2 J8 A 7] #Y
holding company HEEREE) 11,000 -
Movement in balances with fellow (R R KB A 7Y
subsidiaries R (1,857) (6,556)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations & & 18, (FrA) IR & 287,298 (82,756)
Interest element on lease liabilities HEBENFBEIS (2,450) (1,168)
Interest paid EIFE (22,382) (8,507)
Hong Kong profits tax paid ERNEBRIEH (7,002) (2,878)
Overseas taxes paid BN IR (4,496) (3,397)
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating &K &EZBF1E, (FiH)
activities REeMEFH 250,968 (98,706)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

FelenRER~

Year ended 31 December 2024 #tZE —FE —PIFE+ - HA=+—HIFFZ

2024 2023
Sl 111 - 5 —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZHFBRERE
ACTIVITIES
Bank interest received BUIRTTH B 1,366 1,088
Additions of other intangible assets //J\E/H\:T)@ﬁﬁ/éF 76 (15) (70)
Purchases of items of property, plantand B EM¥ - BE &
equipment HEIEE 13 (6,945) (8,246)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEME - BE &
property, plant and equipment R B TS RIE 17 1,067
Interest received from a loan to a fellow % 7 — IR XK B A 7
subsidiary B & A B URE = 844
Repayment of a loan to a fellow subsidiary 45 ¥ — H%WE
BWEFENR - 32,751
Decrease in restricted bank balance 2 BRI SR 1T 4 BR Rk A = 167
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing BEEHRE, (FTA)
activities HemE 558 (5,577) 27,601
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METBFAERERE
ACTIVITIES
Deemed distribution arising from W B 52 2 [R) 428 1) A B B
acquisition of subsidiaries under common A & BT & 4 B & 1E 5 Kk
control = (242,469)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests Uk B FE 42 A% A 25 - (2,022)
Capital contribution from a non-controlling 28 B — & JE4Z A% A% 3R
shareholder Eofnl=y 4,828 -
New loans from intermediate holding R E R REIZERA ]
companies EOESIN=E 28(b) 60,548 957,141
Repayment of loans from intermediate BER AT REKA A
holding companies HE = 28(b) (254,721) (702,420)
New bank borrowings %ﬁ}ﬁﬂ%fﬂﬁ?x 28(b) 2,368,827 1,976,256
Repayment of bank borrowings BERITER 28(b) (2,247,984) (1,757,207)
Principal portion of lease payments HENKASHD 28(b) (21,192) (21,010
Interest paid 2 ARF & (40,988) (42,974)
Dividend paid ERE 71 (16,500) (16,500)
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing MEEBRE, (FTA)
activities HemE 58 (147,182) 148,795
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH RERREEEYREMER
EQUIVALENTS 98,209 77,690
Cash and cash equivalents at FNRERREEEYD
beginning of year 235,971 158,153
Effect on foreign exchange rate changes, 4MNEFE R & 8 i) 52 & F 58
net (3,381) 128
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATEND FREERREEEY
OF YEAR 330,799 235,971

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASHAND B2 RBRLEEBYHE DT
CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents HERBREEEY 21 330,799 235,971
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Notes to Financial Statements

M35 R R P o

100 CR Construction Group Holdings Limited

31 December2024 —FE—pJE+=-H=+—H

CR Construction Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a
limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
with its shares listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The registered
office address of the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
PO. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The
principal place of business of the Company is located at Unit Nos.
3-16, Level 32, Standard Chartered Tower of Millennium City T,
No. 388 Kwun Tong Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the "Group”) are the construction operations which
comprised of the provision of building construction works and
repair, maintenance, addition and alteration ("RMAA") works
in Hong Kong, Malaysia and the United Kingdom and the
environmental operations in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC").

CR Construction Investments Limited (“CR Investments”), a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI"),
is the immediate holding company of the Company. In the
opinion of the Directors, Zhejiang State-owned Capital Operation
Company Limited, a company established in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"), is the ultimate holding company of
the Company.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2024 —FE=—#E+=H=+—H
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Corporate and group information (Continued) 1. EXEREBEER @)

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows:

(R Construction Company Limited

ZERERRAA

(R Construction (UK) Company Limited
ZERE(ZA)ARAA

(R Construction Development Limited

FEREARARLT
(R Construction (UK Investments Company

Limited

(R Construction Technology Investment
Limited

(R Engineering Company Limited
ZERSRERTRARLA

(R Engineering Investment Limited

Place of

incorporation/

registration
and business

AR/
BRRERNY

Macau

&P

Hong Kong

B

BV
ABRLBS

BvI

RERAHS

BvI

AERRAEE

Hong Kong
&b

BV
RERKES

=0 PEEE
ARAMBATNFHEMT -

Issued
ordinary/ Percentage of equity
registered attributable to the Company
share capital RAAEEREE AL
BRITEE/ Direct Indirect ~ Principal activities
EMRA Bk TEEK
MOP25,000 9% 4 Building construction services
(2023:Nil) (2023:100)
25000897 % 4 BFRERK
(B2=%F: (Z32=F:
&) 100)
HK$319,500,000 - 100 Building construction services and
investment holding
319500000 ¢ BTRERBRRARR
(GBP80,000 - 100 Building construction services
80,0005 BTRERK
Usé1 100 - Investment holding
3 RERR
Uss1 100 - Investment holding
E RERR
HKS100 100 - Investment holding
100 7T RERRK
HK$10,000 - 100 Building construction services
100007 BYRERK
HK$100 100 - Investment holding
1007 7T RERRK
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MBHmRMeE 2

31 December 2024 —FE=—M#E+=H=+—H

EEREEEN 2
B 2 A 9 R (40
ARFMBARFEMT : (48)

1. Corporate and group information (Continued) 1.
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows:

(Continued)

Place of
incorporation/
registration

and business
AL/
BEREX M

Issued

ordinary/

registered
share capital
BRTEE/
BTN

Percentage of equity
attributable to the Company
ANAEEREAD

Direct

E#

Indirect

Principal activities

IERH

(R Sea (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia RM1,000,000 - 100 Building construction services
BRAE 10000002 % BTRERD
CRTECH Company Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Building construction services
ZERENBARAA &k 100007 7 BTRERK
Changshan Construction Investment Water ~ PRC/Mainland China ~ RMB300,000 - 100 Sewage and reclaimed water
Company Limited™ treatment services
BUBRABARAR: hE/HERE ARE3000007T BKRBEKRERY
Changxing Construction Investment Water ~ PRC/Mainland China ~ RMB1,000,000 = 100 Sewage and reclaimed water
Company Limited** treatment Service
REREKBERAR hE/RERE AREIL0000007 AKRBEKRERE
Changxing Construction Investment PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100 Environmental improvement related
Environmental Technology Company construction services, sewage and
Limited* reclaimed water treatment services,
and water distribution services
RERRRRMBARAR hE/h AR AR100000007T RENERBNRERS  5KR
BEKRERSE  ARAKRE
Mount Land Limited Hong Kong HK$52 100 - Building construction services and
(2023: Nil) (2023:100) investment holding
ELARAR &% 508 T 100 - BFRERBREEZRR
(Bz=%F: (Z%zz%:
&) 100)
Triumph Success Developments Limited BVI HK$20,000,000 100 - Investment holding
RERIES 20,000000% 7T REZR

102 CR Construction Group Holdings Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2024 —FE=—#E+=H=+—H

1. Corporate and group information (Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows:

1. EXREBER @)
BN D A0S ()
ADAMBARFEMT : (&)

Percentage of equity

attributable to the Company
ARAEGREADL
Direct Indirect  Principal activities

& BE IEXH

(Continued)
Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/
registration registered
and business share capital
ML/ BRTEE/
BRREEDY R
Zhejiang Construction Investment PRC/Mainland China  RMB200,000,000
Environment Engineering Company
Limited (‘ZCIEE")*
MIERERIBARAR hE/ e R AR 200,000,000
(NFRRR)*

Zhejiang Tiantai Construction Environment  PRC/Mainland China ~ RMB44,170,000
Technology Company Limited®

MIXANERRERARA T HE/HEAY AR 84417000070

Zhejiang Tiantai Construction Investment PRC/Mainland China RMB12,000,000

Water Company Limited™
WIRGRRAKBERAR hE/REME  ARKI12000000%
Zhejiang Construction Investment PRC/Mainland China ~ RMB50,000,000
New Energy Technology
Company Limited *
MR RMRARA A hE/hER AR 500000007
# Unofficial translation
* Registered under the laws of the PRC as a limited liability company

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

100 - Construction, rehabilitation and
operation of sewage and reclaimed
water treatment service and
investment holding
R BEREESKR
BEKRRRBIRREER

- 70 Sewage and reclaimed water
treatment service

AKRBEKRERK

- 80  Sewage and reclaimed water

treatment services

kR BEKRERE

- 70 Energy storage business and
(2023: Nil) comprehensive new energy service

- N EEERRREGEARERRY
(ZB==%:
)

* RETBEERERREREEAA

ERFIN T EERAUAFEREEL
TEYERBAAEEFEEEESS
I BAT - EERA - SR KIS
ARMARFER TS HFIERR -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2024 —FE=—M#E+=H=+—H

2.1 Acquisition under common control 21 HEEZHTHKREBSEIE

104 CR Construction Group Holdings Limited

In the prior year, the Company entered into a share
purchase agreement (the “Share Purchase Agreement’)
on 31 January 2023 with China Zhejiang Construction
Group (H.K.) Limited (“CZH"), an intermediate holding
company of the Company, pursuant to which the Company
agreed to purchase the entire issued share capital of ZCIEE,

a company incorporated in the PRC (the “Acquisition”).

The consideration payable under the Share Purchase
Agreement for the Acquisition was RMB201,000,000
(approximately HK$228,409,090). Further details of the
Acquisition are set out in the Circular of the Company
dated 31 March 2023. The consideration paid was
approximately HK$227,876,000 and the Acquisition was
completed on 8 May 2023.

The Company, CZH and ZCIEE were under the common
control of Zhejiang Construction Investment Group
Company Limited (“ZCl"), an intermediate holding
company of the Company, before and after the Acquisition.
The Acquisition has been accounted for based on the
principles of merger accounting as if the Acquisition had
occurred on the date when the combining entities first
came under the common control of ZCl. Accordingly, the
related consolidated statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 include
the results and cash flows of ZCIEE and its subsidiaries (the
"ZCIEE Group”") from the earliest date presented or since
the date when the subsidiaries and/or business first came
under the common control of ZCl, where this is a shorter
period.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

M¥BHmRMeE 2

31 December 2024 —FE—pJE+=-H=+—H

2.2 Basis of preparation 22 WEEE

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") (which include all Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

These financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention and are presented in Hong Kong
dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote

holders of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

ELEEEEITERARAR

ZEMBRRERBEEFESHEIA
((BEREFMLAE) BANE
BMBHREER((ERMBRE
A (BEMBEAMBREE
A - BEGAER((EREFHE
Al)) Ra2ig) kBB QREREIM
BAREmRR

ZEMBHRRECRE LR AER
2 BRI AFBESEBD
BESEANTME  EXSHEH
ERRIN -

REREXE
RANMBHREEAKEEE_F
“OFEt - A=+—RHLFEZEH
Bz - MEARRARRRER
gRETEHcER(BEERLEER
B EAKEHZEREHRE
BRI/ FBOmAERRKER
BFAREEBHIREHR ZEN
(IAREEEE THRAEEREINTE
REHREMER 2 RFHEN) &
L% Z O WA - BIER{SHE Gl o

RR— KRR - AZBIREES
BRIEHIRE - AR AR D RRE
BRARZBREIALEN 212
Ao AARERFHEESTHRA Y
REHRZENTEEE )
ZERBER B

(@) BERBEHREMEBEREA
ZEHREE
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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2.2 Basis of preparation (Continued) 22 WEEE (E)

106 CR Construction Group Holdings Limited

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the
date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any
non-controlling interest and the exchange fluctuation
reserve; and recognises the fair value of any investment
retained and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss.
The Group's share of components previously recognised
in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis
as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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2.3 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for

the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
(the "2020 Amendments")
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the 2022
Amendments’)
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements
and HKFRS 7

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs are

described below:

(a)

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements
that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease
liability arising in a sale and leaseback transaction
to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any
amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right
of use it retains. Since the Group has no sale and
leaseback transactions with variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate occurring
from the date of initial application of HKFRS 16
the amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.
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2.3 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
(Continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs are

described below: (continued)

(b)

108 CR Construction Group Holdings Limited

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements
for classifying liabilities as current or non-current,
including what is meant by a right to defer
settlement and that a right to defer must exist at
the end of the reporting period. Classification of
a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the
entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability can
be settled in its own equity instruments, and that
only if a conversion option in a convertible liability
is itself accounted for as an equity instrument
would the terms of a liability not impact its
classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify
that, among covenants of a liability arising from
a loan arrangement, only those with which an
entity must comply on or before the reporting date
affect the classification of that liability as current or
non-current. Additional disclosures are required for
non-current liabilities that are subject to the entity
complying with future covenants within 12 months
after the reporting period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions
January 2023 and 2024 and
concluded that the classification of its liabilities as

of its liabilities as at 1

current or non-current remained unchanged upon
initial application of the amendments. Accordingly,
the amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.
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2.3 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures 23 BHBXRBEESS (&)
(Continued)
The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs are LASFT BB ME LRI EE &
described below: (continued) HEFAWT : (&)

(0 Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the ARG ERE R RBAEY

—
—

characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and % ¥R & E R E75% (B FTAN)
require additional disclosure of such arrangements. BEHERRE RN
The disclosure requirements in the amendments 2 WHREARZELHE
are intended to assist users of financial statements HEBINEER - Z FIBRI A A
in understanding the effects of supplier finance ¥ 52 45 7E B 1E 15 B) B 75 i 3%
arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and FERETHRERERME
exposure to liquidity risk. HERENBE BaReEk

mEE R E -

As the Group does not have supplier finance =R SN VA 9

arrangements, the amendments did not have any MELH  ZFEIRER

impact on the Group’s financial statements. EE KI5 IR TR AL EA AR
% o

FERREERRERAR - 2024FFH 109
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2.4 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong financial 24 CHEMAEBEHRERNEBYK
reporting standards HEH

The Group has not applied the following new and revised

HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective,

in these financial statements. The Group intends to apply

74 82 130 4 50 52 5 1 5 R R
OB ARG E 1 5K A O3 3T RS

=

ERTEBMBHRERER - XEEA

these new and revised HKFRSs, if applicable, when they BERZEME] RICIEFT BB W
become effective. AR A ERAZSER (RE
RIERAMmE) °
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements® BB I B EE GEHZZIREFE
185
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: YO e HRARZAENE
Disclosures® 195 INRE {4
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the Classification and Measurement B e PRTADERES
and HKFRS 7 of Financial Instruments? FORREARE &ir
ERERE75
CHES)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor YO e REZ BRGNS

and HKAS 28 and its Associate or Joint Venture* FI0RREEGE BETRZEHAE
ERIZ0T (BIA) HEZEE
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability' REEHENENR A ALLEE
(BFIAR)
Annual lmprovements to Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9, RERBREEN e FEUFHSENE

% BEABHEE
RIZETE  BEAH
BEEAE0% &
ERBHEENZ 10
HREECHEHFE
75 (BFTE)’

HKERS Accounting Standards HKFRS 10 and HKAS 72 EHMFEIE-F
~Volume 17 1%

l Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January L H_E—_hF—F—HxZ%EH
2025 1Y E AR A R

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2 H_TZ R F—A—HmlZ#ERH
2026 BEFE BB EXR

2 Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 2 H_E—+F—F—HxZEH
1 January 2027 R RS BRI AR

8 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available 8 B R SR G AN B B - B A
for adoption AN

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected FEHERARNASEN BB ERE
to be applicable to the Group is described below. ZRIE—FEHEF RN T -
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2.4

Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong financial
reporting standards (Continued)

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. While a number of sections have been brought
forward from HKAS 1 with limited changes, HKFRS 18
introduces new requirements for presentation within the
statement of profit or loss, including specified totals and
subtotals. Entities are required to classify all income and
expenses within the statement of profit or loss into one
of the five categories: operating, investing, financing,
income taxes and discontinued operations and to present
two new defined subtotals. It also requires disclosures
about management-defined performance measures in
a single note and introduces enhanced requirements
on the grouping (aggregation and disaggregation) and
the location of information in both the primary financial
statements and the notes. Some requirements previously
included in HKAS 1 are moved to HKAS 8 Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, which
is renamed as HKAS 8 Basis of Preparation of Financial
Statements. As a consequence of the issuance of HKFRS 18,
limited, but widely applicable, amendments are made to
HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, HKAS 33 Earnings per Share
and HKAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting. In addition, there
are minor consequential amendments to other HKFRSs.
HKFRS 18 and the consequential amendments to other
HKFRSs are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2027 with earlier application permitted.
Retrospective application is required. The Group is
currently analysing the new requirements and assessing
the impact of HKFRS 18 on the presentation and disclosure
of the Group's financial statements.
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2.4
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Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong financial
reporting standards (Continued)

HKFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply
reduced disclosure requirements while still applying the
recognition, measurement and presentation requirements
in other HKFRSs. To be eligible, at the end of the reporting
period, an entity must be a subsidiary as defined in
HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, cannot have
public accountability and must have a parent (ultimate
or intermediate) that prepares consolidated financial
statements available for public use which comply with
HKFRSs. Earlier application is permitted. As the Company is
a listed company, it is not eligible to elect to apply HKFRS
19. Some of the Company’s subsidiaries are considering
the application of HKFRS 19 in their specified financial
statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 clarify the date on
which a financial asset or financial liability is derecognised
and introduce an accounting policy option to derecognise
a financial liability that is settled through an electronic
payment system before the settlement date if specified
criteria are met. The amendments clarify how to assess
the contractual cash flow characteristics of financial assets
with environmental, social and governance and other
similar contingent features. Moreover, the amendments
clarify the requirements for classifying financial assets
with non-recourse features and contractually linked
instruments. The amendments also include additional
disclosures for investments in equity instruments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial instruments with contingent features.
The amendments shall be applied retrospectively with
an adjustment to opening retained profits (or other
component of equity) at the initial application date. Prior
periods are not required to be restated and can only be
restated without the use of hindsight. Earlier application
of either all the amendments at the same time or only the
amendments related to the classification of financial assets
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong financial
reporting standards (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10
and in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a
gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction when
the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a business.
For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute
a business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent
of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments
to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the HKICPA.

However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall
assess whether a currency is exchangeable into another
currency and how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at
a measurement date when exchangeability is lacking. The
amendments require disclosures of information that enable
users of financial statements to understand the impact
of a currency not being exchangeable. Earlier application
is permitted. When applying the amendments, an entity
cannot restate comparative information. Any cumulative
effect of initially applying the amendments shall be
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained profits or to the cumulative amount of translation
differences accumulated in a separate component of
equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.
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2.4 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong financial
reporting standards (Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards —
Volume 11 set out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7 (and
the accompanying Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7),
HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7. Details of the amendments
that are expected to be applicable to the Group are as
follows:

114 CR Construction Group Holdings Limited

HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The
amendments have updated certain wording in
paragraph B38 of HKFRS 7 and paragraphs IG1, IG14
and IG20B of the Guidance on implementing HKFRS
7 for the purpose of simplification or achieving
consistency with other paragraphs in the standard
and/or with the concepts and terminology used
in other standards. In addition, the amendments
clarify that the Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7
does not necessarily illustrate all the requirements
in the referenced paragraphs of HKFRS 7 nor does
it create additional requirements. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments
clarify that when a lessee has determined that a lease
liability has been extinguished in accordance with
HKFRS 9, the lessee is required to apply paragraph
3.3.3 of HKFRS 9 and recognise any resulting gain or
loss in profit or loss. In addition, the amendments
have updated certain wording in paragraph
5.1.3 of HKFRS 9 and Appendix A of HKFRS 9 to
remove potential confusion. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.
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24 CHEMEEMRERNEETH

2.4 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong financial

reporting standards (Continued)

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The
amendments clarify that the relationship described
in paragraph B74 of HKFRS 10 is just one example of
various relationships that might exist between the
investor and other parties acting as de facto agents
of the investor, which removes the inconsistency
with the requirement in paragraph B73 of HKFRS 10.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group's financial statements.

HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments
replace the term “cost method” with “at cost” in
paragraph 37 of HKAS 7 following the prior deletion
of the definition of “cost method”. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any impact on the Group’s financial statements.

2.5 Material accounting policies

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the
sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the
former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the
acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components
of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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2.5 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets includes an
input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or
liability is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible
by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.
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2.5 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either

directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair

value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.
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2.5 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than other
assets)

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other
than contract assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of
the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its
fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a
portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g.,
a headquarters building) is allocated to an individual
cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of
cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in
which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.
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2.5 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets and (other than
other assets) (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but
not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment
loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in which it
arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel

of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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2.5 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)

120 CR Construction Group Holdings Limited

the party is an entity where any of the following

conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.
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2.5 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss
in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for
a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount
of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual
assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them

accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment
to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of

the lease terms and 20%

Plant and machinery 10% to 20%
Furniture and fixtures 10% to 20%
Computers and software 14% to 32%
Motor vehicles 10% to 33%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately.
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2.5 Material accounting policies (Continued) 25 BEAEFEE (#)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between
the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the

relevant asset.

Service concession arrangements

A service concession arrangement refers to a contractual
service arrangement granted by a government authority
in Mainland China (the “Grantor”) to allow the Group to
operate an infrastructure to provide service to the public.
Such arrangement involves the Group to develop, finance,
operate, and maintain the public-service infrastructure for
a specified period of time for a service fee. At the end of
the service period, the Group is obliged to hand over the
infrastructure to the Grantor in a specified condition for

little or no incremental consideration.

Such service concession arrangement is governed by a
contract between the Group and the relevant Grantor
which sets out, inter alia, performance standards, the
mechanism for service fee adjustment, specific obligations
of the Group for the maintenance of the infrastructure and
arrangement for arbitrating disputes.
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2.5 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Service concession arrangements (Continued)
Consideration given by the Grantor

A financial asset (receivable under a service concession
arrangement) is recognised to the extent that (a) the
Group has an unconditional right to receive cash or
another financial asset from or at the direction of the
Grantor for the construction services rendered and/or the
consideration paid and payable by the Group for the right
to charge users of the public service; and (b) the Grantor
has little, if any, discretion to avoid payment, usually
because the agreement is enforceable by law. The Group
has an unconditional right to receive cash if the Grantor
contractually guarantees to pay the Group (a) specified or
determinable amounts or (b) the shortfall, if any, between
amounts received from users of the public service and
specified or determinable amounts, even if the payment is
contingent on the Group ensuring that the infrastructure
meets the specified quality of efficiency requirements.
The financial asset (receivable under a service concession
arrangement) is accounted for in accordance with the
policy set out for “Investments and other financial assets”
below.

An intangible asset (operating concession) is recognised to
the extent that the Group receives a right to charge users
of the public service, which is not an unconditional right to
receive cash because the amounts are contingent on the
extent that the public uses the service. The intangible asset
(operating concession) is accounted for in accordance with
the policy set out for “Intangible assets” below.

If the Group is paid partly by a financial asset and partly by
an intangible asset, each component of the consideration
is accounted for separately and the consideration received
or receivable for both components shall be recognised
initially at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable.
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2.5 Material accounting policies (Continued) 25 BEAEFEE (#)

Service concession arrangements (Continued)
Construction and rehabilitation services

Revenue and costs relating to construction and
rehabilitation services are accounted for in accordance
with the policy set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

Sewage and reclaimed water treatment services

Revenue relating to sewage and reclaimed water treatment
services is accounted for in accordance with the policy for
“Revenue recognition” below and the costs for the services
are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

Contractual obligations to restore the infrastructure to
a specified level of serviceability

The Group has contractual obligations which it must
fulfil as a condition of its licence, that is (a) to maintain
the infrastructures it operates to a specified level of
serviceability and/or (b) to restore the infrastructures to
a specified condition before they are handed over to the
Grantor at the end of the service concession arrangement.
These contractual obligations to maintain or restore
the infrastructures, except for any upgrade element, are
recognised and measured in accordance with the policy
set out for “Provisions” below.
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2.5 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed
for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period
and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a
finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year
end.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal or when
no future economic benefits are expected from its use
or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in profit or loss in the period the intangible
asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
intangible asset.

Operating concessions

Operating concessions representing the rights to operate
sewage and reclaimed water treatment and water
distribution plants are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation is provided on the straight-line basis over the
respective periods of the operating concessions granted to
the Group of 30 years.

Computer software

Purchased computer software licence is stated at cost less
any impairment losses and is amortised on the straight-line
basis over its estimated useful life of 2 to 5 years.

Other assets

Other assets represent residential properties held for sale
under an arrangement with a customer as detailed in note
20 to the financial statements. These other assets being
received as settlement of certain trade receivables from a
customer, is initially recognised at fair value. Subsequent
to the initial recognition, other assets are stated at cost less
any impairment losses.
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2.5 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases. The
Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments
and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets.

(a)  Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before
the commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Where applicable, the cost of a right-of-use
asset also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset or to restore the
underlying asset or the site on which it is located.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Buildings 2 to 5 years
Plant and machinery 2 to 3 years
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2.5 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful
life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The
lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease
incentives receivable, variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The
lease payments also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised
by the Group and payments of penalties for
termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option to terminate the lease.
The variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as an expense
in the period in which the event or condition that
triggers the payment occurs.
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2.5 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

(©

128 CR Construction Group Holdings Limited

Lease liabilities (Continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date because the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
After the commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments made.
In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities
is remeasured if there is a modification, a change
in the lease term, a change in lease payments
(e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option). Lease
payments on short-term leases are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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2.5 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of its
leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each component on
a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income
is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease
term and is included in revenue in profit or loss due to its
operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease
term on the same basis as rental income.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee are accounted for as finance leases.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.
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2.5 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset
at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI")
on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with
cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at
fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model.
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2.5 Material accounting policies (Continued) 25 BEASFEE (&)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group's business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are
held within a business model with the objective to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to
collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business
models are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.

RERHEMEMEE (&)

AN BB KB (&)
AEEERSREENFEHENE
HnmERESREENEERE
mE - EBEARERERERSE
KEBREEHNRERE  HESH
BE  AMERE - REHERAD
BEGTEZEREERNBNAR
BeRBEENRRANRSREN
EGEATRE - MRAFEFTA
Hp2MRADBELAEBZERE
ERRBENREREORERER
HENEBEATHE - TER L
AERBEAFBAZCREENRA
FERABESBNMGE -

MER —RA T 58 I K18 P fEL
MHEARNEENSREERR
Tz 5 A (BIASE AR E X
HEEEEH)ER -

wmit B
SRARGRET BRTUT SR
T

BBERA BN EHEE (BF
ITA)

B A EN S REERRE
REENZETE - WAIREXRE
TE o BEERILRER - EFIR
B - et MR R P HER

FREAKEIERARAA - 2024FFH 131




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

M¥BHmRMeE 2

31 December 2024 —FE=—M#E+=H=+—H

25 EREFEE#)

2.5 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group's
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without
material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group's continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an
associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.

132 CRConstruction Group Holdings Limited - Annual Report 2024

RIEBREREE

fHEEETHER - ETERIEFER
(AREAEBNEE MR RE S
RIEREE (K(WER) 2®E
EN—#So—HRLUESREEN

—H5) :

WERZEER & A
EEm X

AEBEEBREMDZEE
RengmgENtoAEZE
EARIER [ | 22 B Y B
MREREESAHITERR
XNFE=7: BQEA&HE
EEBEZEENBADOR
2 N2 [B1 97 » 35 (b) 7 &< 18 3 4
BEIREZEENBAI
DR KB B EEZ
BEH) I -

EAKECERVNEERSRE
BRI B AT S B R - AN
EHEEEERBEEMBENA
BN ERARRERE © HAKE
WEEZRNRBEENBRID R
BB NESEAEEENE
- AEBENAEERE2ES
REBERZEBREE - EUHER
T AKETEIAHEARE B8
BREENARAEREAHRBRAE
BRENENNETNEEFE -

S NRAE NIRRT X ES R
B RS REAERAREERA
8 AN BB EME 2
HBIEESHE -



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

M¥BHmRMeE 2

31 December2024 —ZFE-—PIF+—-HA=+—H

2.5 EARHEE (&)

2.5 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale
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of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are FEATREMEMEEAREEHME
integral to the contractual terms. HEmE o

General approach — 5%

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for iﬁ\ HEEEED MR ERETHE
which there has not been a significant increase in credit 7R E‘J’Q%ﬂﬁ%@wiﬂiﬁ?@%im
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit BEERRMS @ BHEEEER
losses that result from default events that are possible HFERARRI2E PR ANA]REZEEELD

within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those
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credit exposures for which there has been a significant HEEER) - ?f@?ﬂﬁhﬁﬁmi%&
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss BEZEMNEERRM S - T
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the IR EEAEEL - R TR »"REE/H\HW

remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of
the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information. The Group considers that
there has been a significant increase in credit risk when
contractual payments are more than 365 days past due.
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2.5 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 730 days past due. The Group
has rebutted the 90 days past due presumption of default
based on reasonable and supportable information,
including the Group’s credit risk control practices and
the historical recovery rate of financial assets over 90
days past due. However, the Group may also consider a
financial asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking
into account any credit enhancements held by the Group.
A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement of
ECLs except for trade receivables and contract assets which
apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Stage2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition but that are not credit-impaired
financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs

Stage3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired)
and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs
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2.5 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) SHMEERE (B)
Simplified approach B1ER %
For trade receivables, receivables and contract assets under HRTNESEARMEAKIDHE

service concession arrangements and contract assets that
do not contain a significant financing component or when
the Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under
the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based
on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
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For trade receivables, receivables and contract assets under %ﬁﬁ’\’éﬁ Kr‘aﬂﬁfﬁ&*ﬁ H FE UL
service concession arrangements and contract assets that BORIE - BT TRE

contain a significant financing component, the Group
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chooses as its accounting policy to adopt the simplified AREBEE D B BOREAGE T
approach in calculating ECLs with policies as described ERTETEHEEBREAE SR
above. R e

Financial liabilities EMEE

Initial recognition and measurement WX BRER G E

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as TRIBERVIPEREDEAEENK
loans and borrowings and payables, as appropriate. RERKENKIE(ER) -

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net
of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and retention
payables, financial liabilities included in other payables and
accruals, interest-bearing bank borrowings and balances
and loans due to group companies.
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2.5 Material accounting policies (Continued) 25 BEAEFEE (#)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other
payables, and (borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and
interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of
a new liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.5 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial
position comprise cash on hand and at banks, and
short-term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of
generally within three months that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value and held for the purpose of meeting
short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, and short-term deposits as defined above,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be
reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate
asset, but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain.
The expense relating to a provision is presented in the
statement of profit or loss net of any reimbursement.
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2.5 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Provisions (Continued)

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

The Group provides for warranties in relation to the
provision of construction services for general repairs of
defects occurring during the warranty period. Provisions
for these assurance-type warranties granted by the Group
are initially recognised based on sales volume and past
experience of the level of repairs and returns, discounted
to their present values as appropriate. The warranty-related
cost is revised annually.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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2.5 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable

temporary differences, except:

when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in
a transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible

temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax

credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are

recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable

profit will be available against which the deductible

temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax

credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and
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2.5 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.
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2.5 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grants relates to an expenses
item, it is recognized as income on a systematic basis
over the period that the costs, for which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released to
profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant
asset by equal annual instalments or deducted from the
carrying amount of the asset and released to profit or loss
by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated
to which the Group will be entitled in exchange for
transferring the goods or services to the customer. The
variable consideration is estimated at contract inception
and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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2.5 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is measured at
the present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and
the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group
with a significant financial benefit for more than one
year, revenue recognised under the contract includes the
interest expense accreted on the contract liability under
the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the
transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or
less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.

(a)  Building construction works and RMAA works

Revenue from building construction works and
RMAA works are recognised when or as the
control of the asset is transferred to the customer.
Depending on the terms of the contracts and the
laws that apply to the contract, control of the asset
may transfer over time or at a point in time. Control
of the asset is transferred over time if the Group’s

performance:

(i) provides all of the benefits received and

consumed simultaneously by the customer; or

(i)  creates and enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs; or
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2.5 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued) Rk (&)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) HEFWEA W (&)
(@) Building construction works and RMAA works (@) H#EFEZETIERRMAAL IE

(Continued) (&)

(iii) does not create an asset with an alternative (i) WAREBE—IBAIHEAE
use to the Group and the Group has an ERAREMBERAEDN
enforceable right to payment for performance BE WEARSEHESR
completed to date. eSS BIEE TR

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue
is recognised over the period of the contract
by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the asset.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation of a construction contract
is measured based on one of the following methods
that best depicts the Group's performance in
satisfying the performance obligation:

(i) direct measurements of the value transferred
by the Group to the customer; or

(i)  the Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction
of the performance obligation relative to the
total expected efforts or inputs.

For building construction works contracts and
RMAA works contracts, the Group's performance
creates or enhances an asset or work in progress
that the customer controls as the asset is created
or enhanced and thus the Group satisfies a
performance obligation and recognises revenue over

time.
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2.5 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(a)

(b)

144  CR Construction Group Holdings Limited

Building construction works and RMAA works
(Continued)

Claims to customers are amounts that the
Group seeks to collect from the customers as
reimbursement of costs and margins for scope
of works not included in the original building
construction works contracts and RMAA works
contracts. Claims are accounted for as variable
consideration and constrained until it is highly
probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not
occur when the associated uncertainty with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
The Group uses the most likely amount method to
estimate the amounts of claims because this method
best predicts the amount of variable consideration to
which the Group will be entitled.

Construction and rehabilitation services for
environmental related facilities

For construction and rehabilitation services, the
Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
or work in progress that the customer controls as
the asset is created or enhanced and thus the Group
satisfies a performance obligation and recognises

revenue over time.

Revenue from construction and rehabilitation
services under a service concession arrangement is
estimated on a cost plus basis with reference to a
prevailing market rate of gross margin at the date of
the agreement applicable to similar construction and
rehabilitation services rendered.
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2.5 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
(c)  Sewage and reclaimed water treatment services

Revenue is recognised over the service period when
the customers simultaneously receive and consume
the benefits over the period of the services rendered
by the Group.

(d)  Water distribution services

The Group recognises revenue from water
distribution services at the point in time when
control of the water is transferred to the customer,
generally when the customer obtains the physical
possession or the legal title of the water and the
Group has a present right to payment and the
collection of the consideration is probable.

Revenue from other sources

Finance income from service concession arrangements is
recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest
method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate,
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset.
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2.5 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Contract assets

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to
a customer before being unconditionally entitled to the
consideration under the contract terms, a contract asset is
recognised for the earned consideration that is conditional.
Contract assets are subject to impairment assessment,
details of which are included in the accounting policies for
impairment of financial assets. They are reclassified to trade
receivables when the right to the consideration becomes
unconditional.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from
a customer before the Group transfers the related goods
or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
when the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers
control of the related goods or services to the customer).

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories,
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs
incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are capitalised
as an asset if all of the following criteria are met:

(@) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an
anticipated contract that the entity can specifically
identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the
entity that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing
to satisfy) performance obligations in the future.

(c)  The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged
to profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with
the transfer to the customer of the goods or services to
which the assets relates. Other contract costs are expensed
as incurred.
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2.5 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the "MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for certain of its employees. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to the statement of profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary which
operates in Mainland China are required to participate
in a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. Contributions are made based
on the requirements of the respective local municipal
government. The contributions are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Defined benefit plan

The Group's statutory obligation to pay long service
payment is a defined benefit plan. The cost of providing
benefits relating to long service payment is determined
using the projected unit credit method. The liability
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position in respect of long service payment is the net
obligation, representing the present value of the future
long service payment benefits reduced by entitlements
from accrued benefits arising from MPF contributions
made by the Group.
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2.5 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’'s memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority to
declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends
are recognised immediately as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each
entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group
are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of
monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.
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2.5 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at
fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain
or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit
or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the
end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of
these entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rate prevailing at the end of the reporting period
and their statements of profit or loss is translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates that approximate
to those prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange fluctuation reserve, except to the extent that the
differences are attributable to non-controlling interests. On
disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount in
the reserve relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the
dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of
overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average
exchange rate for the year.
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The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group has applied the following judgements that
significantly affect the determination of the amount and timing
of revenue from contracts with customers:

(a) Determining the progress of building construction
works contracts and RMAA works contracts

Revenue from building construction works contracts and
RMAA works contracts is measured in accordance with
progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligations. The progress is determined based on direct
measurements of the value of units delivered or surveys
of work performed or based on the proportion of the
actual costs incurred relative to the estimated total
costs for satisfaction of the building construction works
contracts and RMAA works contracts. This involves the use
of management judgements and estimation uncertainty,
including estimating the progress towards completion
of the services, scope of services required, total contract
costs incurred, direct measurements of the value of units
delivered or surveys of work performed, valuing contract
variations, claims and potential liquidated damages and
forecasts in relation to costs to complete.
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Judgements (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(6)

Determining the method to estimate variable
consideration and assessing the constraint for building
construction works contracts and RMAA works
contracts

The Group seeks to collect claims from the customers as
reimbursement of costs and margins for scope of works
not included in the original building construction works
contracts and RMAA works contracts, which give rise to
variable consideration. The Group has determined that the
most likely amount method is the appropriate method to
be used in estimating the variable consideration for claims
in building construction works contracts and RMAA works
contracts, given there is a wide range of possible outcomes
which are subject to negotiations with third parties.

Before including any amount of variable consideration in
the transaction price, the Group considers whether the
amount of variable consideration is constrained. The Group
determined that the estimates of variable consideration
are not constrained based on its historical experience,
current negotiations with customers, profitability of the
head contracts of the customers and the current economic
conditions.
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Judgements (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(c)

152 CR Construction Group Holdings Limited

Determination of fair value of contract revenue in
respect of the construction and rehabilitation services
for environmental related facilities under service
concessions arrangements

Revenue from the construction and rehabilitation of
sewage and reclaimed water treatment plants under
service concession arrangement includes Build-Operate-
Transfer ("BOT") and Rehabilitation-Operate-Transfer
(“ROT") contracts is estimated on a cost-plus basis with
reference to a prevailing market rate of gross margin at
the date of agreement applicable to similar construction
services rendered in a similar location, and is recognised
on the percentage-of-completion method, measured
by reference to the proportion of costs incurred to date
to the estimated total cost of the relevant contract. The
construction and rehabilitation margin is determined
based on the gross profit margins of market comparables
by identifying relevant peer groups, which are listed on
various stock exchanges in the world. Criteria for selection
include:

(i) the peer firm must be in the field of the construction
and rehabilitation of infrastructure, majoring in
sewage and reclaimed water treatment facilities in
the PRC; and

(i)  information of the peer firm must be available and
from a reliable source.
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Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
and contract assets from construction operations

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables and contract assets. The provision rates are based on
days past due for groupings of various customer segments that
have similar loss patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e.,
gross domestic product) are expected to deteriorate over the
next year which can lead to an increased number of defaults in
the construction sector, the historical default rates are adjusted.
At each reporting date, the historical observed default rates
are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The Group's
historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic
conditions may also not be representative of a customer’s actual
default in the future.

The information about the ECLs on the Group's trade receivables
and contract assets is disclosed in notes 18 and 17 to the
financial statements, respectively.
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Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Variable considerations for claims to customers

The Group estimates variable considerations for claims to be
included in the transaction price for building construction works
contracts and RMAA works contracts.

The Group estimates the most likely claims amount by using
the historical claims data including historical experiences with
the same or current customer of a similar profile, historical
experience for claims of a similar nature, profitability of the head
contracts of the customers and economic conditions. The most
likely claims amounts are applied to determine the variable
considerations included in the transaction price. Any significant
changes in experience as compared to the historical successful
claims pattern will impact the most likely claims amounts
estimated by the Group.

The Group updates its assessment of most likely claims every two
months. Estimates of most likely claims are sensitive to changes
in circumstances and the Group's past experience regarding
negotiation of claims may not be representative of the actual
outcome in the future.

Annual Report 2024

fhET FREM (&)
BEFRRNATEKE

AEB G - BRAA]EREETAE
FREATEASLYRRMAATIRAHNNZ S
’f;gi o

AEEFERELHFRBE (BEEMER
HBUNREEFHNEL LR  BEH
RRNELER TPITAONANEE
AREBERR) B RAERREHE
ZERAEFRTEARNEERZEARAN
AERE - BELKINBREXNBLH
ENEREYHFEASEBTHRA

AEEEMEAEMEHRAELERRS
BORHE - XATRER RSB GEET
ZEEORGT MAKEEBEFHR
MBEEERUBARRRERER



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

M¥BHmRMeE 2

31 December 2024

—F-@mFEF—_A=+—H

For management purposes, the Group is organised into RENER  AEEREBEEERRRD

business units based on their products and services and has two EDEBEMN  WHNLTMET 2R

reportable operating segments as follows: EHEp

(i)  The construction operations segment engages in contract () BEXBHIH £&F - FRAR
works as a main contractor primarily in respect of building MABEREAREANRESHNT
construction works and RMAA works in Hong Kong, 2 EESREFEERRVMAAT

Malaysia and the United Kingdom.
(i)  The environmental operations segment engages in
construction, rehabilitation and operation of sewage
and reclaimed water treatment plants as well as water
distribution plants and other environmental related
facilities and infrastructure in the PRC.

Management monitors the results of the Group's operating

(e

RREBDE - EHEEER
B8 S B 257K R B A 7K B 1 IR A
Ko BE 7K b B A BRI AE B A e B
**nﬁﬁ

(ii)

\:u:u

BEEEHAKERE D BOREET

segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about BEE - LMEREIRD @E&ﬁﬁuﬁﬁ{’ﬁﬁ
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment RER o DEPRIBRIEAI 23R D 2w A,

performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax. The

BETTRHE - L AERBRB RGN,
B —IE AR - [CTEETEIRE

adjusted profit/loss is measured consistently with the Group's REBRBADAN At ERE—B - HF
profit before tax except that interest income, corporate and other BUYA - rEREMASERAEZ - BLEK
unallocated expenses, finance costs (other than interest on lease $(7F’F]%ﬁ =8 &R REEEERm
liabilities and discounted amounts of retention payables arising EENENRESURSEHNE) TE
from the passage of time) are excluded from such measurement. BEFEZA -

Segment assets exclude balances/loans with related parties, tax DHWEETRITABABINEHR B
recoverable and deferred tax assets, as these assets are managed o AJREHEREEREEE R
on a group basis. RREEEDNEERERETER
Segment liabilities exclude balances/loans with related parties, DEBBETREEBHINER B
interest-bearing bank borrowings, tax payable and deferred tax o FFERITER E’EHT‘RIE&Z@L%R
liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group basis. HEE REEZSBENUNEERE

TETEIRER -

There were no material intersegmental sales and transfers during
the reporting period.

2 e £

RBEMRAL ESAND BEHE R
i_:_uu
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MBHmRMeE 2

31 December 2024 —FE=—M#E+=H=+—H

4. Operating segment information (Continued) 4, RBEFWER @)

Construction Environmental
Year ended 31 December operations operations Total

BETCR=t-ALFE BEXR RRER #it

204 2003 2024 2024

ZRCRE -T-ZF ZRCRF “T-F CRORF
HK$'000  HKSOOD  HK§'000  HKSOOD  HKS$'000  HKSO0
Tin TR Tin TAL Tién TAL

Segment revenue (10te 5] ABWE (His)

Sales to exteral customers HEFIHIER 5926563 5231681 139,474 238719 6,066,037 5445560
Segment results PHEE 107,267 130791 23,100 19,110 130,367 149,901
Reconciliation: e

Interest income HEMA 1,366 1932
Corporate and other unallocated expenses CEREBRARRY (10,201) (23958)

Finance costs (other than interest on lease RERA(TREREREHNER
liabilities and discounted amounts of retention ~~ REHEBMELNERRES

payables arsing from passage of time) EREEMHE) (40,988) (42974
Profit before tax BHaaH 80,544 84,901
Income tax expense FEmEY (26,594) (12676)
Profit for the year ERgT 53,950 72005

156 CR Construction Group Holdings Limited «  Annual Report 2024



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MBHmRMeE 2

31 December 2024 —FE=—#E+=H=+—H

4. Operating segment information (Continued) 4, BREHWER »)

Construction Environmental
As at 31 December operations operations Total

Rt=A=1-H BERK RRER

2024 03 2024 2024
“BCmE -TCZF CZBIME -TCSE ZBIME

HK$'000 HG000  HKS'000 HS000  HK$'000 K000

TR Tin TR T THR T

Segment assets AHEE 4238966 357697 560,513 19303 4799479 407019
Reconciliation: Gk -
Amounts due from intermediate holding R HEERAFRE

companies 6,322 6,744
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries EURFEZNEARTE 43,276 45,288
Tax recoverable AREHE 2,032 1726
Deferred tax assets EEREEE 5,073 7407
Total assets g 4856182 413135
Segment liabilities PH8E 3337560 2598618 177,012 171698 35145712 2770316
Reconciliation: Gk
Amounts due to an intermediate holding Ef—MrEERAAZE

company 3,001 9143
Amounts due to the immediate holding company  [Eff B IR A FIFUB 11,000 -
Amounts due to fellow subsidaries ERAZNEARZE 12,613 15,804
Loans from intermediate holding companies ~ REFRHERATNHER 80,521 74143
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FERIRH 534,164 415583
Tax payable EfHE 23,854 10534
Deferred tax liabilites ELHEERE 564 93
Total labiltes aaf 4180289 3496506
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MBHmRMeE 2

31 December 2024 —FE=—M#E+=H=+—H

4, BESIMEHR =)

Construction

4. Operating segment information (Continued)

Environmental
Year ended 31 December

BET-A=t-HLEE

[ EE

BEXR

operations Total

RRER it

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

ZECmE ZTZ=f ZBIME -ERCCE ZBIME -EC-CE
HK$000 HKS000  HK$'000 HKS000  HKS$'000 HK$'000
T L TiEn T T T

Other segment information A HER
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ~ #1% + B Rk
REGNE 10,113 8754 802 893 10,915 9647
Depreciation of right-of-use assets PREZENE 21,978 216 92 161 22,070 2377
Amortisation of operating concession righs BERER - - 1,368 1,385 1,368 1,385
Amortisation of other intangible assets AfEVEERS - - 139 8 139 8
Impairment of recelvables and contract assets RIS FFERH T HERFE
under service concession arrangements RENEENE - - 34 - 34 -
Impaiment/(reversal of impaiment) of rade B HZVERIE/
feceivables (HE&E) (9,173) 1,968 344 977 (8,829) 2945
Impairment of contract assets ANBENE 54,156 2316 642 1,486 54,798 3,802
Impairment of other assefs AfEERE 8,941 - - - 8,941 -
Capital expenditure EREX 6,456 7,941 504 375 6,960 8316
Geographical information i 3 & Rl
(@) Revenue from external customers (@) FREIMIPEFE R WKE
2024
—E-mEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT T
Hong Kong BB 5,098,983 4513,815
Mainland China AR A 3 139,474 213,879
Malaysia SRR 163,405 168,877
United Kingdom B 664,175 548,989
Total revenue U s 6,066,037 5,445,560

FRREERDERETP AL S

the customers. Al o

The revenue information above is based on the locations of
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MBHmRMeE 2

31 December 2024 —FE=—#E+=H=+—H

4. Operating segment information (continued) 4, BREHWER »)
Geographical information (Continued) i3 & R
(b) Non-current assets (b) ¥FRBEE
2024
—EmF
HK$’000
FHET
Hong Kong BB 70,852 59,638
Mainland China R B A 3l 33,040 35,675
Malaysia B Ry 1,096 1,791
United Kingdom [ 2,215 3,603
Total non-current assets ERBEELE 107,203 100,707
The non-current asset information of above is based on the FHEREEEE R I ENEERN
locations of the assets and excludes financial instruments EHES - BETBEEERmIANE
and deferred tax assets. EFHIEEEE ©
Information about major customers ERFEEFNEHR
Revenue from each major customer which accounted for 10% or REHREHRE - KA MhAE B =E10%
more of the Group's revenue for each reporting period is set out SN NS EEFPHREESOT ¢
below:

2024

—ENF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FE T THT
Customer A ZPA 1,090,399 *
Customer B =FB 818,125 @
Customer C EFEC ® 671,898
Customer D ZFED * 547492

o Nil or less than 10% of the Group’s revenue @ 4 of (G AN & B W as D 7R 10%
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MBHmRMeE 2

31 December 2024 —FE=—M#E+=H=+—H

5. Revenue and other income 5. WERHEMUMA
An analysis of revenue is as follows: Was BT -
2024 2023
—E-mEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FAE T
Revenue from contracts with customers LS )0 6,055,107 5,436,917
Revenue from other source H b )5 79 75
Finance income from service concession RERBEEFEZHENRE
arrangements WA 10,930 8,643
Total FE 6,066,037 5,445,560
Revenue from contracts with customers EFEHNWE
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (@) 2IK=FEER
2024 2023
—E-mE
HKS$'000 HK$'000
THE T F& 7T
(A) Types of goods or services (A) EmS R ER
Construction operations segment BEEEK S
Building construction works BEFEETIE 5,414,578 4,703,000
RMAA works RMAATL 2 511,985 528,681
5,926,563 5,231,681
Environmental operations segment BREED
Construction and rehabilitation RIREBE R BRI EE &
services for environmental related BERK
facilities 27,274 128,874
Sewage and reclaimed water VAR R B A KR IR RS
treatment services 92,891 68,717
Water distribution services B 7K AR 75 8,379 7,645
128,544 205,236
Total revenue from contracts with EF & LRI AE N 7
customers 6,055,107 5,436,917
Revenue from other sources i KRB Wz
Finance income from service KA RS FELTHE
concession arrangements B B & WA 10,930 8,643
Total revenue g 6,066,037 5,445,560
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

M558

31 December 2024

5. Revenue and other income (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(B)

(9]

*RPIRE (=

—EFEopFEf+=—A=4+—H

5. WEREMUEBA 2

BEFENHWE (&)

(a) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued) (@) 2DIKEER (&)
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHET
Geographical markets (B) th ¥ 11 35
Hong Kong BE
Construction operations segment EEEE D 5,098,983 4,513,815
Mainland China R 3 A3t
Environmental operations segment RIREE D E 128,544 205,236
Malaysia R it
Construction operations segment BEEB S 163,405 168,877
United Kingdom
Construction operations segment BEEKS Y 664,175 548,989
Total revenue from contracts with & B
customers 6,055,107 5,436,917
Revenue from other sources H Ml 55 B W
Finance income from service KB A B A b A AR 1
concession arrangements from HHETENRE
Mainland China 10,930 8,643
Total revenue B 6,066,037 5,445,560
Timing of revenue recognition  (C) T2 UK 25 HY B Bh
Goods transferred at a point in time RE-—FHHEENE M
Environmental operations segment RIREREDE 8,379 7,645
Services transferred over time A —ER I ) N 85 7% A
R
Construction operations segment REREE D E 5,926,563 5,231,681
Environmental operations segment IRIRETE D =B 120,165 197,591
6,046,728 5,429,272
Total revenue from contracts with FF & A B8
customers 6,055,107 5,436,917
Revenue from other sources H ity 5 694 7
Finance income from service R B AR % R R 2 HE
concession arrangements B RLE WA 10,930 8,643
Total revenue B 6,066,037 5,445,560

ELEEEEITERARAR
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MBHmRMeE 2

31 December 2024 —FE=—M#E+=H=+—H

5. Revenue and other income (Continued) 5. IWSXREMUA &)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) EFEHNWE (&)
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued) (@ 2DIKZEER (&)
The following table shows the amounts of revenue TR AR E B B B A A
recognised in the current reporting period that were BER B AR AR HRE
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of Mt AGHEENKEESE :

the reporting period and recognised from performance
obligations satisfied in previous periods:

2024 2023
—EF —E—=F

HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT TAET

Revenue recognised that was included in A& I A S LB B
contract liabilities at the beginning of B R
the reporting period:
Building construction works and RMAA 122 58 T 72 MRMAA T 2
works 248,010 59,114

2024 2023
ol 2 3 —TE =4

HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TAET

Revenue recognised from performance  BBAHF D EXKEHEE
obligations satisfied in previous periods:  FrigE R A Y 25
Building construction works and RMAA @7 A S EE =R 41
works previously not recognised due to ~ RERMEFEEIRER
constraints on variable consideration RMAATL 2 92,446 134,118
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M¥BHmRMeE 2

31 December 2024 —FE—pJE+=-H=+—H

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(b)

Performance obligations

Information about the Group's performance obligations is
summarised below:

Building construction works and RMAA works

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due within
14 to 45 days from the date of billing. A certain percentage
of payment is retained by customers until the end of the
retention period as the Group's entitlement to the final
payment is conditional on the satisfaction of the service
quality by the customers over a certain period as stipulated
in the contracts.

Construction and rehabilitation services for
environmental related facilities

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is due 60 days to 180
days from the date of billing.

Sewage and reclaimed water treatment services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is due 60 days to 180
days from completion of the services.

Water distribution services

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of
water and payment is generally due 60 days to 180 days
from the date of billing.

BEFENHWE (&)

(b)

ELEEEEITERARAR

BHEE

RSB EAT TR E R a0
™

EFTEZETERRMAATL
BAR EREERERBMER © {
FEENFEBBB14E458 N E
H o A S EERRR S KA
FEUARE FES A ERRER
HRBESmEEME @ HEP
ERE—ELMNNFEZREH
HERAEILE -

REWEHR B ERR EERE

BAE EREERE RIS MERK 17
A Z B H#60E 180 H N EIH] o

JTIK R BB AL K R R

[BAE EREERE RIS M ER 17
TR RS0 1808 M HF -

Bk AR

B HE ER A KRR ER « 3K
BERFAZBHL0OE1808 A E
,Hﬂ o
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MBHmRMeE 2

31 December 2024 —FE=—M#E+=H=+—H

5. Revenue and other income (Continued) 5. IWSXREMUA &)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) EFEHNWE (&)
(b) Performance obligations (Continued) (b) BHEME(E)
The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the BRI AZ+—BHOREHTEY
remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially BEE(CREBITTRIY RERETT)
unsatisfied) as at 31 December are as follows: MR ZERSEEEOT :
2024 2023
—E-E =E= =4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T
Amounts expected to be recognised THEmER AR E Y €& ¢
as revenue:
Within one year —F R 7,085,835 6,891,254
After one year —F1& 14,325,095 10,656,232
21,410,930 17,547,486
The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the PEEHRTRAVEMT GEFTR—F
remaining performance obligations which are expected ‘ERRBER) 2R G5 BEERSEHE
to be recognised as revenue after one year is related EFEETE RRMAAT 2 A R IR
to building construction works and RMAA works and 3 AE A A% e B FE 2 M B 1B AR H5 AR
construction and rehabilitation services for environmental B HBASEEHENRNENETT -
related facilities of which the performance obligations are PEERTBANEFEZAEEMI
to be satisfied within four years. All the other amounts of SEBERESEET BN —FAERR
transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance Iz o EXHRBERNSBIEIEXE
obligations are expected to be recognised as revenue HRE AT ERE -

within one year. The amounts disclosed above do not
include variable consideration which is constrained.
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MBHmRMeE 2

31 December 2024 —FE=—#E+=H=+—H

5. Revenue and other income (Continued) 5. WESREMUA &)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) EFEHNHWE (&)
(b) Performance obligations (Continued) (b) BREMFE (&)
2024 2023
—E 4 —E-=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FAT
Other income Heg A
Bank interest income RITHBHA 1,366 1,088
Interest income from aloan to a fellow A F—RRERXMBRARHNE
subsidiary A BN - 844
Insurance compensation RS E 5,701 7,700
Government grants (note) RS B (A7 a2) 506 1,322
Others =i} 1,452 2,272
Total other income H b Yg A 4858 9,025 13,226
Note: Being subsidies for the incurred operating expenses arising Bt . AT A A RBA AR
from research and development activities provided by EEAELAMBERLCERT
The People’s Government of Zhejiang Province. There are R MHEL - XS MW E
no unfilled conditions or contingencies related to these HBZRERIEHERHAE
subsidies. I o
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MBHmRMeE 2

31 December2024 —ZFE-—PIF+—-HA=+—H

The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ N5 B BR B AT s R TS0k (BT A KA
(crediting): T & IBEED
2024 2023
—E P4 —E-=F
HK$’'000 HKS$'000
FET T T
Contract costs B KA 5,712,805 5,139,569
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #13% & Kk R &HITE 10,915 9,647
Less: Amount included in contract costs W EFAG R AR 25 (4,842) (2,262)
Amount included in administrative expenses =+ AT B Sz B & 58 6,073 7,385
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CRAEEENSE 22,070 22,377
Less: Amount included in contract costs B EF AR AR AR & RE (6,668) (6,870)
Amount included in administrative expenses =+ ATE R X B0 & %8 15,402 15,507
Amortisation of operating concession rights SEAB KIS 2 B i E
included in contract costs B H 1,368 1,385
Amortisation of other intangible assets H i #E B 7 5 139 82
Less: Amount included in contract costs W ETARHR AN EE (67) 3)
Amount included in administrative expenses =+ AT R X B & %8 72 79
Lease payments not included in the WEGAGEHEEEZH
measurement of lease liabilities Bt 70,922 52,961
Less: Amount included in contract costs B ET AR HKAR SR (67,479) (51,499)
Amount included in administrative expenses =+ A{TE Bz B & 58 3,443 1,462
Employee benefit expense (including directors’ {E E@FIF X (BIFEE E 5
remuneration): ) -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind He R EYEF 489,931 449,303
Pension scheme contributions RIRGHEIE R 21,596 25,717
511,527 475,020
Less: Amount included in contract costs N WA= ) BN ek (427,787) (375,286)
Amount included in administrative expenses =+ AT RSz B & %8 83,740 99,734
Auditor’s remuneration 1% B4 = B 4,990 4,831
Impairment of receivables and contract assets  BR7E 45 & A€ 22 HE T B9 & IR
under service concession arrangements* HEENEERE 34 -
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of trade ~ FEUE 5 X ERE, CRE
receivables* (o)) * (8,829) 2,945
Impairment of contract assets* BB ERE 54,798 3,802
Impairment of other assets** H & 2 R (B 8,941 -
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of property, HEDE  BEKLKREIER
plant and equipment, net** B8, (U ) B 5 591 (607)
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MBHmRMeE 2

31 December2024 —ZFE-—PIF+—-HA=+—H

6.

Profit before tax (Continued) 6. BRFAIEF &)
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ ANEE R = A &30k (FEA) A
(crediting): (Continued) TRIBHBERN: (&)
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET T T
Loss on madification of leases** BRI HE 2 B iE** - 39
Foreign exchange differences, net** HINEE [ bF 2= BB R (2,374) 1,937
Research and development expenses*** T 3% B = o0 20,074 17,510
o These items are included in “Impairment of financial assets, net” on J ZEBEBIAGEERRTH[/mE
the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss. EREFRE]
**  These items are included in “Other operating expenses, net” on the * ZEHBIAGEBEKRTPO[EML
face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss. ERSOFRE] o
***  Research and development expenses are included in o BRI IIAGREBERPHITEREA
“administrative expenses” on the face of the consolidated X1

statement of profit or loss.
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MBHmRMeE 2

31 December 2024 —FE=—M#E+=H=+—H

7. Finance costs 7. MBERAE
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BMEXANDTAT
2024 2023
S 111 -3 —E-=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FERT FHET
Interest on bank loans RITERFE 38,449 30,598
Interest on loans from intermediate KB REERAFHERFE
holding companies 2,539 12,376
Interest in discounted amounts of & s R HE RS 1 2 A Y FE TR BB
retention payables arising from SRS EHNF L
the passage of time 22,382 8,507
Interest on lease liabilities HEAERNE 2,450 1,168
Total et 65,820 52,649
8. Directors’ and chief executive’s 8. EEREFATBAGEM
remuneration
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the BiE EmHRA - BB RQEERI383(1))
Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong b QROEERA AR (REEEFHRE
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of B RO 280 5 5R v A F R = = H
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows: T

2024

ZEZNF

HK$'000

FHET
Fees e 1,201 1,428

Other emoluments: HE i :

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EBEREYRET 7,390 6,468
Performance related bonuses BERAERTEAL 1,328 2,048
Pension scheme contributions RIRG SR 78 366
Subtotal /INEE 8,796 8,882
Total et 9,997 10,310
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MBHmRMeE 2

31 December 2024 —FE=—#E+=H=+—H

8. Directors’ and chief executive’s 8. EERESTHAETHH =
remuneration (Continued)
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BIAFHITEE
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors REEAN  ENBULIERTESZ
during the year were as follows: W
2024 2023
“E-WE —T=%F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
THET FAT
The Honourable Tse Wai Chun Paul Jp HEBEE(IEEREE)
(R¥F4t) 300 300
Mr. Ho Man Yiu Ivan B E T A 300 300
Mr. Lau Pak Shing (note (a)) B0'E Kot (H i @) 200 300
Mr. Lai Yuk Fai Stephen Je (note (c)) BB S (KRF4 L)
(K13t () 300 228
Ms. Dong Yuk Lai Petrina (note (b)) BB (Mi7b) 101 -
Total HEt 1,201 1,128
Notes: Hiat -
(@  Mr. Lau Pak Shing resigned as an independent @ BEKEER-_ZT-_NENA=1+—
non-executive director of the Company on 31 August 2024. ABEARARABILIERITES -
(b)  Ms. Dong Yuk Lai Petrina was appointed as an independent b)) EHEZTR-_Z-_MENA=1+—
non-executive director of the Company on 31 August 2024. AEZEARNRBYIERITES -
(c) Mr. Lai Yuk Fai Stephen JP was appointed as an independent (@ BEELE (KFMTIN_F_=F
non-executive director of the Company on 28 March 2023. SAZHN\BEZERAREELIFE
HITES -
There were no other emoluments payable to the REEA - WA ENTE L IENITE
independent non-executive directors during the year Er e (ZTEZ=F : £&) -
(2023: Nil).
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31 December 2024 —FE=—M#E+=H=+—H

8. Directors’ and chief executive’s 8. EENEBSITHAEEHM =
remuneration (Continued)
(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors (b) MITEERIHITES

Salaries,

allowances  Performance Pension

and benefits related scheme

in kind bonuses  contributions Total

% RER &% &

i BNEN RERA sTEBRK )
HK$'000 HKS000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TiEx TR TR TR

170

2024 —E-pE
Executive directors: HITEE -
Mr. Guan Manyu ERMFELE - 378 208 - 586
Mr. Li Kar Yin FEERE - 3,235 756 - 3,991
Mr. Chan Tak Yiu RERLE - 2,707 270 78 3,055
Subtotal NG - 6,320 1,234 78 7,632
Non-executive directors: EHITEE
Mr. Yang Haojiang (note (a)) BETELEWHe) - 1,070 94 - 1,164
Ms. Ding Shaojian (note (b)) ToRImL (Hitn) = = - - -
Mr. Fan Jingbo (note (b)) BEREE (WD) - - = S -
Subtotal et - 1,070 94 - 1,164
Total =t - 7,390 1,328 78 8,796
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MBHmRMeE 2

31 December2024 —ZFE-—PIF+—-HA=+—H

8. Directors’ and chief executive’s 8. EENERAITTHABREMM
remuneration ( inued)
(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors (b) MITEERIHITESE (&)
(Continued)
Salaries,
allowances Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme
in kind bonuses  contributions Total
He 2R B RIK
ENET B BT @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
THT THRT THT THT TAT
2023 —B-ZF
Executive directors: HTEE:
Mr. Guan Manyu ERTEE - 668 683 70 1421
Mr. Li Kar Yin FRERE - 2857 1,065 213 4135
Ms. Chu Ping (note (c)) RERL (W) - 165 = 5 170
Mr. Law Ming Kin (note (c) ERREEWi0) - 471 - - 471
Mr. Chan Tak Yiu REREE - 2307 300 78 2,685
Subtotal it - 6,468 2048 366 8882
Non-executive directors: FHTEE -
Mr.Yang Haojiang BRIRL 300 - - - 300

Ms. Ding Shaojian (note (b)) T ekt (Hiie) = - - - -
Mr. Fan Jingbo (note (b)) BEREE WD) = = - - -

Subtotal Nt 300 - - - 300
Total @t 300 6,468 2048 366 9182
Notes: HtaE -

(@)  Mr. Yang Haojiang agreed to waive the director fee of @ BRILEREREERBE_T=-N
HK$300,000 in respect of his services as a director of the F+_A=+—HLFEEEARF
Company for the year ended 31 December 2024. EHATUENR E =+ £300,000% 7T °

(b)  Ms. Ding Shaojian and Mr. Fan Jingbo were appointed as b)) TLEIZTERBHFETER_T==
non-executive directors of the Company on 28 March 2023 F=ZAZT+\BEZERKRREFH
and resigned as non-executive directors of the Company on TEE YR _FT-_HWFA~A+—H
11 June 2024, BERRRIFERITES -

() Ms. Chu Ping and Mr. Law Ming Kin resigned as executive © KIEZTREVRREENR-_ZT==F
directors of the Company on 28 March 2023. AT N\BBREARANITES -

Save as disclosed above, there was no other arrangement M EXFTIREEI  RAFEN » &

under which a director or the chief executive waived or EEYURETHRABBERXRZNEST

agreed to waive any remuneration during the year. o] 38 B &) B fth 22 B o
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9. Five highest paid employees 9. HEESEHMES
The five highest paid employees during the year included two REEAN AEGREFHEEBERE
directors (2023: two directors), details of whose remuneration are BEFE(CT_=F MEBEF) Efe
set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the year IR EXPiES e AFEERN BT =%
of the remaining three (2023: three) non-director highest paid ZEI=F =) IEENmS T
employees for the year are as follows: EEMMeFBET :
2024
ZEZNF
HK$’'000 HKS$'000
FET T T
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind Ha o 2 NREYRET 7,700 7,139
Performance related bonuses EMFARATEAT 1,332 1,562
Pension scheme contributions RORET S 5K 143 145
Total et 9,175 8,846
The number of the non-director, highest paid employees whose MR TNIBENIFESSZS FME
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows: BMAEINT :

Number of employees

EEEEB
2024 2023
—E-MEF
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,000,001 7T £ 3,000,000 7T 2 2
HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,000,001 JT £4,000,0007% 7T 1 =
HK$4,000,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,000,001 7T 25,000,000/ JT - 1
Total Aot 3 3
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10. Income tax 10. Fr B

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the BVI, the Group is not subject to any income tax in the
Cayman Islands and the BVI. Hong Kong profits tax has been
provided at the rate of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) on the estimated
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year, except
for one subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying entity under
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The first HK$2,000,000
(2023: HK$2,000,000) of assessable profits of this subsidiary are
taxed at 8.25% (2023: 8.25%) and the remaining assessable profits
are taxed at 16.5% (2023: 16.5%). Taxes on profits assessable
elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in
the countries in which the Group operates.

BERAEHESREBEXESHHAAIR
EH AEEBEARRESEERABRE
LESHMEMAER - BEFEHT
RIBEANFE NEE B BREA & 5T R
HEME165% (ZE =4 : 16.5%) Bl XK
R A ER—REKB A RBRI -
ZA B RIS AR TS B R 8
EEE o ZMTEB A FE%£2,000,00077T (=
T — = £ : 2,000,0005 JT) B FE &R B ok
MIR8.25% (T = =4F : 825%) BB X
B HBRERBURAAIR165% (=T
Z=F 1 165%) R R o gt E b
FHERBAFBN R RAEE
EBEEMTEER 2 ERMEGTE -

2024
—EmF
HK$’000
FTHET
Current — Hong Kong BNER — &/
Charge for the year FRNZH 23,196 8,381
Underprovision/(overprovision) BEFEREBETR
in prior years (FBFER ) (15) 1217
Current - elsewhere BIER — E 4t 3th [ 1,386 5,714
Deferred (note 25) B (K7 5225) 2,027 (2,936)
Total tax charge for the year FABE HAEHE 26,594 12,676

ELEEEEITERARAR
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10. Income tax (Continued) 10. FRB#H (&)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax BEASEEBEEMTEaERERAETE
at the statutory tax rate for the jurisdiction where the operations 750 2 51 B30 38 FA RO BR 56 A 1 69 B 18 5
of the Group are substantially based to the tax expense at the XERERNEFENTIERZ WHER
effective tax rate is as follows: N

2024 2023
—E-mE “T-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FET
Profit before tax B &1 Bl i A 80,544 84,901
Tax at the statutory tax rates BEEMETHE R
IR 13,290 16.5 14,009 165
Effect of different rates for H fth RE#E [ 2
companies operating in other  BJA &l B &1~ R &
jurisdictions EH 2 (3,526) (4.4) (717) (0.8)
Lower tax rate enacted by local  #75 3 & B PI#E &Y
authority BURHL = (2,630) (3.3) (165) (0.2)
Adjustments in respect of BB FE BB IR
current tax of previous years EH YA 2 (15) (0.1) 1,517 18
Income not subject to tax AR B R A (5,046) (6.3) (5,936) (7.0)
Expenses not deductible for tax 7~ A #1754 &) 52 H 7,698 9.6 5,669 6.6
Tax concession HMIBEER (1,402) (1.7) (1,631) (1.9)
Tax losses and temporary RER T IEEE &
difference not recognised =R 19,122 23.9 92 A
Tax losses utilised EE A IEEE (686) (0.9) (121) (0.1)
Others H it (211) (0.3) 1) (0.1)
Tax charge at the Group's BARSE BRI ET
effective rate HEOHIERXZ 26,594 33.0 12,676 14.9
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11.

12.

—EFEopFEf+=—A=4+—H

Dividend

11.

iz B

2024
—g-pg

2023
—T-=F
HK$'000
TATT

HK$’000
TRET

Interim — HK1.5 cents (2023: HK1.5 cents) iﬂﬁ%ﬁ HQEF' A& B — 157811
per ordinary share —T - =F 1580) 7,500 7,500
Proposed final - HK1.8 cents FhE ﬁﬁﬁ@ EARHKRE—138
(2023: HK1.8 cents) per ordinary share BIW(ZEZ=%F: 1.8/%1IJJ) 9,000 9,000
16,500 16,500
The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the AREEZEZARBREBFARRIRER

approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

Earnings per share attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the company

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based
on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the Company of HKS$53,715,000 (2023: HK$71,887,000), and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 500,000,000
(2023: 500,000,000) outstanding during the year.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December
2023.

FEERESETRARA

12.

EERRBFEREG LHERTAIER

AREE
BRREF
BREABAZCENERAARL R
H%ﬁéﬁéﬁﬁ/\ﬁfﬁﬁ A ¥ F153,715,000
BT (ZZT = =4 : 71,887,000 7t.)
AR F RTINS WA In4E 15 8
500,000,000/% (== = =4F : 500,000,000
&) ETE -

BRRELEA ARIL

BE_Z_HNF+_A=+—BE=%F
::¢+_H =t—HLEFE AEE
WEEBEBHENS EITEEMK -
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13. W% - MERRME

13. Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold Plant and Furniture Computers Motor
improvements machinery  andfixtures  and software vehicles Total
HENXEE  BEREE  GAREE  EHRBK RE it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin Tin Tin Tién Tin Tin
31 December 2024 ZECMETZA=t-A
At 31 December 2023 and R-E-=F+-f=+-H
1 January 2024 kZ2-RmE-A-A:
Cost A& 15,169 30,104 8,007 24,271 14,457 92,014
Accumulated depreciation 2HNE (8,635) (22,790) (5,097) (18,561) (9,900) (64,983)
Net carrying amount FEEE 6,534 7314 2,910 5,716 4,557 27,031
At 1 January 2024, net of RZZ-ZRE-A-B 1k
accumulated depreciation ZitihE 6,534 7314 2910 5716 4,557 27,031
Additions NE 264 2,087 128 3,353 1,113 6,945
Disposals & - (607) 2) - - (609)
Depreciation provided during the W& Rzt 141 & (Wiets)
year (note 6) (1,993) (3,664) (568) (2,716) (1,974) (10,915)
Bichange realignment EHRE (1) (15) 1 (4) (18) (37)
At 31 December 2024, net of RZE-ME+-B=1-R"
accumulated depreciation NBEFHE 4,804 5115 2,469 6,349 3,678 2,415
At 31 December 2024; A\ZE-mE+-A=+-R:
Cost %N 15,406 30,184 8,112 24,125 13,867 91,694
Accumulated depreciation ZihE (10,602) (25,069) (5,643) (17,776) (10,189) (69,279)
Net carrying amount REE 4,804 5115 2,469 6,349 3,678 2415
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13. Y% - RERRE (

(GMES Motor

13. Property, plant and equipment (Continuec

Leasehold Plantand Furniture

and fixtures and software vehicles Total
RAREE  THREK A a3
HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000

improvements machinery

B R#E
HKS'000

HENZKE
HKY000
TR TR TR TATL TATL TATL

31 December 2023 —3"51’-1':)51 =r=F
At 1 January 2023 RZEZ=%-A-H
Cost A 14818 30,601 7823 297 10307 86520
Accumulated depreciation ZHE (7020) (22357) (4611) (15,362) (8,239) (57,585)
Net carrying amount REAE 77198 8,244 3212 7609 2072 28,935
t 1 January 2023, net of “ECE-A-R AR
accumulated depreciation ZitTE 7,79 8,44 312 7,609 201 28935
Additions RE 646 1423 536 1,289 435) 8,246
Disposals e = (316) (144) = = (460)
Depreciation provided during the A RsHRHTE (#its)
year (note 6) (1.897) (2,024) (686) (3193) (1.847) (9,647)
Exchange realignment ELH% (13) (13) 8) 11 (20 ®3)
At31 December 2023, net of RZE-=E+-fA=+-R"
accumulated depreciation B 2:iE 6,534 7314 2910 5716 4557 27031
At 31 December 2023: RZEZ=F+-A=1-H:
Cost B 15,169 30,104 8007 4277 14457 9014
Accumulated depreciation ZiHTE (8,635) (227%) (5007) (18561) (9.900) (64.983)
Net carrying amount BREAE 6,534 7314 2910 5,716 4557 27,031
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31 December 2024 —FE=—M#E+=H=+—H

14. Leases 14. HE
The Group as a lessee rEBEREEA
The Group has lease contracts for buildings and plant and AEBEFENEXEBERNET  WE
machinery and other equipment used in its operations. Leases RHEAREMBHEEENEESL -
for buildings generally have lease terms between 2 and 5 years BFHOMEBRENT225F - MEE &
while plant and machinery generally have lease terms between 2SR B E T T2 R34 o AR
2 and 3 years. Other equipment generally has lease terms of 12 R EREE A1 208 A A T &=k @ 5
months or less and/or is individually of low value. BERK -
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) FHAEEE
The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets AEEGAEEECREERFERN
and the movements during the year are as follows: BEIT

ETET

Buildings machinery Total

B e et

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET TAET

At 1 January 2023 R-—ZE-=F—F—8H 48453 125 48578
Additions NE 13,085 - 13,085
Depreciation charge (note 6) WERXZ (Hite) (22,255) (122) (22,377)
Modification of leases HEBR (2,039) - (2,039)
Exchange realignment R 104 3) 101

At 31 December 2023 and R-ZZE-=%+=-A=1+—H

1 January 2024 E-T-m&E—f—H 37,348 - 37,348
Additions NE 8,032 - 8,032
Depreciation charge (note 6) WERX (47:26) (22,070) - (22,070)
Modification of leases HEBK 25,277 - 25,277
Exchange realignment BE 3, o B (9) = (9)
At 31 December 2024 RZEZWFE+=-A=+—H 48,578 - 48,578
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14. Leases (Continued) 14. HE (@)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) FEBEREEAN(E)
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEESE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements HEBBEZEREBERFEFRNZEHN
during the year are as follows: K

Lease liabilities

HEAE
pLip 2 2023
ZENF —F-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—RAZKRHEE 37,899 47,718
New leases Mg 8,032 13,085
Modification of leases EN=R N 25,277 (2,000)
Accretion of interest recognised FRRERF S0
during the year (note 7) (K1:£7) 2,450 1,168
Payments BN (23,642) (22,178)
Exchange realignment ME W R B (17) 106
Carrying amount at 31 December R+t A=+—HZEEE 49,999 37,899
Analysed into: IR
Current portion mENER D 16,480 21,856
Non-current portion IR D 33,519 16,043
(c) The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is as follows: () HEBGZIHITHAT :
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
—B-mE+=A=1-H “ECZET-A=t+-H
Effective Effective
interest EEN
rate (%) Maturity HK$'000 rate (%) Maturity HK$'000
BERAZ 35 A TER ik HEA THT
(%) (%)
Current ENER
Lease liabilities BERE 1.8-6.7 2025 16,480 18-58 2024 21,856
“ECRE —Z-mF
Non-current FEE
Lease liabilities BEafE 58-6.8  2026-2028 33,519 19-68 2025-2026 16,043
ZEZREZR “Z-HEFE
—ECN\E “E-RE
49,999 37,899
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14. Leases (Continued, 14. HE »)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) REBEAFABA(E)
(d) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to (d RERBEREEHEFEMN SN
leases are as follows: T :

2024 2023
ZE-NF —E=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
THERT FHT
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERNE 2,450 1,168
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets {fHEEENER
(included in administrative expenses) (FFAfTE ) 15,402 15,507
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 1 A& E T &R 2
(included in contract costs) (FFAG R A) 6,668 6,870
Expense relating to short-term leases EHEERX
(included in administrative expenses) (FFATTEREX) 3,443 1,462
Expense relating to short-term leases EHHEERS
(included in contract costs) (GFAB XA A) 67,479 51,499
Loss on modification of leases HEBHRZEE - ¥
Total amount recognised in profit or loss R IBXER B L 58 95,442 76,545
(e) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 28(c) (e) FHEMIRE IR BEEN M 753k =K
to the financial statements. FE28(0) Y 55 o
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The Group has entered into several service concession
arrangements with certain governmental authorities in Zhejiang
Province, Mainland China on a ROT, a BOT or a Transfer-Operate-
Transfer (“TOT") basis in respect of its sewage and reclaimed
water treatment as well as water distribution services. These
service concession arrangements generally involve the Group
as an operator in (i) rehabilitating or constructing sewage and
reclaimed water treatment plants and water distribution facilities
(collectively, the “Facilities”) for those arrangements on a ROT
and BOT basis; (ii) obtaining the Facilities for the arrangements
on a TOT basis; and (iii) operating and maintaining the Facilities
at a specified level of serviceability on behalf of the relevant
governmental authorities for periods ranging from 25 to 30
years (the “Service Concession Periods”), and the Group
will be paid for its services over the relevant periods of the
service concession arrangements at prices stipulated through
a pricing mechanism. The Group is generally entitled to use all
the property, plant and equipment of the Facilities, however,
the relevant governmental authorities as Grantors will control
and regulate the scope of services that the Group must provide
with the Facilities, and retain the beneficial entitlement to any
residual interest in the Facilities at the end of the terms of the
Service Concession Periods. Each of these service concession
arrangements is governed by a contract and, where applicable,
supplementary agreements entered into between the Group
and the relevant governmental authority in Zhejiang Province,
Mainland China that set out, inter alia, performance standards,
mechanisms for adjusting prices for the services rendered by the
Group, specific obligations imposed on the Group to restore the
Facilities to a specified level of serviceability at the end of the
Service Concession Periods, and arrangements for arbitrating
disputes.

N EE B pE EDSK N B A K R B DA K i 7k
AR 7 - B3R B A b 3T 7T & & T RS 6 P
SIS ERAROTA R ~ BOTA R KB R —
—B R ([TOT)) 77 XM 2 BAR % a7
B  ZERBIITRLHE —RIR
REBEREER - () E AROTRBOT
FREEREE ST KRB EKEERE
Be /K3 (5ot [ 2 &R ) ()R E A
TOT R ES 5% F 2% 0E ¢ R (i ) F-25
230 2 A ([REBESFHD N KB
8 BT B0 P9 4% B R TE MO BR 5K T - &
BEREEZEHRE  MASEERER
Rl 75 57 57 153 5% P 51 /6 A HA Rl AR A B0 PR
% REEESIFTATERKRER - —
MME  AEEEREAZEREAL
FREYE - BEREE - A - BEK
FEMPUERTZTA - BHIEFIRBAEARE
EpZELENARENRBEER - I
PR 76 55 5 B JE R e (R B Y % SR he (T
MRS ERNEREAE 2SR
FRET R AL B ER BRI A
BRABRMTEPIET LG R (WEA)
WABEMRE  EPFIAEPEE)
BRURRE - AREBEFTRHERBHOERSA
BHE - R RBETHERRSZE
RIS =5 A K R A& B e
B EERTS  ARUDHIELHE -
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15. RS THEERHE 2
R-_ZE-_NE+-_A=+—HHTER
BHRTRETHNENMERBEENT

15. Service concession arrangements (Continued)

A summary of the major terms of the principal service

concession arrangements as at 31 December 2024 is as follows:

Type of Service Service
Name of company concession concession
as operator Name of plant Location Name of Grantor arrangement period
TR 4 5
EEBARER BEER fi& RTAEH ERYER B 7% %51 A
Changxing Construction Sewage Treatment Huzhou, Zhejiang Government of TOT on sewage 30 years from
Investment Environmental Plant in Meishan Town,  Province, PRC Meishan Town, treatment 2017 to 2047
Technology Company Changxing County Changxing County
Limited
RERRBRRMR REZRILEA mEMIEMMNT  REERLERF 10T AAKER 30F
BRAA TKEER (ZZ—t&ZE
ZEMtEF)
Zhejiang Construction Sewage Treatment Huzhou, Zhejiang Government of BOT on sewage 30 years from
Investment Environment Plant Phase Il Province, PRC Meishan Town, treatment 2017 to 2047
Engineering Company in Meishan Town, Changxing County
Limited Changxing Country
MIERRRIRE REZKILA mEMTEMNT  REGKLERR BOTA A5 7KRE 30F
ARAA KEER_H (2247
“TMtE)
Changxing Construction Water Plant in Huzhou, Zhejiang Government of ROT on water 30 years from
[nvestment Environmental Meishan Town, Province, PRC Meishan Town, distribution 2017 to 2047
Technology Company Changxing County Changxing County
Limited
RERRBERMR REGRILEKER BEFIEONT  RESRKLEARR ROT7 A\ Bk 306
BRRA (Z2-t&Z
“EMLE)
Changxing Construction Water Plant Huzhou, Zhejiang Government of BOT on water 30 years from
Investment Environmental Phase Il in Meishan Province, PRC Meishan Town, distribution 2017 to 2047
Technology Company Town, Changxing Changxing County
Limited County
RERRBRRER REZRILEA MEMIEMMNT  RESZRL AR BOT7 s\ A7k 30F
BRRA KBBR—H (2142
“EMtF)
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15. Service concession arrangements (Continued)

15. RIFIFTFERHE @)

A summary of the major terms of the principal service
concession arrangements as at 31 December 2024 is as follows:

(Continued)

Name of company

as operator

EEHARER

5 Zhejiang Construction
Investment Environment
Engineering Company
Limited

MIRRERIE
BRARA

6 Changxing Construction
Investment Water Company
Limited
RERRKEERLDA

7 Zhejiang Tiantai Construction
Investment Water Company

Limited
MIRGRRKBARAF

8 Zhejiang Tiantai Construction
Environment Technology
Company Limited

MIRENRRRHK
BRARA

Name of plant

BEE#

Reclaimed Water
Treatment Station in
Meishan Town,
Changxing County

REZKILA
BAKRE

Hemei Sewage
Treatment Plant in
Changxing County

Location

L&

Huzhou, Zhejiang
Province, PRC

AT M T

Huzhou, Zhejiang
Province, PRC

REENZTKRER EMTEAND

Cangshan Sewage
Treatment Plant

EILEKERR

(Cangshan Sewage
Treatment Plant
Phase |l

ElAKRER 4

Taizhou, Zhejiang
Province, PRC

REIE AN T

Taizhou, Zhejiang
Province, PRC

RENTIE AN T

R-E-_WNE+-_A=+—HBHWEE
RIS ELTHNE MG EELDT :

(/Vﬁ;gﬁ;

Name of Grantor

SNCT:

Type of Service
concession
arrangement
R4 5
ERUER

Changxing Xinneng BOT on reclaimed
Construction water treatment
Development Company
Limited

REABHRRFAE  BOTAREAKEE
BRAA

Government of TOT on sewage
Heping Town, treatment
Changxing County

REEMTERE  10T50AKRR

State-Owned Assets

BOT on sewage

Affairs Center of treatment
Tiantai County

AEERREE BT 057K R 2
£S5 L

State-Owned Assets

BOT on sewage

Affairs Center of treatment
Tiantai County

REEAREE BOTAR T KEE
SHRDL

ELEEEEITERARAR

Service
concession

period

R

30 years from
2019 to 2049

30F
(ZE-N5%
“EMAE)

30 years from
2016 to 2046

30 years from
2017 to 2047

306
(ZE—t%2%
“EMLE)

25 years from
2022 to 2047

pLY:S
(Z2==fF%

“ENLE)
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31 December 2024 —FE=—M#E+=H=+—H

As at 31 December 2024 certain receivables under service
concession arrangements of the Group with aggregate
carrying amounts of approximately HK$187,193,000 (2023:
HK$174,593,000) and the relevant future revenue entitlement
under the service concession arrangement were pledged to
secure certain bank loans granted to the Group with the amount
of approximately HK$117,535,000 (2023: HK$73,163,000) (note
24).

As further explained in the accounting policy for “Service
concession arrangements” set out in note 2.5 to the financial
statements, the consideration paid by the Group for a service
concession arrangement is accounted for as an intangible asset
(operating concession) or a financial asset (receivable under a
service concession arrangement) or a combination of both, as
appropriate. The following is the summarised information of the
intangible asset component (operating concessions) and the
financial asset component (receivables under service concession
arrangements) with respect to the Group's service concession
arrangements:

Annual Report 2024

RZE-_NMNFE+=ZA=+—8"
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31 December2024 —ZFE-—PIF+—-HA=+—H

15. Service concession arrangements (Cont

(a) Operating concessions rights

31 December 2024

At 31 December 2023 and

inued) 15. HE*%#%‘ %-!F *EEHF (#%&

(a) EESTHE

—E_NME+=ZHBA=+—H

HK$’000
TER

R-ZZF_=ZF+t-_A=+—8K

1 January 2024 —E-mMFE-HA—H:

Cost (DN 39,497

Accumulated amortisation RETE#H (6,517)
Net carrying amount REF (A 32,980
At 1 January 2024, net of accumulated RZE_WMF—HF—H -

amortisation Hkk 25T E 32,980
Amortisation provided during the year (note 6) 4 [N 51328 85 (47776) (1,368)
Exchange realignment E K A (685)
At 31 December 2024, net of accumulated R-_E-_WFE+_A=+—8

amortisation bk 25T 55 30,927
At 31 December 2024 RZEBE_WHE+_A=+—8:

Cost (DN 38,653

Accumulated amortisation RETHEH (7,726)
Net carrying amount BREFE 30,927

31 December 2023

At 1 January 2023:

—E2-_=%+-A=+-—H

HK$'000
TET

R-B_=%—H—H:

Cost AR 40,070

Accumulated amortisation Z St 8 (5,215)
Net carrying amount AR FE 34,855
At 1 January 2023, net of accumulated R—ZTE=_=F—H—A8 "

amortisation bk 25T SE 34,855
Amortisation provided during the year (note 6) 4 [N 5+ 32 k8 (47776) (1,385)
Exchange realignment K A (490)
At 31 December 2023, net of accumulated R-ZE_=F+-_A=+—H "

amortisation Mk ZetEy 32,980
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+=ZHA=+—8":

Cost BN 39,497

Accumulated amortisation RET#H (6,517)
Net carrying amount BREFE 32,980
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31 December 2024 —FE=—M#E+=H=+—H

15. Service concession arrangements (Continued) 15. REISHF R @)
(b) Receivables and contract assets under service (b) RBEFBIAEZHETHEKRIE
concession arrangements RERNEE

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F

HK$000 HK$'000
TERT TAET

Receivables and contract assets AR 7655 5 72 22 BE T #Y B Uk

under service concession RBEREHNEE

arrangements 258,570 247,614
Impairment VERIE] (i) (78) (45)

258,492 247,569

Portion classified as current assets 3 48 /& 7t 1 & &= 89 28 (8,879) (7,098)
Non-current portion EmENE 249,613 240,471
As at 31 December 2024, contract assets which were RZEBE-_NME+=ZA=+—H -
presented as receivables and contract assets under service PR 75 55 B #E R HE T B BB IR IE K
concession arrangements amounted to HK$137,021,000 BREEMIMHNEHNEERE
(2023: HK$128,150,000). The remaining amounts of 137,021,000 7T (ZF = = % -
receivables and contract assets under service concession 128,150,000 7T) ° FA ¥k & BR R Y
arrangements at the end of reporting period were due RS TR RKEIERE
from the Grantors in respect of the Group's construction HEERBARIE T ABBELRSE
and rehabilitation services for environmental related B3R5 1A BE 2R hE MY R 28 RS 1R AR 75
facilities. #)FIA ©
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31 December 2024 —FE=—#E+=H=+—H

15. Service concession arrangements (Continued)

(b)

Receivables and contract assets under service
concession arrangements (Continued)

Note:

(i) The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
the Group's receivables and contract assets under service

concession arrangements are as follows:

15. IRIBFASFFRERHE =)
(b) BRIF4GFFRERGE T NEKFRIR
RENEE#E)
Wit -
() AEE BRI EER T 8K

HARANEENREBERE
HEEENIAT

2024

—E-mfF

HK$’000

FHExT
At beginning of the year REH) 45 46
Impairment losses (note 6) BB E 18 (Hite) 34 -
Exchange realignment ME X 75 2 (1) ©)
At end of year RER 78 45

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using the probability of default approach to measure
expected credit losses. The probabilities of default rates are
estimated based on comparable companies with published
credit ratings. The calculation reflects the probability
weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is available
at the reporting date about past events, current conditions
and forward-looking credit risk information.

RE|E B RRBEOR R AL
TREDT - UtERBEEES
B BOBMEDRIBABE QM
SEFHRNFBRRAIERG o &
AHERREE R ISR - BRE
BERHE B RIS A BT
=1 BRI RATIE EEER
BREMNAERASEER -
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31 December2024 —ZFE-—PIF+—-HA=+—H

16. Other intangible assets 16. HihE\F EE
Software
31 December 2024 —E_mME+=-HA=+—H B
HK$’000
FET
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024: Efc‘_ Z_=F+-_HA=+—H8kK
—E-FE—A—A8:
Cost [N 779
Accumulated amortisation RETHEH (488)
Net carrying amount REEE 291
At 1 January 2024, net of accumulated RZZE-_WMFE—H—A8 -
amortisation kR RET# 291
Addition NE 15
Amortisation provided during the year (note 6) FNETIREE (K7 ate) (139)
Exchange realignment B H 38 B (3)
At 31 December 2024, net of accumulated R-ZE_NM&E+_-_HA=+—8 "
amortisation Bk RET s 164
At 31 December 2024: RZEZWOF+=RA=+—8:
Cost B AR 778
Accumulated amortisation RETHEGH (614)
Net carrying amount BREFE 164
Software
31 December 2023 = Bt
HK$'000
FETT
At 1 January 2023: RZZEZ=F—H—8:
Cost B AR 719
Accumulated amortisation B % (412)
Net carrying amount BREFE 307
At 1 January 2023, net of accumulated RZEZ=%F—H—8"
amortisation Ik RET 307
Addition NE 70
Amortisation provided during the year (note 6) FNFTREE (i) (82)
Exchange realignment ME 5 A& 4)
At 31 December 2023, net of accumulated R—_B_=F+_A=+—8H"
amortisation Ik RET# 8 291
At 31 December 2023: RZEZ=F+=ZA=+—8":
Cost DN 779
Accumulated amortisation B ¥ (488)
Net carrying amount BREFE 291
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31 December2024 —ZFE-—PIF+—-HA=+—H

17. Contract assets 17. @B E
31 December 31 December 1 January
2024 2023 2023
—E-NE —EC-=F =%
+=A=+-A +=ZA=+-H —A—8
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
TER FTHBT THBT

Contract assets arising from: ANEERS :

Construction operations RS (a) 2,157,304 1679113 1,242,059
Environmental operations IRIRETS (b) 98,319 64,232 50,433
Retention receivables JE W (R BB & 708 (@] 982,035 833,586 830,276

Total FEER 3,237,658 2,576,931 2,122,768

Impairment BB (68,294) (12,204) (8,638)

Net carrying amount BREDHE 3,169,364 2,564,727 2,114,130

Notes: Bt -

(a) Contract assets consist of the Group's rights to consideration for (@) SHEERRAEBRMEFESETRE
works completed but unbilled amounts resulting from building S X ERMAATLIR S i\’JFEE’]EEﬁXﬂH
construction works contracts and RMAA works contracts. The MARE TR WEKEaRER -
contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when the rights BENE BRENRK A EE G (—7,%
become unconditional, which is generally within one year. The —FRN)ERERESFHIE - — T
increase in contract assets in 2024 and 2023 was the result of the EN B —FEHNEENEINIIE
increase in the provision of construction services during these MNZEFE 2 EERGEHLIE M -
years.

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract assets, RT+—_A=+—H WOsgEEE
net of loss allowances, arising from construction operations as at HRELEZANEE (MK EBEBREE)
31 December is as follows: RTEHRREAT ¢
2024
—E-mE
HK$’000 HK$'000
TExT FHATT
Within one year —FR 1,682,511 1,235,021
After one year — & 417,696 436,087
2,100,207 1,671,108
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31 December 2024 —FE=—M#E+=H=+—H

17. Contract assets (Continued) 17. EHEE»)

Notes: (Continued) Hiat - (&)

(b)  Contract assets mainly consist of Group's rights to consideration b)) EBHNEEXZERASERREIER
for works completed and services provided but unbilled amounts REHMEEREEEHURISKEE
resulting from construction and rehabilitation contracts for FRBEERBEENHARAZRER T
environmental related facilities as well as sewage and reclaimed BRI RERERGSMERE SR -
water treatment services. The contract assets are transferred to BHREENE BRI A EGAER (—
trade receivables when the rights become unconditional which is BE—FNEZEWESHRE - —F
generally within one year. The increase in contract assets in 2024 TMESHNEENEMIBERE SR
was the result of the slower certification from customers whilst the BRERE M_Z_=FaRNEE
increase in contract assets in 2023 was the result of the increase in BI3E AN Y BB N ERAR AR A A 45 38 0

the provision of environmental services.

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract assets, R+ZA=+—H8 WExXEERR
net of loss allowances, arising from environmental operations as at EREEZAENEE (NKREEBEME)
31 December is as follows: R TEERRF AR T
2024
—E-m&
HK$’000
FET
Within one year —&F R 95,920 62,427
() Retention receivables held by contract customers arising from the © BHRFPEENEURBEREBEEE
Group's construction operations for building construction works EASEREEXBHNETREEIRER
and certain RMAA works are settled within a period ranging from ETRMAATLR - ZRIBIREFTEET
one year to two years after the completion of the construction 25 4 RRMAAT A2 & &Y FT #7378 IO SR 5
work and acceptance by customers, as stipulated in the building ITREIVAEFBRKE—ZMFEA
construction works contracts and RMAA works contracts. 4B °
The due date for settlement of the Group's retention receivables, R+=ZA=+—8 #EASBEREK
net of loss allowances, as at 31 December is as follows: REBERIE (MR EERE) R EHE
W
2024
—E-mE
HK$’000
FExT
Due within one year »—F R E Hf 543,951 522,022
Due after one year N —F 1% 3 5 429,286 309,170
973,237 831,192
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31 December 2024

—EFEopFEf+=—A=4+—H

During this year ended 31 December 2024, HK$63,738,000 (2023:
HK$3,802,000) was recognised as an allowance for expected
credit losses on contract assets. The Group's trading terms and
credit policy with customers are disclosed in note 18.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of contract

assets are as follows:

BHE_Z-_NF+_A=+—AH1
FE 6373800008 L (—ZFE - =
3,802,000/8 7T ) R AE HEENTEHE
EEERE AEEEATFHNE S KK

RIZEBRN W G185

BHEEREBRRENEFHWT

2024 2023

—B-EF —E_=F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

THET FET

At beginning of year RE ] 12,204 8,638
Impairment losses (note 6) WA EE (fate) 54,798 3,802
Exchange realignment bE 5 38 B 1,292 (236)
At end of year RER 68,294 12,204

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The
provision rates for the measurement of the expected credit losses
of the contract assets are based on those of the trade receivables
as the contract assets and the trade receivables are from the
same customer bases. The provision rates of contract assets
are based on days past due of trade receivables for groupings
of various customer segments with similar loss patterns. The
calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time
value of money and reasonable and supportable information
that is available at the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group's contract assets using a provision matrix:

EaRE

SEHRE B HERBBREETRED
o U EEMEEER -FEANE
ERMEEBBRRANBREBERTIENE
WESRENEEBE ARAMNEER
EUESZFRAREERELER - BH
BEMNBBRDERAGBRUBERA
MEETFEDENERE S KRR
HIRBME » &t BERRR KL
SER¥RFREERNES BHAIFH
BRBESIA - 8 AR R R R 5
HHEANSERAIEERH -

ERBBEREAEARENENEEN
EERRBRERIDT :
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31 December 2024 —FE=—M#E+=H=+—H

17. Contract assets (Continued,

Construction operations:

17.

BHNEE»®)
BEREL
2024

—EomE

On individual basis

Expected credit loss rate

Gross carrying amount (HKS$'000)
Expected credit losses (HKS'000)

On collective basis

Expected credit loss rate

Gross carrying amount (HKS$'000)
Expected credit losses (HK$'000)

Gross carrying amount from construction
operations

Expected credit losses from constructions
operations

855 &
BHEEEBEX
fREAE(TET)
HHEEEE(TET)

EBitE
EHEEREE

fRmAaE(TET)
BHEEER(TET)

BEXBHERTAE

BEXBOEHEERE

74.00%
82,918
61,359

0.148%
3,056,421
4,536

2024
ZEZNF

HK$'000
TERT

3,139,339

65,895

0.414%
2,512,699
10,399

2023
—E-—F
HK$'000
FA7T

2,152,699

10,399
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31 December2024 —ZFE-—PIF+—-HA=+—H

17. Contract assets (Continved) 17. HEE»)
Environmental operations: RIRER :

Expected credit loss rate ?Eﬂﬂﬁ%@ﬂ?im 2.440% 2.810%

Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) HAEE(THEIT) 98,319 64,232

Expected credit losses (HK$'000) ?E,H\HEEESTE (F%&7T) 2,399 1,805

2024 2023

—E2-NEF —E-=F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FERT THETT

Total expected credit losses TEHEE BB R 68,294 12,204

18. Trade receivables 18. BUWE 5 K

2024 2023

—E2-NEF —E-=F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FERT THTT

Trade receivables JE U E Z 58 783,606 832,747
Impairment VERED (7,719) (16,393)
Net carrying amount R FE 775,887 816,354
The Group's trading terms with its customers are on credit. The NREBHERENE S IR TIREEE]
Group's credit period with customers range from 14 to 180 days. Mo AREFBLTEENEREBAN F14E
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding 180K ° 7N £ B BR 4% 1258 ) ok 45 75 FE Uk 3k
receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by He iR REEEETHES -
senior management. Apart from trade receivable balance of [ﬁfﬁEqﬂzﬁ%MI‘Em%&gz 007,00078 7T (=
HK$32,007,000 (2023: Nil), the Group does not hold any collateral E_=F )N REEVEREE
or other credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances. qﬁzﬁ% K IE 45 65 15 A (E o] 3K 38 uuj@/ﬁ\{ﬂg

Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing. ERIEHY - EWE S HIBEBTETE
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31 December 2024 —FE=—M#E+=H=+—H

18. Trade receivables (Continued)

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss

allowance, is as follows:

18. B E 5 K™E (@)
REEHR - HRBRBENEKRE S
FOBENHR A HIEHRR ST T ;

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

THExT T T

Within 1 month ME A A 539,661 527,255
1 to 2 months 1221 A 26,693 87,964
2 to 3 months 2Z 3@ A 34,630 30,569
3 to 12 months 3E 128 A 84,379 110,944
1 to 2 years 124 78,822 59,359
2 years to 3 years 2E3F 11,702 263
775,887 816,354

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade

receivables are as follows:

W E SRR EBRRENZSNT

2024 2023

—E-mE —E=F

HK$'000 HKS$'000

F&ET T T

At beginning of year RE] 16,393 13,815
Impairment losses/(reversal of WmERBE, CREBBRER)

impairment losses), net (note 6) FEE (K ate) (8,829) 2,945

Exchange realignment PE 5 % 155 (367)

At end of year RER 7,719 16,393

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings
of various customer segments with similar loss patterns. The
calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time
value of money and reasonable and supportable information
that is available at the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
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31 December 2024 —FE=—#E+=H=+—H

18. Trade receivables (Continued) 18. EWWE 5 B (&)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure FRARBERTEAEERNERE S
on the Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix: BEHNEERREMAT
As at 31 December 2024 R-B-NE+=-HA=+—H
Construction operations: K

Past due

A

Within 1 year to Over
On individual basis 1 year 2 years 2 years

1ER 1225 2B E

Expected credit loss rate JEHEEEEXR - - - -
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) REAE(THET) - 32,007* - 32,007
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) BHEEEE(TAT) - = = =

Past due
a8
Within 1 year to Over
On collective basis 1 year 2 years 2 years

1ER 1225 2B E

Expected credit loss rate EHEEBRE 0.16% 4.78%  100.00% 0.81%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) REAE(THEIL) 689,645 36,095 3,129 728,869
Expected credit losses (HKS'000) BHEEEE(TAT) 1,078 1,725 3,129 5,932
pLip 2
—ECoEF
HK$'000
TET
Gross carrying amount from construction SR EREARE

operations 760,876

Expected credit losses from constructions BREBNBHEEEE
operations 5,932
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31 December 2024 —FE=—M#E+=H=+—H

18. Trade receivables (Continued) 18. BEWRE Z RE (&)
As at 31 December 2024 (Continued) R-ZEBE-_NFE+ZA=+—RH#)
Environmental operations: BRER:

Past due
g

Within 1yearto 2 yearsto
1 year 2 years 3 years

1£R 1225 2E35F

Expected credit loss rate BHEEBEX 2.48%  11.78%  24.63%  93.67% 7.86%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) BRI 4ME (FE L) 16,104 3,174 3,215 237 22,730
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) FBHAEEERE (THAT) 399 374 792 222 1,787

2024
—E-mE

HK$’000
TR

Total expected credit losses FEHEEFBA 7,719

2 Bl —2EFNETREKE SRE
32,007,000 Tc (Z T =4 : &) ([K
EEEWRIE]) AR — 8t
([FZ L)) eI - Bt - WEE H
REEREZEYRE S HENEHREE
BIENEEEZLHHNKFREEBR
ERlzTE - R=FE=—WEF+=—A=+—
A - e T E BB AR (E S W
B At EENEREEBEETE
BRI -

* Certain trade receivables of HK$32,007,000 (2023: Nil) (the
“Outstanding Receivable”) due from a customer is secured by
a parcel of land in Malaysia (the “Land”). Accordingly, ECLs for
this credit impaired trade receivable is measured individually,
taking into account the collateral value of the Land. As at 31
December 2024, the Land have a market value which exceeds
the Outstanding Receivable and the corresponding ECLs were
assessed to be minimal.
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31 December 2024 —FE=—#E+=H=+—H

18. Trade receivables (Continued) 18. EWWE 5 B (&)
As at 31 December 2023 NR-B-_=5+=-A=+—8H
Construction operations: K
Past due
760 HA
1 year to
2 years
1226
Expected credit loss rate BHEERFEX 0.567% 8.821% 95.287% 1.831%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) BREAE(THET) 746,496 62,373 5432 814,301
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) BHEEEBE(TAT) 4,234 5,502 5,176 14,912
Environmental operations: BRIREK !
Past due
78 2
Within 1 year to
1 year 2 years
1R 1226
Expected credit loss rate BHEERHEX 2.977% 24.369% 97.107% 8.029%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) BREAE(THET) 14,913 3,291 242 18,446
Expected credit losses (HKS'000) BHEEEE(FAT) 444 802 235 1,481

2023
—E-=4F

HK$'000
TAT

Total expected credit losses EHEEFBE 16,393
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31 December2024 —ZFE-—PIF+—-HA=+—H

19.

20.

198 CR Construction Group Holdings Limited

Prepayments, deposits and other 19. AT RIA « e R E MBI
receivables 15

2024 2023
ZEZNF —EB_=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Prepayments AR RIR 49,763 53,509
Deposits and other receivables =& N CH b FE YRR 66,514 54,410
116,277 107,919

Less: Non-current prepayments and deposits 38 : JEENEATE [ KIB R iZ S (9,606) (8,165)
106,671 99,754

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date.
The expected credit losses are estimated by applying a loss rate
approach with reference to the historical loss record of the Group
and is adjusted to reflect the current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions, as appropriate.

The financial assets included in the above balances relate to
receivables for which there was no recent history of default and
past due amounts. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the loss
allowance was assessed to be minimal.

Other assets

FEHEE=S

Residential properties held for sale

BERSE AR ETREIN - AEE
ReEREBRTHEBERBREXZX
BAFEHEREER  YHZFBEERED
EE AR ARRIRE B N FERIR R

JI==N
BB I °

LREHRTO S REERTHNY EE
R hafeBnEKEEH - 1®
—ENER_F_=Ft+_HA=1—
B BEBEETESEER -

Hin&=E

2024 2023
—E-mE

—E-=F
HKS$'000
F&TT

HK$000
TERT

46,576 =

During the year ended 31 December 2024, certain completed
residential properties were received from a customer as
settlement of certain trade receivables from this customer. The
Group derecognised the trade receivables of HK$55,698,000
and recognised residential properties held for sale under “Other
assets” of the same amount during the year.

As at 31 December 2024, the recoverable amounts of the residential
properties held for sale of HK$46,576,000 (2023: Nil) are determined
based on fair value according to the valuation by using direct
comparison approach performed by an independent professional
qualified valuer. An impairment loss of HK$8,941,000 (2023: Nil) was
recognised to write down the carrying amounts of the residential
properties held for sale.
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31 December 2024 —FE=—#E+=H=+—H

20. Other assets (Continued) 20. HtW&E ()
Fair value hierarchy ATFEER
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement TRHAAREEEMEEZ AT EFE
hierarchy of the Group's other assets for which the recoverable & Halg e @B hiREA T ER D
amount is determined based on fair value less cost of disposal: EXRAEE :
31 December 2024 —E_NME+=-A=+—H

Fair value measurements
as at 31 December 2024 using
R-B-_MFE+-A=+—H

FERNTEENATEIE

Quoted
pricesin Significant Significant

active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
& B BEXW EARFTH
miEH  BRBA =
HE BE BAHE
(F-% (E=H (E=R #t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TExT THT TET THT

Residential properties FEME - = 46,576 46,576
Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the AT ABEEMEGENBGERN RE
key inputs to the valuation of the residential property: D ABBCBE
Significant
Valuation unobservable
techniques inputs
BERAFAEHE
RS WA BB
Direct
comparison Price per sq.ft
Residential properties approach (HKS) 1,128 to 1,704
EEWHE HELEBE BFIRER 1,128% 1,704

(&)
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Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Under the market approach, fair value is estimated by the
direct comparison method on the assumption of the sale of the
property interest with the benefit of vacant possession and by
making reference to comparable sales transactions as available in
the market. The valuation takes into account the characteristics
of the residential property, which include the location and
accessibility, size, view, floor level, market condition and other
factors collectively, to arrive at the market price per unit.

The key input was the market price per unit, which a significant
increase/decrease in the market price would result in a
significant increase/decrease in the fair value of the residential

property.

Cash and cash equivalents

ReRREFEY

DFEER(E)
ﬁﬁﬁ%% RFHETIRRHEMFIE
W ESEZEEHE UR2EMSL

ARERZEERS  UEELEER
o (hENSERTEMEZHYE 2
B RZBENEE HE =8
BE mHERAREMEEEER  Em
SHEEEM2TE -

BEMMENIERARE  TEZX
BEF/ THREEREENELZATE
RIEE 0, H D o

2024
—E-ME

HK$'000
THERT

HK$'000
THET

330,799 235,971

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances
of the Group denominated in Renminbi ("RMB”) amounted to
HK$138,325,000 (2023: HKS$115,278,000). The RMB is not freely
convertible into other currencies, however, under Mainland
China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulation and Administration
of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for
other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy
banks with no recent history of default.
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31 December2024 —ZFE-—PIF+—-HA=+—H

22. Trade and retention payables 22. ENESZRRESMIE
2024 2023
—EC-mEF —T-=%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET T T
Trade payables FERE 5 58 (a) 1,207,115 848,529
Retention payables FEfHREE & I8 (b) 713,290 685,763
Total @t 1,920,405 1,534,292
Notes: Biat -
(@  An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the @ MRBEHR BENEHIRBEERER
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: AEERRBRE ST :
2024 2023
—EC-MmE —Eo=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FHETT
Within 1 month & A A 88,321 15,181
1 to 2 months 1Z22(8 A 105,803 110,293
2 to 3 months 2Z318 A 265,745 176,712
Over 3 months 3fE A A E 747,246 546,343
Total st 1,207,115 848,529
The average credit period on trade payables is 30 to 180 days. The }?Eﬁ‘éf%%’ﬂlﬁmﬁfﬂﬁﬁﬁgﬁ%w?wo
Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure $E@E$‘Jigﬁ%ﬂlﬁ’?&ﬁﬂl% ’
that all payables are paid within the credit time-frame. L/{ﬁﬁﬁﬁ’\ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂwr“ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂgﬁm
(b)  Retention payables held by the Group arose from the Group's by AEEFENENREESRBEEEBN
building construction works and RMAA works and are normally SENEFRETERRMAALIR - @
settled to subcontractors within a period ranging from one year BRAOBENHAERDBEEATKELT
to two years after the completion of the contract work by the BE-—ZEZMFRNESBEER -

subcontractors, as stipulated in the subcontracting contracts.
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31 December 2024 —FE=—M#E+=H=+—H

23. Other payables, accruals and provision 23. HitWEEMAIE - EFFERAR
R

2024 2023

—E-lmEF —E=F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FET AT

Contract liabilities oM=K (a) 523,561 248,010
Other payables H b fE A 51,012 33,944
Accruals st &R 963,895 895,196
Provision for reinstatement BRE(EERE (b) 5,700 5,700

Provision for rectification works 1B T2 MR EE

and claims (c) - 15,275
Total st 1,544,168 1,198,125
Non-current portion EmENE (5,700) (5,700)
Current portion mENEL 1,538,468 1,192,425
Other payables are non-interest-bearing and there are generally HMWENKEBEIN:TERE —REESER-

no credit terms.

Notes: g
(a) Details of contract liabilities are as follows: @ BHABHEBHOT :
31 December 31 December 1 January
2024 2023
—=EopgE = —E =4
+=A=+-8 —~A—H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
THETT THETT THET
Short-term advances received from MR a9 57 BIE 1
customers
Construction operations REEFETS 523,561 248,010 59,114
Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to render A EEERIEHETFEETRER
building construction works and RMAA works. The increase RMAAT P2 UNER F S HAisA 2k o S4B (&
in contract liabilities in 2024 and 2023 was mainly due to the R-_EBE-_NER T =85 x
increase in short-term advances received from customers in BEHNERRIBEHEAEEEZTHR
relation to the provision of services from construction operations 5 1 A &% P U B A 52 EA = ZR 3% 1 o

at the end of the years.
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31 December 2024 —ZFE=—pF+=-H=+—H

23. Other payables, accruals and provision

‘Continted
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b) The movement in the provision for reinstatement during the year (b)

is as follows:

3. Hit B
B2
Hiat : (%)

- BETERAR

FRAERKERBEIHOT :

HK$'000
FTAT

At 1 January 2023 RZZE—=F—H—H 5,883
Exchange realignment ME 4, 3 B (183)
At 31 December 2023, 1 January 2024 R-ZZE-_=F+=-A=+—H"
and 31 December 2024 :g;lﬂlﬁfﬂfﬁﬁ
—T-WF+=ZA=+—H 5,700

Pursuant to the terms of the respective tenancy agreements
entered into by the Group, the Group is required to return its
leased properties to the conditions as stipulated in the tenancy
agreements at the expiration of the corresponding lease term as
appropriate. The provision for reinstatement costs was estimated
based on certain assumptions and estimates made by the Group's
management with reference to quoted prices and/or other
available information. The assumptions and estimates are reviewed
on an ongoing basis and revised as appropriate.

The movement in the provision for rectification works and claims
is as follows:

IRIBANER BT S0 A BT & 3 1R K
REHAERERERERE (NER)
RS AR ENGRITREREYE -
BREERABBIREASEEE
B2ERER/REMTRERMIE
ETRFREMAMAE - BRARK A
St ARHEEE A RERT (@A)

© EHIRERFEROBEEESODT

HK$'000
TR

At 1 January 2023 RZZE_=F—H—H
Addition NE 69,000
Amounts utilised during the year FANEBANRIE (53,725)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 B/\_Z:_¢+ “A=+—HK

—ZE-NE—-A—H 15,275
Amounts utilised during the year FRNEBFE KA (15,275)
At 31 December 2024 RZZEZWE+=—A=+—H =
On 2 March 2023, a fire broke out at the construction site for the R-EBE-_=F=A_—H UREBR

Main Contract Works for the Proposed Redevelopment of the
Mariners’ Club on 11 Middle Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong and
caused damage to the building structure. The amount of provision
for rectification works to restore damages and to compensate
claims was estimated by management and is reviewed on an
ongoing basis and revised where appropriate.

WIBRRENREEREBNREEE
EHEEXTZANIREEMBEEN
K -BREFREIB - AENESE
BREMIRRARNBESEH
EEEGE  TEHARNRTUEE
B3] °
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24. Interest-bearing bank borrowings 24. ;T EBRITER

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
—¥-mEt+=A=1-H —F-=FtZA=1-A
Contractual Contractual
interest INEES
rate (%) Maturity HK$’000 rate (%) I HK$'000
55 B FTHET  SHME® ) 5 5 THET
Current
B
Bank loans - unsecured Hong Kong  On demand 100,000 HIBOR+ On demand 210,000
Interbank 1.4%-1.6%
Offered
Rate
(HIBOR)+
1.3%-1.5%
BITEH - BIEKE BBET REXR BERIT REK
BERE EEL¥s!
(TBBET +1.4%-1.6%
EEZ3-Y)
+1.3%-1.5%
Bank loans - unsecured (note (d)) HIBOR+ 1.1% 2025 200,000 = = =
RITER—EER (H#0) EEBT —B-HEF
BERE
+1.1%
Bank loans - secured (note (b)) 3.9% 2025 12,959 3.9% 2024 132,420
RITER-BER W7 0b) e -5 —T-WF
Bank loans - secured (note (c)) Chain Loan 2025 2,892 LPR-0.5% 2024 357
Prime Rate
(“LPR")- 0.5%
BOER-BER W 20) HEER —EB-IfF ERmE  —TZWF
miZRERE WEME
TERTS -0.5%
REFZE])
-0.5%
Bank loans - secured (note () LPR 2025 2,160 LPR 2024 2,207
BOER-BER (W 20) EXmE —B-Ef ERmEs  —TZWE
REF= WEME
Total - current 318,011 344,984
@t —ENH
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24. Interest-bearing bank borrowings (Continued) 24. G ERRITER @

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
“E-mE+=A=t-H —E-=%+-A=+—H

Contractual Contractual

interest interest
rate (%) Maturity HK$’000 rate (%) Maturity HK$'000
LGRS B THRT  SHMEO 3 A FHET

Non-current

FEH
Bank loans - secured (note (b)) 3.9% 2026-2030 103,670 = - -
RITER-FER (HHw) ZBCDREE
It 33

Bank loans - secured (note (c)) LPR-0.5% 2026-2038 92,720 LPR-0.5% 2025-2034 48,198
ROTER-FER Wito) EXMEHRE TR EFE EXWS —T_OFE

FE-05% Z—BZNE REFE-05% ZT=MF
Bank loans - secured (note (c)) LPR 2026-2034 19,763 LPR 2025-2034 22401
ROTER-FER Wito) EXWmE —B-AEE EXWS —T_0FE

HKERNE —B=QF BEME —T=—MmF
Total - non-current 216,153 70,599
st — RN
Total 534,164 415,583
#st
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31 December 2024 —FE=—M#E+=H=+—H

24. Interest-bearing bank borrowings (Continued) 24. ;T EBBITER @)
2024 2023
—E-ME —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FAT
Analysed into: DA
Bank loans repayable: JEERRITER
Within one year or on demand —FRNFILER 318,011 344,984
In the second year FE-F 21,942 5,163
In the third to fifth years, inclusive EFE=FZREF
(BREEREMF) 92,713 24,565
Beyond five years AFAR 101,498 40,871
Total HEt 534,164 415,583
Notes: BiEt

(a) All bank borrowings were denominated in Hong Kong dollars or
Renminbi.

(b)  The bank borrowings are secured by the pledge of shares of ZCIEE
held by the Group.

(c) The bank borrowings are secured by the pledge of receivables
and future revenue entitlement under certain service concession
arrangements (note 15).

(d) As at 31 December 2024, the unsecured bank borrowing of
HK$200,000,000 with maturity date of 28 January 2025 is subject
to certain financial covenants which the Group breached. The
bank borrowing was fully repaid on 28 January 2025, before the
financial statements were authorised for issue.
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31 December2024 —ZFE-—PIF+—-HA=+—H

25. Deferred tax

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the
year are as follows:

Deferred tax assets

Losses
available
for offsetting

against future

taxable profits

25, IRZEFIE

ERERFRBEREERNFANZSHNT :

EEHRBEE

Impairment  Provision for
provision reinstatement

Al AR 8
R R FE R
i FIl ) 5 18 HERE EBEREEEE st
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
THET THET FHT THET
At 1 January 2023 RZEZ=%—H—H - 4,718 - 4,718
Deferred tax credited to the FR&F ABZ KM
statement of profit or loss ~ IEXEFLIE (#74£10)
during the year (note 10) 1,234 2,013 - 3,247
Exchange realignment BE N % (13) (145) - (158)
At 31 December 2023and R T -=%
1 January 2024 + A=+—Bk
—T_mMFE—-HA—H 1,221 6,586 - 7,807
Deferred tax credited/ FRFA (0K)
(charged) to the BERRNELERIR
statement of profit or loss  (#72£10)
during the year (note 10) (1,229) (2,359) 941 (2,647)
Exchange realignment BEE 5, G B 8 84 - 92
At 31 December 2024 RZZEZM4F
+=A=+—~H - 4,311 941 5,252
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25. Deferred tax (Continued) 25, IRZEFIIE (&)
Deferred tax liabilities EEHREEE

Depreciation
allowance in

excess
of related
depreciation
i AH A
WEHEN
mERE
HK$'000
T T
At 1 January 2023 R-_E-_=%—H—H 1,053
Deferred tax charged to the statement of FANBRBEERRNELTRIE
profit or loss during the year (note 10) (HtaE10) 311
Exchange realignment PE 5 3 & (1)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RZEZ=F+HA=1+—HBK
—E_WE—-H—H 1,363
Deferred tax credited to the statement of FRFTABRERAETEHE (Fat0)
profit or loss during the year (note 10) (620)
At 31 December 2024 RZB_NMFE+-_A=+—H 743
For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and RAIR2Y) BTEEHRAERAREE

BB KRR - TRABNRMEHRE B

liabilities have been offset in the statement of financial position.
P KT A S BRI TH & RFTERM D 4T -

The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the
Group for financial reporting purposes:

2024
—E-—me
HK$’000 HK$'000
FB T T T
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the RERE BT ARR 3K R HERHY
consolidated statement of financial position EEFIBE EEF5 5,073 7,407
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the ARG B RS AR R 3% P FE R Y
consolidated statement of financial position REIBR EFE (564) (963)

4,509 6,444
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25. Deferred tax (Continued)

The Group is liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed
by those subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of
earnings generated from 1 January 2008. The applicable rate is
10% for the Group.

At 31 December 2024, no deferred tax has been recognised for
withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group's
subsidiaries established in Mainland China. In the opinion of
the directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries will
distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future. The aggregate
amount of temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries in Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities
have not been recognised totalled approximately HK$64,742,000
at 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$48,788,000).

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the

following items at applicable tax rate:

ARIEFRIE ()
HRERBEAERZANBE AR B =
ZNF—A—HERBANM m&m
e  AEEEEBEMHR - AEE
R E AR R A210% °

R-ZZF-_NE+-A=+—H AKH
I 48 it ELAE P B A 3 2R 57 W R TR HI A R
B BT B8 22 B B AR B 1 282 ) P FE A8 TR A0
MAERELERE - EERR - ZEW
JB AR A] B 2R 0 kA R 2 A Y R e

YRR -R-_FB_WE+_HA=+—H
B2 AP B P 3 P B X B IR B B B T i R B
RELHEBRENETREZRNAROR
64,742,000/ 70 (Z = = = 4F : 48,788,000
ABIT) e

T3 B S B A B R B EBR
A7

2024 2023

—E-NE —E-=%F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FE& T TATT

Tax losses HIEEE 3,659 827
Others Hth 15,580 -
Deferred tax assets not recognised AERZELETIAE E 19,239 827

FEERESETRARA
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25. Deferred tax (Continued)

In the prior year, the Group has estimated tax losses arising in
Hong Kong of approximately HK$4,132,000 that are available
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose. As at 31 December
2024, the Group had unrecognised tax losses arising in Macau,
Malaysia and the United Kingdom of approximately HK$588,000
(2023: HKS$1,206,000), HK$16,937,000 (2023: HKS$5,087,000) and
HK$3,116,000 (2023: Nil) that will expire in three years, ten years
and indefinitely, respectively, for offsetting against future taxable
profits. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect
of these losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been
loss-making for some time and it is not considered probable that
taxable profits will be available against which the above items
can be utilised.

There are no income tax consequences attached to the payment
of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

25, GREERHIE (2)

RBEFE  AEBEFTEEBEEN
i 18 85 18 49 54,132,000 7T + A £ R 13
FR1EHR SHEE A B 1B A 2 B A R PR =R A
wh e RZEFEZWEFEF+=—_A=+—8 "
AEEBRRBRM SRAGREREAL
#9588,0007 7T (= & — = : 1,206,000
EIT) ~ 16,937,000 L (ZE == F ¢
5,087,000 7T ) }&3,116,000% 7t (= &
TEF B2 ABRBIEEE - KA
FAVEHE §5 7R 2R 8 FR Bt v A 2 5 5 B RS =
FoITFERERBER BRZEER
ELfBCBE—BRERONERAR B
WRABT KA RS A FERBE A Al K
$H e MU ERZEERERE
EFRRIHEE o

ARBRERRIKMNRETGELRF
HIER -

26. [E A

26. Share capital

2024 2023
—E-MEF —E =%
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T T
Authorised: JERE
10,000,000,000 (2023: 10,000,000,000) 10,000,000,0004%
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each —_ =
10,000,000,0000% )
SR mEE.0E T
T m AR 100,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: EEITRAR
500,000,000 (2023: 500,000,000) ordinary 500,000,000/
shares of HK$S0.01 each = =% s
500,000,000/%)
FREE.0E LAY
T 5,000 5,000

210 CR Construction Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MBHm=RMeE 2
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The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein

for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated

statement of changes in equity on pages 96 to 97 of the financial

statements.

(a)

(b)

(c)

Share premium

The share premium represents the difference between
the par value of the shares issued and the deemed
consideration for the reorganisation, capitalisation issue
and share offer in prior years, less the distribution of
interim and final dividends paid.

Merger reserve

The balance of the merger reserve represents the
following:

(i)  the difference between the paid-up share capital of
the subsidiaries acquired under common control and
the consideration payable for acquisitions; and

(i)  the difference between the aggregate of the paid-up
share capital of the subsidiaries acquired and the
nominal value of the share capital of the Company
issued in exchange therefor pursuant to the
reorganisation in prior years.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the contribution from
an intermediate holding company with respect to the
consideration for the acquisition of a subsidiary in prior
years.

ELEEEEITERARAR

AEERANFEREBEFEZHESR
REBHTHIRMIEHRERFICEITH 24
ERDEHRANZS -

(a) BRBP=E
B REREEETRMEELRES
M BRCBETRARFENRS
BHEMNRIEREBZENEZRE @ BE
SR HA R REAR B -

(b) &OHREE
BHEEERE

() HREESTATREHE AR
B SR B S B W BE R IR
HREZENER &

(i PrUCEEME 2RI BUR IRA
BEERRBREBEBEFE
M B AL IR B BT
AHEREEZ MO EE -

() EXRfHE
BEAREENEEFE —HPREE
PRIt s — M B 2 AR (B
MHE -
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(a)

212 CRConstruction Group Holdings Limited

—EFEopmFEF+=—A=4+—H

Major non-cash transactions

0

(ii)

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of
HK$8,032,000 and HK$8,032,000, respectively (2023:
HK$13,085,000 and HK$13,085,000), in respect of
lease arrangements for buildings and non-cash lease
modifications resulting in a increase in right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities of HK$25,277,000 and
HKS$25,277,000 (2023: decrease of HK$2,039,000
and HK$2,000,000), respectively, in respect of lease
arrangements for buildings.

During the year, the Group received other assets
as further detailed in note 20 to the financial
statements from a customer at a total consideration
of HK$55,698,000 for the settlement of trade
receivables from this customer and the consideration
was settled through a non-cash arrangement by
offsetting the Group'’s outstanding trade receivables
of the same amount due from this customer.

Annual Report 2024

(a)

TEFRERS

0

(i)

RAFEE  NEEREFH
& & B E A A
EEMMEAENIERS
N E D Bl 48,032,000 7T &
8,032,000 T (=T = =4 :
13,085,000/ 7T % 13,085,000
B UERBREFHEE
THEEEHEREEER
HE B ED BIF 225,277,000
78 7T %.25,277,0009% 7T (= &
= =4 42,039,000/ 7T &
2,000,000%7T) MR HE
&K °

FR - AEENLNERE
55,698,000/ JT [A] — & &~ Y
ECE & E (G B %
=MIsE20) - EREWZE R
ZIEWE ZRIBZH#EE K
BOAFRELTHEE - A
HEANEBEWZE PR
LRI AEERKE S FIA
HE o
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31 December 2024

—EFEopFEf+=—A=4+—H

28. Notes to the consolidated statement of cash 28. &SRS TR ERMEE &)

flows (Continued)

(b)
activities

Changes in liabilities arising from financing

(b) BMEEFBHRELENRELSE

Loans from

intermediate

companies

Interest-
bearing bank
borrowings

holding Lease

liabilities

RETEER

AANER

STERTHER
HKS'000 HK$'000
TRT TRT

HEAR
HKS'000
TEL

At 1 January 2023 RZZZ=%—H—H 18,988 197,204 47,718
New loans from intermediate holding 2K B A fEI ¥ IR 22 71 &9

companies HEX 957,141 - -
Repayment of loans from BREREFEZERAR

intermediate holding companies HEZ (702,420) - -
New bank borrowings HERITIE K = 1976,256 =
Repayment of bank borrowings EREBITHER - (1,757,207) -
Changes from financing cash flows REFE R - - (21,010)
New leases HHE - = 13,085
Modification of leases HEES = = (2,000)
Interest expenses FlEFX - = 1,168
Interest paid classified as operating DEAKERSREL

cash flows EAFIE = = (1,168)
Exchange realignment AL 434 (670) 106
At 31 December 2023 and )5/‘_ T4+ ZA=T—-HRk

1 January 2024 “Z-WE—H—R 274,143 415,583 37,899
New loans from intermediate holding %8 & — fil P R AR A B £

companies HER 60,548 - -
Repayment of loans from BERE — R EZERA R

intermediate holding companies BR (254,721) - -
New bank borrowings g RITIE R - 2,368,827 =
Repayment of bank borrowings BRBITER - (2,247,984) =
Changes from financing cash flows BRERERELE - - (21,192)
New leases nHE - - 8,032
Modification of leases HEEBXR - - 25,277
Interest expenses FlEREY - - 2,450
Interest paid classified as operating NRAELEREREL

cash flows EAFHE - - (2,450)
Exchange realignment IE 5 5 551 (2,262) (17)
At 31 December 2024 R-E-_mW&E+-A=+—H 80,521 534,164 49,999
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28. Notes to the consolidated statement of cash 28. &R ST ERMEE &)
flows (¢ ontinued)

(c)

Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement
of cash flows is as follows:

(c)

HERSREHAE

ﬁ’kiﬁ.% miiﬁ%ZTﬁf’fiﬁ/f /L
RENE

2024 2023

—E_MF —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET T T

Within operating activities REEEEHA 70,922 52,961

Within financing activities A ELVEEE A 21,192 21,010

Total @t 92,114 73,971
29. EEEHW

29. Pledge of assets

Details of the Group's assets pledged for certain of the Group's

interest-bearing bank borrowings are included in note 24 to the

financial statements.

30. Contingent liabilities

214

(a)

CR Construction Group Holdings Limited

As at 31 December 2024, performance bonds of
approximately HK$2,099,979,000 (2023: HK$1,800,060,000)
were given by banks in favour of the Group's customers
as security for the due performance and observance of
the Group's obligation under the contracts entered into
between the Group and their customers. If the Group fails
to provide satisfactory performance to their customers
to whom performance bonds have been given, such
customers may demand the banks to pay to them the sum
or sums stipulated in such demand. The Group will then
become liable to compensate such banks accordingly. The
performance bonds will be released upon completion of
the contract work.

At the end of the reporting period, the directors do not

consider it is probable that such claim will be made against
the Group.

Annual Report 2024

30.
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SEEBEEFITENM B RKRME24 -

HREE

(a)

RZZE-_MF+=A=+—H " R
TEBLUASERFAZT AN
B4R E - %%ﬁi’\] 732,099,979,000
B (== : 1,800,060,00075
) ERAEERZERITRES
AEBBERSZMRIMHE KE
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30. Contingent liabilities (Continued)

31.

(b)

In the ordinary course of the Group's construction business,
the Group has been subject to a number of claims due to
personal injuries suffered by employees of the Group or
of the Group’s subcontractors in accidents arising out of
and in the course of their employment. At the end of the
reporting period, the directors are of the opinion that such
claims are well covered by insurance and would not result
in any material adverse impact on the financial position or
results and operations of the Group.

As at 31 December 2024, a bank facility with a performance
bond facility of HK$11,342,000 utilised is subject to certain
financial covenants which the Group breached. The
performance bond was released upon the completion of
the contract works before the financial statements were
authorised for issue.

Commitments

The Group had the following contractual commitments at the

end of each reporting period:

30. SABE (@)

(b)

EASEN —REEXBBES
AEE-ERASERAEESE
BNEBEZEMIIBRERE
HHEBRENBIINERAFTBEM
HERZRRE - RNBEHR EF
R ZEREBENRER A AR
C NEBARKEOM BN E
BREEBRERMERTHZE -

RZZZ_WNF+_RA=+—HB &
IR B E 11,342,000 LB 4
REMRITMERE THHERHER
PR MAEEER TZELHE - &
AR 7E BB 75 R R IR T 3 Al
B H TR AR o

1. R

REJREHR - AREE A

HY A

2024
—EMEF

2023
=4
HK$'000
FAET

HK$’000
FTRET

Contracted, but not provided for: éTi’\] BAREME
Computers and software B kB 1,243 829
New service concession arrangement BOTEEXE /Y 3 AR 7% 4 7F 2
on BOT basis ZHE = 15,330
Total @z 1,243 16,159

FEERESETRARA
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32. Related party transactions

(a)

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in

these financial statements, the Group had the following

transactions with related parties during the year:

Intermediate holding companies
Consultancy service fee

Interest expenses

Expenses recharged

Fellow subsidiaries

Expenses recharged

Purchase of materials and equipment

Sales of materials and equipment

Subcontracting service fee

Construction service income

Management fee

Sewage operation and maintenance
income

Interest income

Notes:

TEZERA T
AR E
MEFRX
R X

GENG- P
BRI X
REMM MERRE
HEMB RRE
DBRHGE
SRS A
EEE

75 7KGE A

FEMA

(i) The consultancy service fee was charged in accordance

with the terms of the agreements entered into between the

Group and an intermediate holding company.

216 CR Construction Group Holdings Limited
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32. BB A X S

(a)

Notes

Hiat

(i)
(ii)
(iii)

(iii)
(iv)
(iv)
(v)
(v)
(vi)

(vii)
(viii)
Haz

0]

Bz E MR B MR AR A M)
SIAGN - MAFEE - N5 B R
TETUNTRS :

2024 2023
—E_-MmF —T==F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THExT FAT

563 375

2,539 12,376
3,509 2,122
1,234 —
7,905 35,045

- 7

9,184 15,832
6,018 25,531

408 257

9,327 12,286

= 844

AR B AR B A R E HE—
1R B P RT SZ 15 % O 1R R UGB
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(a)

—EFEopFEf+=—A=4+—H

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these
financial statements, the Group had the following transactions

with related parties during the year: (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The interest expenses to intermediate holding companies
were charged at interest rates ranging from HIBOR plus
1.4%-1.6% and 5% (2023: HIBOR plus 1.4%-1.6%) per annum
on the loans from intermediate holding companies

The expenses paid on behalf of the Group by intermediate
holding companies and fellow subsidiaries consisted of staff
costs and other administrative expenses. All administrative
expenses were determined based on actual costs incurred.

The purchase of materials and equipment were charged
according to the prices and conditions as mutually agreed
between the parties.

The subcontracting service fee and construction service
income were charged in accordance with the terms of the
agreements entered into between the parties.

The management fee to a fellow subsidiary were charged
according to the prices and conditions as mutually agreed
between the parties.

The sewage operation and maintenance income from
fellow subsidiaries were charged according to the prices
and conditions as mutually agreed between the parties.

In the prior year, the interest income from a loan to a fellow
subsidiary bore interest at 6.0% per annum.

(a)

bR % R TS TR B A R P R Al ) 2

SN - MAFE - N [E R
TETUTRS : (8)

Hrat - (&)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

ELEEEEITERARAR

Tt FHREERARAF S
ThEh 2R B R A B B IR
BBRITREZEFTEINEFZ1.4%
16BN (ZBE=_=F : HF
R AT [ 27 B ONF A R 4%E
1.6%) WLEL °

e RERARRRRKER
ARAKEXNNAX - BFEE
TRAREMITEAS - FETT
BRXIGREEENBERKAE

.
E °

MR REORB IR IBTOE
77 HEL 15 BV (B AR B G B

DERBERBRERBEATIE
1R 51 495 73 7T 3L BN 155 & 16 SRR
BR -

AN T — R F KT R e E R
BRBFTOZ T HEHENE
1% B AGR AR B @

B R F 18 2~ R URER Y )5 7K B M
WA T RIRRT 4075 73 A EL 19 7E 19
B8 R R R -

RBEFE @ AT HRAEME

AR ERETE SN F B AE
FE R ZK6.0%51 B ©

2024 ER 217
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32. Related party transactions (Continved) 32. I AR B (#)
(b) Outstanding balances with related parties: (b) HEEBMHRHRERLH
2024 2023
Sl 11 - 5 —E-=
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHERT T T
Amounts due from intermediate JE W AP 428 Ak
holding companies YNGIE/ S| (i) 6,322 6,744

Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries & Y [@] Z B

N RIFRIE (i 43,276 45,288
Amounts due to an intermediate FEAS — & R
holding company ER A RIRIE (i) 3,001 9,143
Amount due to the immediate FER BB AR
holding company YNGIE/ Q] (i) 11,000 -
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries e R R BB
N RIFRIE (i) 12,613 15,824
Loans from intermediate holding KB R TR
companies RAEIMER (i) 80,521 274,143
Notes: Bfet -
(i) The balances with intermediate holding companies, the () HEFR IR A R] « EEHER AR K
immediate holding company and fellow subsidiaries are EES N EINEIE A y=F 2w i
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. BB RBIRENREE -
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(b)

(c)

(d)

—EFEopFEf+=—A=4+—H

Outstanding balances with related parties: (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)  The terms of the loans from intermediate holding
companies were as follows:

- The loans from intermediate holding companies of
approximately HK$60,548,000 (2023: HK$254,721,000)
are unsecured, interest-bearing at 5% per annum
(2023: HIBOR plus 1.4% - 1.6% per annum) and
repayable on 6 January 2025 (2023: repayable on
demand).

- The loan from an intermediate holding company of
approximately HK$19,973,000 (2023: HK$19,422,000)
is unsecured, interest-free and repayable subject
to the terms and repayment conditions set out
in the deed of assignment and settlement for the
acquisition of a subsidiary under common control in
the prior years.

Compensation of key management personnel of
the Group

The compensation of key management personnel of the
Group for the year represented the directors’ emoluments
as disclosed in note 8 to the financial statements.

Commitment with related parties

In the prior year, the Group entered into several
construction materials purchase agreements with several
fellow subsidiaries for the construction of a facility under
a service concession arrangement on BOT basis. The
amounts of purchases from the fellow subsidiaries are
included in note 31 to the financial statements. The Group
expected total purchases from the fellow subsidiaries to
be approximately HK$6,490,000 on or before 31 December
2024.

2 e £

(b)

(c)

(d)

BT HRIEEMERR : (8)
Wiz : (&)

(i) ZREREER
R

A B R 6K

- RERHERARMNE
AR #960,548,00078 JT (=
T = = 4F : 254,721,0007%
JL) BERR R E R X
5% (ZB_=4%F: FHR
17 R ZE 47 B0 F K 1.4%
Z16%) st B BEAR=-Z
—_HEF—AXNH(ZZE
T=FRER)EE-

—  RE—HTPHEHERAAN
B 3 A 4919,973,0007 T
Z T = =4 119,422,000
BT) REEE 288
,,jE%FEAﬂﬁiFH&ﬁ%*
il 52 2 R4 i) 0 BT /B
B B 5 I %%i@%’]ﬁﬁ%@ﬁ’]
B REEGREIEDE
75/\"

FEBXEEEAEHMH
AEERAFEMNTEEEARSH
BiEEEME - RN B RAHN
R

£ 7 B 75 5T 3L B A B
RBAFE AEBEHZERZRE
Bt A B RT3 % 10 B M KRB
ek - AR RS ST LA
BOT5 =\ 32 —IH R jtE 5% [B) KT

BARKKBAERNY B RER
BizE31 - AEBBHR T ZMF
+ZA=t+—BxkZARERRHK
J& A A A ELBE 4B RE S 4V /56,490,000
BT ©
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33. Financial instruments by category 33. BERE S 2E€mMTIA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial R|ERR  SHem I A ZRAE
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: AR
Financial assets ERMEE

Financial assets

at amortised cost

BBERATTENEREE

2024 2023
—ENE —E—=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHxT FAE T

Receivables and contract assets under service  BRIEEHFRHZHTH

concession arrangements JEWRIE M A K EE 121,471 119,419
Trade receivables FEWE 5 5k I8 775,887 816,354
Financial assets included in prepayments, ATAEMRE - ZER

deposits and other receivables Hib el IBR & Bt & B 66,514 54,410
Amounts due from intermediate holding G R /N B

companies 6,322 6,744
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries B NG 43,276 45,288
Cash and cash equivalents HeRBEEEEY 330,799 235,971
Total et 1,344,269 1,278,186
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33. Financial instruments by category (Continued)

Financial liabilities

ERAE

33. EERE S 2T A )

Financial liabilities

at amortised cost

REBERATENERERE
2024 2023
—E 4 —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Trade and retention payables BB S RREBENIEA 1,920,405 1,534,292
Financial liabilities included in other payables &t A H fib /& {5 778 &
and accruals EBstEAMNESREE 869,322 850,088
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTERITER 534,164 415,583
Amounts due to an intermediate holding FEAT— A B AR
company NGIE/SE] 3,001 9,143
Amount due to the immediate holding FEA EEEIERR A R IR
company 11,000 -
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries FEf B R M B A R 5IA 12,613 15,824
Loans from intermediate holding companies KEFEZERARNER 80,521 274,143
Lease liabilities HEBE 49,999 37,899
Total #Et 3,481,025 3,136,972

ELEEEEITERARAR
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34. Fair value and fair value hierarchy of 34. 2R TANQAFERLATFEESE
4

financial instruments A
The carrying amounts and fair value of the Group’s financial BREEEGEMENFERENS/MT
instrument, other than those with carrying amounts that Ai AEEESRMTANKEBRA T
reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows: BT :
Carrying amounts Fair values
REE AFE
2024 2023 2024 2023
“RBomE —T-=F ZB-NE —T-=F
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
FEx FHET FEx FHBT
Financial liabilities TREE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings &t B R AT {E 3K 534,164 415,583 534,164 415,583
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: EFREBERAFEMEE -
2024 —E-MEF

Fair value measurement using
ERANTEENATEE
Quoted
prices in Significant Significant
active observable unobservable
markets inputs input

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
FEME  EATER EATTEER
HRE BAE BAHE

(E—4%) (E=#) (B=#) @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TER TER TER
Financial liabilities tHERE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings ATESRITER - 534,164 - 534,164
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34. Fair value and fair value hierarchy of 34. 2R T AN FERAFES

financial instruments (Continued)

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed (continued):

2023

Quoted
prices in
active
NEES
(Level 1)
R
HRE
(F—R)
HK$'000
THET

Financial liabilities EHAE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings S RRITER =

:%& (&)

ERENFENERE  (B)

Fair value measurement using

ERATEENATEAE

Significant
observable
inputs
(Level 2)
EXAEER
BARE
(E=-H)
HK$'000
THT

415,583

Significant

unobservable

input

(Level 3)

BAFAER

BAHR
(B=R) @t
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET

= 415,583

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into
or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial liabilities
(2023: Nil).

Management has assessed that the fair values of trade
receivables, financial assets included in prepayments, deposits
and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, restricted
bank balance, trade and retention payables, financial liabilities
included in other payables and accruals, and balances/loans with
related parties approximate to their carrying amounts largely due
to the short term maturities of these instruments.

TR CREERSBABENAFER
EXYERF -—REF_HF2HE
FEARBLEE=R (T _=F £)

EEECNERKE SR  fFARM
RE e RHEMERKENERE
E BReLReEEY ZRHIRTE
7 ENESRRBESFIA - FTAEM
ENHREREFERNES R A EARE
M 2 MR ERN D FEER

FREERE

HIB &g o

CEEEARZET LA

HEURREEIERARAT - 2024FEFH 223
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31 December2024 —ZFE-—PIF+—-HA=+—H

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed (continued):

The Group's finance department headed by the finance manager
is responsible for determining the policies and procedures for
the fair value measurement of financial instruments. The finance
manager reports directly to the chief financial officer and the
audit committee. At each reporting date, the finance department
analyses the movements in the values of financial instruments
and determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The
valuation is reviewed and approved by the Chief Financial Officer.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged
in a current transaction between willing parties, other than
in a forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and
assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of non-current portion of deposits, non-current
portion of retention payables, receivables and contract assets
under service concession arrangements and interest-bearing
bank borrowings have been calculated by discounting the
expected future cash flows using rates currently available
for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities, and approximated to their carrying amounts.
The changes in fair value as a result of the Group’s own non
performance risk for interest-bearing bank borrowings as at 31
December 2024 and 2023 were assessed to be insignificant.
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The Group's principal financial instruments compromise

AEENTIESRMTA FJEEJr BRTTIE

interest-bearing bank borrowings, loans from intermediate A RE—EFREERARNERAK
holding companies and cash and cash equivalents. The main ReRBREEEY - ZFemITENE
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the ZEHNRAASENZEESEES - A
Group's operations. The Group has various other financial assets SENBEMEECHEEREE '
and liabilities such as receivables and contract assets under AR TS FraT L BE TR R IE R & &Y
service concession arrangements, trade receivables and trade BE - BBEZHBEARENE SRR
and retention payables, which arise directly from its operations. B HIE i’]E&F?& BEASEEMNE
B o

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are rEEsmIAMEENEZRAR R
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity KRR INERR - EERREABE
risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for 2Rk EEgRIAHEEESIES
managing each of these risks and they are summarised below. FARE PR F IR - WA o

Interest rate risk =R = b

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest AEBEENTSHEESRMESHE
rates relates primarily to the Group's long term debt obligations AEBERESHFEFENRAGHAE

with a floating interest rate.

The following sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming
that change in interest rates had occurred at the year end date
and had been applied to the exposure to interest rates for
financial instruments in existence at that date. A 1% increase
or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally
to key management personnel and represents management’s

assessment of the reasonable possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 1% higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group's profit for the year ended 31
December 2024 would decrease/increase and the retained
profits as of 31 December 2024 would decrease/increase by
HK$3,387,000 (2023: HK$4,065,000). This is mainly attributed
to the Group's exposure to interest rates on its variable rate
borrowings.

2 e £

B -

A THREDIN IRRM RSN FHE
BEAMEBE  YOHERZACHFHE
MERTANNXERMER - £RE
EEEABABZHBAXERE - KA
TN RE N T ER1%HRER - xR
EEERMENSIE AL B (EH T
fili o

fis) ) 3L p0 N BK1% - T BT A b B
ERFTE AEBBEE_T_NF
TZA=+t—BLEFENRIMERR=-F
ZHE+Z A=+ —BMOREEF R
L/ #8h03,387,0008 L (ZE == :
4,065,000/ 7T) © kT F RN A EE R
HZBERTEENF R &
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Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. These
exposures arise from sales or purchases and loans from an
intermediate holding company denominated in currencies
other than the Group’s functional currency. The Group currently
has no particular hedging vehicles to hedge its exposure to
foreign exchange risk. It is the Group's policy to monitor foreign
exchange exposure and to make use of appropriate hedging
measures when required.

The following tables demonstrate the sensitivity at the end of the
reporting period to reasonably possible changes in the Renminbi
("RMB”), Malaysian Ringgit (‘"RM") and Great Britain Pounds
("GBP") exchange rates, with all other variables held constant, of
the Group's profit after tax (due to changes in the fair value of
monetary assets and liabilities) and the Group's equity.
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35. Financial risk management objectives and 35. £FiEMREEHERBE &)
policies (Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued) SNERBE ()
Increase/ Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease) in (decrease) in
exchangerate  profit after tax equity*
ExtH#/ BB &ER G
(T¥)  #i/(HD)  #m/(BD)*
% HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER
2024 —BComE
If Hong Kong dollar weakens against RMB AT ARERE 5 852 -
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against RMB AT AREHE (5) (852) -
If Hong Kong dollar weakens against RM BT ERE 5 (3,490) -
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against RM WATLSEHE (5) 3,490 -
If Hong Kong dollar weakens against GBP fisf 8 7T R (B 5 (182) -
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against GBP WS T R FHE (5) 182 =
2023 —F-=fF
If Hong Kong dollar weakens against RMB WATRARELE 5 909 -
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against RMB BT AREHE (5) (909) -
If Hong Kong dollar weakens against RM WATH ST RE 5 (704) =
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against RM WBTESEE () 704 =
If Hong Kong dollar weakens against GBP BT R E 5 714 -
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against GBP 8 T 5 FHE (5) (714) -
*  Excluding retained profits * T EERE =T

ELEEEEITERARAR
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Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that only well-established
customers will be considered for open account terms and the
approval of credit terms is subject to stringent credit check
procedures. In addition, trade receivables balances are monitored
on an ongoing basis and the Group's exposure to bad debts is
not significant.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets arises from
default of the counterparties, with a maximum exposure equal to
the carrying amounts of these instruments.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties, there is no requirement for collateral. The Group
had certain concentrations of credit risk as the trade receivables
in terms of the following percentages were due from the Group's
largest external customer and the Group’s five largest external
customers out of the Group's total trade receivables:

FERR
AEEELEERTREERINE=
HETRS - AEENBRBRAEER

EMRREINEFPRALRERS - MEE
GFRELBETERNEEERER -
AN REEFEEREKE 5 FAE
7 Rt AKEY EEXRRER

AEEEpEREENEERRKEY
FHEN ZARBRAEERZELA
MRREE -

HRAEEERERTREERITNE
=HETR S Rt BARKERY -
TERATRBEEAEEZAINEETP R
AEBRRIMBEFPRIE ZHBHER
SEERESFBLBENESL - Bt
AEBEEESE TEESRTRER

Due from the Group's largest external
customer

Due from the Group’s five largest external ~ EU A EBE A AIEEF 7

customers

A EBERARINEDE P IR

2024
=F 1P
%
33 10
3R
58 44

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note 18
to the financial statements.

228 CRConstruction Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

BRAEEASRKRAERESZEREE
R EE— P T EBIEEERM S RE
fzE18 ©



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MER=RME 2

31 December 2024 —FE=—#E+=H=+—H

35. Financial risk management objectives and 35. £FiEMREEHERBE &)
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued) EERK (&)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging BRAEMBAERERER

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum TRHIIERAEBEEEBERITNE

exposure to credit risk based on the Group's credit policy, which BEEEMGEAGERRERE(HEEE

is mainly based on past due information unless other information RBEBHAER - BRIFBANETIHNE

is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging R A DN ESE M E R RS E

classification as at 31 December. The amounts presented are Aiw) MR+ Z A=+ —B2FREER

gross carrying amounts for financial assets. D2V ACRMEENART
(=0

As at 31 December 2024 R-ZE-_WmE+=-A=+—H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
28R EH
REBR HRHGEER

Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
B-BR  E-RR  EZER  @BLHE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR

Receivable and contract assets under RIS SFER B TRV E WA K

service concession arrangements* BHEE - - - 258,570 258,570
Contract assets* anEE - - - 3,237,658 3,237,658
Trade receivables* B E 508 - - - 783,606 783,606
Financial assets included in prepayments, st ATAIFE 154 R A K

deposits and other receivables HENSREE

- Normal** - E&* 66,514 - - - 66,514
Amounts due from intermediate holding  FEUReR R AR A A ZE

companies 6,322 - - = 6,322
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries  [EURR ZH B A AZE 43,276 o o o 43,276
Cash and cash equivalents ReRReEEY

~ Not yet past due —HABH 330,799 - - - 330,799
Total H) 446,911 - - 4,279,834 4,726,745
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

M¥EHm=RMeE 2

31 December 2024 —FE=—M#E+=H=+—H

35. Financial risk management objectives and 35. £l EMREEEEREEK @)
policies (Continued
Credit risk (Continued)

~

FEERKZ)
BAEBRAEREREER (£)
RZE—_=F+_A=+—8H

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023

Lifetime
ECLs

2 HiTE Y
FEEE

12-month
ECLs

1218 A 38 4
CEER

HK$'000
TAET

Simplified
approach

1L %
HK$'000
THET

Total

5t
HK$'000
TR

Receivables and contract assets under

AR A RTHEZ B T By R AR

service concession arrangements* DBERENEE = 247614 247614
Contract assets* AREE - 2,576,931 2,576,931
Trade receivables* e E 57 a* - 832,747 832,747
Financial assets included in prepayments, st ATERT B » R4 K

deposits, and other receivables H b, & R IB RO & Bl

BE

- Normal** =IEH™ 54,410 - 54,410
Amounts due from an intermediate holding & U — & 41 22 % A A 2038

company 6,744 = 6,744
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries JIE Wy [B) 2B /B8 1 A 3R IR 45,288 - 45,288
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeEED

- Not yet past due — & R 8 Hf 235,971 - 235,971
Total @t 342,413 3,657,292 3,999,705
2 For receivables and contract assets under service concession * BEAREERGERERABESTE

arrangements, trade receivables and contract assets to which the
Group applies the simplified approach for impairment, information
is disclosed in notes 15, 18 and 17 to the financial statements,
respectively.

x> The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables is considered to be “normal” when
they are not past due and there is no information indicating that
the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MER=RME 2

31 December 2024 —FE=—#E+=H=+—H

35. Financial risk management objectives and 35. £RIEMREEBERBER &)

policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk REBESRER

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a AEBEBBEABEN RS TA
recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity RERECERER ZITAZRT®
of both its financial instruments and financial assets and MTAFREREENIHANKLER S
projected cash flows from operations. mETEMA o

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between AEEMEERBATAKEMSES
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of funds RRFESHFE M EEE =R TG -

generated from operations.

The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as at RBEER  AEEcRBEEREL
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual RAUBR AR EEBBERAT :

undiscounted payments, is as follows:

Less than More than
On demand 1 year 1 year Total
REX DPR—F —FUE gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THR TET THET THER
As at 31 December 2024 R=Z-mF
+=B=+—-H
Trade and retention payables ERESMRE € RE - 1,549,589 392,739 1,942,328
Financial liabilities included in other &t A E fh & 1+ 28 [
payables and accruals EtERANERARE 14,498 854,824 = 869,322
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FERITAER 100,126 223,379 254,903 578,408
Amounts due to intermediate JE (R R AR A B 0IR
holding companies 3,001 - - 3,001
Amounts due to the immediate BN EHEER AR
holding company 11,000 - - 11,000
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries  FE{ [F] Z KB A B 2 A 12,613 - - 12,613
Loans from intermediate holding P = lb e NGk
companies B 80,521 = = 80,521
Lease liabilities HERRE - 17,105 34,723 51,828
Total s 221,759 2,644,897 682,365 3,549,021
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

M¥EHm=RMeE 2

31 December 2024 —FE=—M#E+=H=+—H

35. Financial risk management objectives and 35. £RIEMRETEHERBEER 2
policies ( ed)

Liquidity risk (Continued) REBESRER(Z)

Less than More than
On demand 1 year 1 year Total
REX PR—F —FAE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET TET TET
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZE-_=F+_F
=+—H
Trade and retention payables ERESMRE & A - 1,105,091 453,932 1,559,023

Financial liabilities included in other &t A E fth FE {4 T8 -

payables and accruals e & B R BB
TREE 12,770 837,318 - 850,088

Interest-bearing bank borrowings FERITAER 210,519 142,524 81,626 434,669
Amounts due to an intermediate S — R PR

holding company NGO 9,143 - = 9,143
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries FERRZK B AT IR 15,824 = = 15,824
Loans from an intermediate holding 2R B — & fEl 4 i%

company UNETL:ON= 7 254,721 19,422 = 274,143
Lease liabilities HERRE - 25,158 17,933 43,091
Total @5t 502,977 2129513 553,491 3,185,981
Capital management BEXREE

AEEEAEENTIZANITREASE
BRE AR ERE  UHBRENERL
RUXFHEEHREACRRZEE -

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and
to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business
and maximise shareholders’value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments REFEREEERGERE - WHLBBER

232 CRConstruction Group Holdings Limited

to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new
shares. The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements. No changes were made in the objectives, policies
or processes for managing capital during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MBHRME 2

31 December2024 —ZFE-—PIF+—-HA=+—H

35. Financial risk management objectives and 35. £REREEBERBE @)

>1)

policies (Cont
Capital management (Continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net
debt divided by the equity attributable to the equity holders of
the Company plus net debt. Net debt includes interest-bearing
bank borrowings and loans from intermediate holding
companies, less cash and cash equivalents. Capital represents
equity attributable to equity holders of the Company. The
gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods were as

EXREE(E)
AEERAEERBLRERELR A
A LL 3R T DAR 75 5 BE R AR R Rl fE 2 15
BARGHEDINESFEFESH - &
i‘%ﬁr%ﬁ@%.ﬁrgﬁEfﬂ%%’K&XQEPFHEHE
REINER - BRE MRS FEY -
§$Ta$ﬁ RS A ARGER - 1
BEMRZEEARBLXREIIMT

follows:

2024 2023

—E —E-=%F

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET T T

Interest-bearing bank borrowings STRRITER 534,164 415,583

Loans from intermediate holding companies 3K B F 3R 2 R 8 B 3 80,521 274,143

Less: Cash and cash equivalents B IRE MRS FEY (330,799) (235,971)

Net debt (EEr 283,886 453,755
Equity attributable to equity holders of the RAGIE=EAA

Company FEAE #E 25 655,685 619,388

Capital and net debt BARRERFE 939,571 1,073,143

Gearing ratio BEEABHLE 30% 42%
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

M¥EHm=RMeE 2

31 December 2024 —FE=—M#E+=H=+—H

Information about the statement of financial position of the

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

BT

ERRBERRARARMBARARRZE

2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
THExT T 7T

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries R B RRRIEE 592,034 587,902
CURRENT ASSETS mEEE
Prepayments SEENE L 1,375 358
Amounts due from subsidiaries [ N NGIE @ 585,623 453,478
Loan to a subsidiary BT —HEHRBRAHER 40,000 -
Cash at banks RITIR S 19,422 1,820
Total current assets MENEERE 646,420 455,656
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEAE
Other payables and accruals H B IE R ESHE A 1,988 1,276
Interest-bearing bank borrowings HEERITER 302,959 212,420
Amounts due to an intermediate holding JE 5 — il R R 42 AR

company A E IR - 6,137
Amounts due to the immediate holding JE BB R A B FOR

company 11,000 -
Amounts due to subsidiaries Rl EINGIE 405,929 194,661
Loan from an intermediate R e — A A R

holding company RAIHEK 60,548 254,721
Tax payable FE 15 B IE 284 -
Total current liabilities mEN B EEE 782,708 669,215
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES nEEEFE (136,288) (213,559)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #AEERABAEE 455,746 374,343
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEME
Interest-bearing bank borrowings T EIRITIER 103,670 -
NET ASSETS FEE 352,076 374,343
EQUITY =
Share capital R& 7R 5,000 5,000
Reserves (note) w1 (B at) 347,076 369,343
Total equity EmAARE 352,076 374,343

CR Construction Group Holdings Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MBHRME 2

31 December2024 —ZFE-pIF+—-HA=+—H

36. Statement of financial position of the

36. AT AR T 2)

company (Continued)

Note:

A summary of the Company'’s reserves is as follows:

Bt

ZANCIEE N

/(I

Share Accumulated

premium

B 40 18
HK$'000
TET

losses
RIER
HK$'000
FHT

Total
ot
HK$'000
FB7

At 1 January 2023 R-TE_=F—H—H 416,757 (17,459) 399,298
Loss for the year and total comprehensive FABEMENAN

loss for the year FHEBRAR - (13,455) (13,455)
Final 2022 dividend ZTZFREARSE (9,000) - (9,000)
Interim 2023 dividend ZE=FFHEKE (7,500) - (7,500)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RZEZ=F+ZA=+—H

k=—F-_m&E—-HF—H 400,257 (30,914) 369,343

Loss for the year and total comprehensive & A E1E M F A

loss for the year ZHBEBE - (5,767) (5,767)
Final 2023 dividend ZZZ=FRERE (9,000) - (9,000)
Interim 2024 dividend ZENEFRHRE (7,500) - (7,500)
At 31 December 2024 R-Z-_mM&E+=-/F=+—H 383,757 (36,681) 347,076

37. Approval of the financial statements

37. HtEMBEHER
HEREmEEEN _E_R4E= A
—+ BRI

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue
by the board of directors on 20 March 2025.
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Five Year Financial Summary

AFEMBER

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group WA TNAAEBEBAERA BT RFENEEIAR
for the last five financial years are set out below: BERBENHZEE

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=+—BHLEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
“ECmE 2= = —E- % ZZE-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FAT T FAT
Revenue & 6,066,037 5,445,560 6,409,429 4,890,141 4,646,407
Gross profit EF 353,232 305,991 256,498 177,797 211,160
PROFIT BEFORE TAX R B AT Y2 A 80,544 84,901 81,876 60,979 100,835
Income tax expense ey = 26,594 12,676 8,936 12,416 11,694
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR F N 53,950 72,225 72,940 48,563 89,141
Attributable to: AT &7 L -

Owners of the Company ZiN/NEIEZ PN 53,715 71,887 72,106 48,563 89,141
Non-controlling interests FE 12 AR A 2 235 338 834 - =
53,950 72,225 72,940 48,563 89,141

Assets and Liabilities BEENREE

As at 31 December
R+=-—A=+—H

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-_NE —T-=F —ET--&F —TE-—F =—E-FTE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FHET FHAT T FAT
Total assets WBEE 4,856,182 4,131,355 3,574,979 2,647,900 2,585,120
Total liabilities wEE 4,180,289 3,496,506 2,741,224 2,091,733 2,026,532
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